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For Scott Gleason

Fiat justitia ruat caelum !



There are references throughout this book to actual court
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protect the privacy of individuals) and minor grammatical

corrections, these items are presented exactly as they appear in the
court records.

If you are reading your book online, you can view the
referenced documents in their entirety by simply clicking on the

links in this book. If you are reading from a hard copy, you can
accessthe links by logging onto:

www.nmadore.com/links .
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INTRODUCTION

e

The first | heard of Robert Nadeau was in June of 2003. |
was driving home from Brattleboro, Vermont , after another failed
attempt to get d’he Shoe Treéto carry the shoe brand | was
Gepping.6But I di dn ot mi n dtript. Ihfe wawsd\ea eve
Brattl ebor o vy osa specab pacewtucked awhytinba
guaint little valley that® surrounded by tree-covered hills.

| got into the shoe businessthe same way Cinderella got her
prince; | just happened to have the right size foot. It all began with a
little side gig modeling shoesfor a family friend. | t wasnoét t
paying job (mostly | got paid in shoes) but it was something | was
good at. | never found a samplet h at d jaddl @ddver doi sick
of trying on shoes Even now, | still get a little thrill whenever I slip
my foot into a fabulous new shoe. And they were all fabulous to
med which would become a problem later, when | opened a shoe
store of my own. But here | am, getting ahead of myselfalready, and
| h av e n 0 gottea threugh the introduction yet.

Anyway, while | was modeling shoesfor my friend, Terry, I
was also getting to know the duyers6for some of the best shoe
stores in New England. After twenty years in the business, Terry
had a client list to die for. He knew everybody. And he had anatural
talent when it came to salesd though he could be a bit of a huckster
sometimes too. He had a way of getting things out of people without
them even knowing he was doing it. In fact, their first impression
would be that they were getting the better end of the deal It was



unt il | ater that they wloallld mewdn
the time Terry wanted my sons to help him move.

Aol | g imy dedrgom uset if you get it done this
we e k e n dold éhenh. e

My sons were ecstatic. They were furnishing their first
apartment and Terryd s  h was $umished with 6 not hi ng b
best, 6 as he of t e boysavarket thdt ertire ms e
weekend, loading and unloading furniture. But when they went to
collect their new bedroom set it turned out to be an old, beat-up bed
frame and dresser that had been stored in T e r rdgnip<ellar for
the last hundred years (probably left there by the previous owner) .

AYou didnot t hi nk myl bednoena?a Terryt h e
asked with such incredulity that the boysd i d hadetthe nerveto
admit that they had.

AWedbl | passithej thkeyi saTedrtpds ¢

AHol d on a mi nut e, O sai d Ter
furniture at my yard salei f | 6d known you were
What am | supposed to do with it now? 0

So in the end, not only did the boys getto help Terry move,

but as a O6rewarddé t hey dbhejunktindiscl e
cellar.

But | d o n O0tb give gom the impression that Terry was a
jerk. The truth is that h e had done a lot for my boys over the years
and he knew that they would help him move without the added
incentive. But he loved screwing with people. Andth at 6 sthoseh y
who knew him best would have a good laughover that story about
the bedroom set (including my boys). We all have our 6 Ter r vy
stories.

Even so, we were surprised when we heard that Terry would
be taking a two year 6 v a c a #atitlenhb@quest of the Feds
(something about an insurance claim gone bad. | was even more
surprised when he askedme to run his businesswhile he was away.

Andt hat 6s wdriying lthrowgla ¥ermont that day in
June. Most people wo u | db&eneontent with T e r rcledtdist,



but | had a hankering to open a few new doors, if only to prove that

0 r e p@shoeswassomething | could do. | was juggling a few other
jobsaswelldi ncl udi ng writing O6er othitc r
this ofavor o | woaldturd out to ¢pe oneoaf thel e r
most rewarding experiences of my life. | thrive on performance
driven activity, and t here is nothing more challenging than selling

on commission.

Most people would call me a dvorkaholicd and | would
probably agree, although | don 6t l i ke the i mpli
anything dysfunctional about it . | supposei t 6 s pthat 6 d Im| €
trying t o escapefrom something. Life presents a steady streamof
problems, while work is all about solutions. Working gives me a
senseofcontr ol . | gluneesvse rt hhaatdd sa w.hoyb |

But | loved the shoe businessd and not just because ofthe
shoes. | liked working with the 6 i n d e p eshog starasdth ose
littte 6 mom and p o p odsedstchbego sharacterstic of New
England back then. | have so many fond memories of those days| 6 | |
never forget my trips to 6 T h e & &dlewtod, Massachusetts, for
example, wher e t he osanswauld sneet memutside so
they could carry my shoe bags up to the buying room. Or

OFootprintso I n N e wwhnsg tbwyer , wasCso n n €
gracious and helpful that | hardly even noticed that he was
educating me about the shoe business while | was 6 s el | i ng 6

shoes 16 vmeet so many wonderful 6 s hpeaoplebover the years and
eachspring and fall, with the releaseoft he nes@® OMei nveo u |
come together again It was like Christmas for me when the boxesof

new sampleswere delivered to my door. | would tear through them
excitedly, flinging paper and cardboard as | unearthed my new
treasures (pausing every now and then to slip a particularly
promising style on my foot). | had a room set asidefor this purpose,

but, inevitably, t h at S e as o nwbusld eadauppstatesed
throughout my entire housed on countertops, shelves and window
sillsd as | contemplated which shoeswoul d be t hat yeece

Every brand goes through this. Each new season brings
hundreds of newsamplesd most of which will never make it further



than the sal ed #istheluget wholwitd detetmang s
which shoes are manufactured and which will be cut from the line..

The biggest cuts occur at the &hoe showsband the biggest
shows are in Las Vegas and New York Or they used to be.I heard
recently that those shows are shutting down due to poor
attendance. This news hit me hard, not just because the world is
changingtoo fast for me to keep up with anymore, but also because
those showsmeant so much to me. It was like seeing family again
when, twice ayear, we would all come together to talk about shoes.
It was business, but it was personal too. What other industry greets
their sales reps with a hug?

After the shows, the reps hit the road. This was my favorite
part of the job. I love driving to and from destinations unknown,
eating convenience store food and trying to figure out where | am
on the map. | love the feeling of being en route, where nobody
knows where | am and, for the moment, t her eds no p
supposed to be | think t raveling must be in my blood. Or maybe |
learned to love it from my mother, who was intent on seeing every
inch of this country despite having six kids in tow. Shetook us from
the east coast to the wesd and then back againd with plenty of
stops in between. Of course, 6 t r a v with imy gnéther wa s n 6 t
anything like your typical family vacation. Our travel involved a U-
Haul and a new school,andour6 hot el s®6 were att ue
noticed pretty early on that the only time my mother was truly
happy with a place was before she actually got there. No sooner
would we unpack that last box than s h el @n the lookout for
something better. One of my favorite 6 vacati ons6 wa
Snyder County, Pennsylvania. My mother saw apicture of a quaint
little farm on the back of an @ll-natural 6peanut butter jar and the
next thing I knew we were living in Amish country. | t wasnot
perfect life, buti t coul dn 6all bddaovetse why wonld |
choose to spend so much of my time on theroad?

| dond t r e mallnhe eplaces | 6 bemn as a kid, but |
remember that day in Brattleboro like it was yesterday. The
upcoming seasondushéwas over by then, which is why | was out
scouting new stores. After my unsuccessful visitto 6 The Shoe



(I would get him to carry my shoesa few seasons late}, | lingered in
downtown Brattleboro for a while, window shopping until | found a
homemade ice cream shopd which turned out to be just what | was
looking for. Then | got in my car and headed down Highway 91
toward home.

As if on cue, my cellphone rang. It was my best friend,
Maryann, and that call is why | remember th at day so well.l onkever
forget what she saidwhen | answered the phone:

Al just had sex with my lawyer and | donoto



PART ONE

An Affair to Remember
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e o
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Maine d The Way Life Should Be

i -~

We all have that friend; that zany, fun-loving, slightly
unstable friend. Mine was Maryann. She wassmart, beautiful and
uproariously funnyd especially in those early years. She couldalso
be maddeningly impetuous, with a tendency to jump from the
proverbial frying pan into the fire . And she was alwaysgenuinely
surprised when things di dn ot w But khe load the most
charming ability to find humor in even the worst circumstances,
andt h awhéts liked most about her.

Back when | first met Maryann, she seemed pretty happy
with her life . Her husband had a great job that allowed her to do
what she loved best, which was beinga6 h 0 me m ahkdeshe todk
the position seriously. She kept a picture-perfect home andwas an
attentive mother to her two pre-school children. | used to joke that
sheand Martha Stewart were twins who had beenseparatedat birth
(though Martha has a few years onMaryann).

| think the real trouble began when Maryann and her

husband moved from Massachusetts to Maine. There® just
something about Maine é

Dondt gveohg.Imé s b eup thére. Butiit hasa sort
of backwoods, 6 de |l i ver an c edan ggtwaderiyouy skin h at
during the long, frigid winters. Maine is, after all, the state that
inspired St e p h e n THeiSmnNg.s ,

Maryann 6 Isouse was so far out inthe country (of Wells) that
| never actually figured out where it was. | always had to refer to my
directions to find it, and | swear the place looked different every



time | saw it. | was terrified of getting lost on one of those back
roads, especiallyat night.

But we had somereally good times up there too. Back then,
we used to have a girls @ight out every few weeks, about half of
which would take place in Maine. Maryann was always a bigger
drinker than me, but then again, so aremost twelve year olds. | get
a splitting headache if | have more than two drinks in one sitting 0
and not the next morning either

drinking. Needlesstosay,b v e | e atoprbefate ittremches that
point. This makes me the ideal designated driverd a position | & m
not particularly crazy about,but one that | 6ve sol

with my intolerance for alcohol.

Personally, | find sitting in a bar, watching people drink , one
of the most boring occupations known to man (or in this case,
woman). But i t w darimgéwtith Maryann. Not back then. We
always had as much fun leavinga bar as we had going in.

I 61 | never hight wshentwe tvérawalking oueof
an all-male gay bar in Wellsafterane ve ni ng dférlackgfai et
better word). No sooner had we stepped outside into the street
when two cops appearedout of nowhere. They had that look they
get when t h e ycaleukating the amount of intoxication t hey o r
going to charge you with. We were laughing hysterically at
something, which probablydi dndét hel p matters.

| greeted the policemen the same way | always do when |
encounter them outside of bars: as if their being there is an
unexpected but pleasurable surprise. After all, | had nothing to fear.
| was as sober as a judge.

AHa&v y ou b e e ncathe thenrevitablg Guestion.

| tried to explain the whole two drinks -designated driver
thing, but the policemendi dndot appear Infacttheg | i
seemed to belooking right through me.

Wel | |, t hat 6 s , ] thosight, gtahcing around watd e
Maryann. But Maryann had disappeared and, in her place was a
large, green bush with two legs sticking out of the top of it. They
were wearing her shoes.I stopped talking .



I think w e were alltoo stunned to react at first, but then one
of the officers rushed over to help her. When she was finally
standing upright again, Maryann glanced around nonchalantly, as if
wondering what all the commotion was about.

I was n 6t surg ofimyself wlen | turned back to face
the police officers after that. | have to hand it to them though; they
di dndét even crack a smil e.

AAre you able to dr mee?0 one o

fAbsolutely,0 | replied with an eagert
wince. They watched as we walked to Mar y a rcar amsl | got
behind the wheel. The car was unfamiliar, b u t | abausto Ot

waste time getting acquainted with it. | put the car in @rive 6and hit

the gas Within seconds | saw the red and blue lights flare up
behind us.

fiShit! 0 exdlaimed, forgetting, for the moment, that | would
easily pass a breathalyzer | pulled the car over to the side of the
road, trembling with a mixture of outrage and fear. This was
entrapment (if the crime dramas on television were to be believed)!
| rolled down the window.

A Y o said | coul d demindea thé approaching
policeman.

AiYou 61 | aflot easler if you turn on your lights,0 h e
replied dryly.

| looked at the front of the car. Sure enough, the lights
we r e n.d searched for the switch andturned them on. | wanted
to explain that | was accustomed to driving a car with automatic
headlights, but an impertinent smile was tugging at the corners of
my mouth, sol just murmured a quick 6 t h a andé thel carefully
made my way back ontothe road.

Neither of us spoke. We just stared at the road. Then all of a
sudden, almost simultaneously, we started to laugh. And once we
started we cWal cdaoé$t 6wd o livweumgnbtesd f
straight. We di dndét even say anything.

Maybe you had to be there.



The next morning Maryann told me she wanted a divorce
(from her husband, not me). He had left for work already and she
was whipping me up one of her Martha Stewart specials for
breakfast.

I was taken aevemkkow they were lawmirdgt
problems. In fact, Maryann hardly mentioned her husband at all. In
retrospect, | guess that wa s n Oveéry gaod sign (alt hough |
always thought women spend way too much time talking about
men).

Looking back, | d i relaly&kmnow a lot about Maryann back
then. We only got together every few weeks,so we tended to keep it
light. She had surprised me a few months earlierby referring to me
asher ofriierds Bub | was delighted as well as surprised. | 6 d
never been anndbeaioeepnst everas b kid Bspeaally
notasakid.l t 6 s aadittleusaalytoyhink what personality type
might & vchosen that pre-pubescentme as their best friend.1 t 6 s n
that there was anything wrong with me, mind you, but | was just
odd enough to require someone with a flexible sense ofdormal 6to
fall into my gravitational pull .

How bad was it? Well, re me mber Gar yinsectar s
character with th e long, skeletal body, the big, poufy hair and the

cat-eye glasse8 | like to think of myselfasL ar sonds ifonspi
that character. The resemblanceis uncanny.

My mother was a hair dresser who loved to practice her craft.
Only instead of practicing on plastic heads like most hair dressers,
she practiced on us kids. In an era when all the young girls had
long, perfectly straight hair; my sisters and | stood out like sore
thumbs with our old lady perms.

To make matters worse, my mother was alsoa Jehoval
Witness (AJWesofwe waoendt all owec
O0wo rd dd efwvipidh éncludesever yone whaoaWegetn 6t
to go to school obviously, but the extra-curricular stuff was strictly
off limits . There were no sports, no holidays, no anything fun. And
we were forbidden to even think about going overto af r i e n d ¢



house(though in all honesty, the opportunity never presented itself
in my case).

And i f all t h any matrersmoéet ustoa pew g h

school every few years, just tomix things up.

Suffice it to say that my chances of being popular were ¢$im
to none. Okay, they were none. So | figured being invisible was the
next best thing. | made that my goal. And | was pretty good at it too.

Though | di dndét have maidgettd r i e

0 h aautgwith some pretty interesting characters . In fact, the kids |
went to school with paled in comparison. Take, for example,
Shadrack, Meshack and Abendiga While you and your friends were
stressing over how to beat the tetherball champ, these guyswere
gearing up to martyr themselvesfor theird hold on a minute. Come
to think of it, they might not have beenthe best companions for an
impressionable young girl.

Okay, but | also spent a lot of time with this guy called
Abraham, who was actually willing to Kkill his only d wait; th a tnét a
very good example either.

Well,t h e raledysthe 6 f a |l | e nvo hadsexevithghe
women of earth to produce an army of hybrid giants. Now those
guys were cool!

On a side note does it seemstrange to anyone besides me
that The Holy Bible is the only book | was allowed to read as a ki®
| mean, | actually had to hide Nancy Drew mysteries inside my

Bible sothat my mot h e r t know bwagireadingthem. That

weird, right?

Later, as | got older (and sneakier) | shared many a quiet
afternoon with Caesarand Cleopatra, Zeus and Hera and Jane Eyre
and Mr. Rochester. As well, | was exposed to a wide variety of ideas
through my association with such characters as Malcolm X, Ayn
Randods Ho wandErickRIoregd &vo-liter coke bottle.

My favorite characters from the books | readwer e my
friendsd @By theviimed was an. adult, ordinary people
c o u | cheasdute up. They were just too ordinary . | try to take an

(



interest, | really do, but this era of spoon fed intellect and reality TV

just doesnd tlo it for me. The more @ontemporary 6the crowd, the

more disconnected | feel. One on onel 6 m a | i,tut even b e
then,| O wfat you might ¢ a klbof.dbforget to calld or | d o nsbaw

up forthings.1 t 6s not t h.dtbbeltherd io ardituted ar e
one of my friends needed me. And that kind of defines how 16 v e
always viewed friendshipdas a sort of job. T h es aldays
something you haveto do. No news is good news, and if they need
you theyoll cal l

Il 6m not put t wmhgre.dhhayelsiocd kparngdthat
| 6wnh asttafled @o-dependent.6For me, this means my self-esteem
Is directly connected to my ability to be useful to others. My
under |l ying r esent mefeetl havevt@ do explaiiss @
the distance | create between myself andothers. Andit 6 s nwhy
closest friends have always beenthose people who are willing to
pursue me. Flattered by their pursuit , | find myself more willing to
be made use of.

Of c our s enow anyaf thisb@aak in ROO3. It would be
almost a decadebefore | would discover these truths, with the help
of a caring therapist who spent four long years working tirelessly
with me.

Anyway, th a thovs things stood when | met Maryann. But
she was different than most people. In a sea of shimmering silver
minnows, she was a goldfish In fact, she was more like one of the
characters in my books than an ordinary person. She waslarger
than life and she always had something interesting to say. And have
| mentioned that she was hilariously funny?

But it wasnot asawtheralenof deest tliendta me
as a responsibility , with duties that had to be carried out if it was to
be doneproperly. ]| wasndét sure what those

at the very least | had to be there for her and her kidsd who were by
this time calling me Auntie Nancy. 0

As nerve-wracking as it all was, it was exciting too. Yeteven
as lwrite this, | ¢ a n deelindtrat| failed Maryann and her kids
somehow. But there | go again, jumping ahead of myself.



Maryann o divorce presented the perfect opportunity for me
to prove my bestfriendliness (pbefore you send that emaild | already
knowt hat éasealward, but | figure; i f). Sh

But this is where it gets kind of sticky. See, | secretly thought
that Ma r y a mardage wasd how should | say it?d workable . Of
course, | wa s hmefn, nobodyrreally knowswhati t 6 s | i |}
actually live with another person. And | know that by the time
Maryann and her husband actually separatedit had gotten pretty
bad for both of them. But before it reached that pointd | dono
knowdlj ust coul dndt eenhapiagevmightbevrei nbge e
salvaged with a little more effort.

But | never came right out and told Maryann this, mostly
because | myiopmod .t feltitrwassptobably jaded by my
personal experience. The difficulties | encountered as a single
mother surpassed anything | had ever faced befored and | was
married to an addict who was abusive Even so,after leaving him |
often thought; d'hat was nothing compared to this!6

Of course,wh en | say | was a O0sing
literally. There was no marital settlement, no child support, no
insurance, no help of any kindd not even some occasional
babysitting from my ex or his family. Nor was there any support
from my side of the family. My siblings were each struggling with
their own issues, and my mother was shunning all of us for leaving
the JWs. | had never gotten to know my extended family because,
not beingJWs, t hey f el |l under the O&6worl
associate with. My kids and | were truly alone.

Butlwas pretty s e lkke that forMamnyanrd n 6 t

She and her husband hadmarital assets that alone gave her a huge
advantage. They owned a beautiful home, which she would
probably be allowed to reside in with her children. Her husband
had a great job from which to pay child support and d though she
di dnot g e t herair-lawsdherwwnt family adored her and
the kids. Life would get a little harder, but it could work. Many
women thrived as singlemothers.



So | kept my opinion to myself. And anyway, Maryanno s
parentswereal r eady saying everytdéadsetg |
against her divorce, which would be the first in their family. This
bothered Maryann too. She saw herself as a failure. In fact, her
feelings about thisd which she voiced oftend convinced me that she
mu s t givenener marriage everything she had And the better | got
to know her, the more convinced | would become of this. Watching
her over the years | have often thought that, if she put half the
energy into a careerthat she put into trying to make arelationship
work, shewould be a millionaire .ButMar yann di dnot we
She wanted a relationship. And t hat 6 svhypt wenbdownl y
the way it did that day in June.

We had talked on the phone quite a bit that week. There was
a lot going on in her life and I think she was a little overwhelmed by
it all . Her divorce was abig part of it, but there were other things
too, not the least of which was her soon to be exhusband getting
laid off. He had received a decent severance package but, even so,
Maryann was worried . Her parents were pressingher move back to
Pennsylvania. In fact, she and the kids were leaving the next day to
go there and discuss it with them . And if all thiswer en 6t en
Maryann had just undergone a medical procedure fora &é wo me n
issuedthat had left her bloated, cramping and bleeding heavily (I
only mention this because it comes up later).

And now you know as much as | did that day when| got the
call.

Al just had sex wddadrhd tmykyhbchevy e |
announced in lieu of a greeting.

A Wh a t Hadno idea what she was talking about. Was this
some new reality show | was supposed to be watching?

AMy | awy eepehtéd inpdtiently . Her voice sounded
shrill. I fust had sex with him in hi:

| had no idea what | was supposed tosay to something like
that so | asked Why ? 0O

il donodot d&iedo Wwasdthere hoaliscuss atort!0



| di d rufyt understand what a dort 6 was, even though
Maryann had explained it to me a bunch of times. Maybe her lawyer
was confused too.

Ormaybewhen she said o0®ort, d he |

Normally , t hat 6s t joke Makyann dvould ffind
amusing, but there was something in her tone that saidthiswa s n 6 t
the time for jokes. She soundedfrantic.

AYou betattere sheagitsaidi ng, 0 |

And the next thing | kn ew she wastalking so fast that | could
hardly keep up. Her version takes the same amount of time as the
drive from Brattleboro, Vermont to Newburyport, Massachusetts ,
sol 61 I j u ghe magn poiets. y o u

Maryann had an appointment with her attorney at four-
thirty that afternoon. That much | already knew. She wanted to go
over some last minute details before leaving for Pennsylvania the
next morningd like the 6t or t 6 chbped tm attach ® her
divorce. | knew that part too. She had called me earlier that day to
go over her divorce dvish list6for what seemed like the tenth time
that week (of course, as her best friend, | was happy to go over it
with her again).

Maryann said shewas running late by the time she got home
from the beach with herkids (I coul dove preshshet eoc
left the kids with the babysitter and rushed out the door. At this
point, she paused totell mehow o6gr oss 0 racalleerl oo
describing herself as 6 st i cky from sunbl ock,
s we at ,&ndmiplacks she would rather not mention.6She said
her hair was o6greasy echarominigah.6Bven c h
with her penchant for exaggeration, | knew Ma r y a martification
over this point was real. She was always very meticulous about the
way she looked

But she c o u | dn 6that appomtment with her lawyer
because if she did, another two weeks might go by without
anything getting done on her divorce, and she was alreadystressing
over how long everything was taking.



AAnd now it doesndt Imat tlemyan)
lawyer anymore!o  swaiked.

AWhat happened?0 | asked.
fHe said he was in love with me !0
AfJust [? Dt ef theé Hua

fivesld  simsisted. Acfually, he said he had been in love
with me for several months. It was right after | brought up thet or t . «

So the tort was somehow connectedto this!
ARnGoéom | prompted.
il asked if he had a chance to readhe article | dropped off at

his office, 0  eohtiaued. iRemember the one | was telling you
about?0

i Y e srepbed,lvaguelyrecalling some mention of an article
in Wo me n 6 s . Méat doedthat have to do with this? 0

iWwell,Lt hat 6 s kandsbar weghid.i t all , o
NnSo he read it?09o
fi N.dBut there was a womanin a bikini on the cover. 0o

| was n o6 twha torde with this, so | waited for her to
continue.

fi H ®ld me | would look better in th e bikini than the model
on the coader , 0 s he

|l was glad that we were talkin
see theexpressionon my f ac e . Idok IGstwhemlesees a
raw oysters.

She said he tried to brush off the remark with something
like;d shoul dnét ébaea s$hobdghhat 6s t |

The strangest thing aboutthatc onver sati on was
tone. Her initial mortification seemed to be metamorphosing into
something that sounded a lot like persuasion. It was as if she were
trying to convince me of something. Or maybe it was herself she
was trying to convince.



Throughout it all she kept cracking jokes about how terrible
she looked, as if this were evidence that her attorney must really
care abouther. She keptsaying that he had Geen her at her worstd

She was flattered, which | supposed is natural for a woman
in her situation. One of the biggest issues shé dcad with her
husband was tséemto beratractéd tahedahymore.

| was starting to feel a little sick. i What happened 1

Adi dnodt k n o w wheh laettoldtme hesvasyin love
with me, 0 s he s a willl be filihg tmattartnclaim or not?0

| laughed at her little joke, but only because | knew she
wanted me to.

fAnd the next thing | kn ew he was telling me he couldnd be
my | awyer a nsadand thenshe made this sound that
was either a gasp or a sob | coul dnoti Whealtl awh ilc |
t o do?0 s h eupposed ®deleaving rnPennsylvaniain
the morning! o

|l didndédt knowdwhHatbtt ¢ asyayansyd hli

AHe sai d h ethatwfahs dida fo it aniedrolw Ihe felt
today he might not ever get the chanceoshe continued.

ABut yomyugdimg@away for two weeks,0l reminded her.

Al guess he thought | might not come back, 6 s he es ai
knows that my parents are pressuring me to move there. 0

Yes; he knows everything about you, | coul dnodt
thinking. That 6s t h.e probl em

AANnd abs codtieued hesitantly, i b Hgoing through
something similar himself.o

| groaned. And while i t 6 s tftueahnhbéatrememt
detail about that conversation, | know for a fact that | groaned,
because | always groan wheran insecure womanis about to explain
how some guy whodés madl y i nis hbout & gava t h
divorce.

As it stood, he was married with three kids. At this point,
Maryann actually started to tell me what a great father he was.



AHow on earth could you possib

AFrom things heb6s told me, 0 s
about how close he isto his kids. 0

ASounds | i kpmnnihgetldissfor & whidlenol c oul dn 6
help observing.

ADo you t hi nk,asibtilsovers dagoodshmk e d

A dondt know, 0 | sdibermte forfhimtto s e
be telling you what a great father he isd knowing that your biggest
gripe with your ex is that you d o nli&et how he is with the kids. |
mean,eitherh et sying to i mpress you or |
it. o

She seemed to beconsidering this. i Syou think he really
has beenin love with me this whole time ?0

Al di dnobdlrediedy t hat

At 6s just so s uddeneverdhougtt ef himx c |
that way!0 Bu't |  thab shé wlas thiekindg of him dhat wayo
now. i He 6 sunattractive , 0 itirued less exuberantly.

| tried to manufacture some image of him, but Ildonét t hi |
Maryann ever said aword about him to me before this, other than
to tell me that he was a judge as well as an attorney. This seemed
like a conflict to me, but | supposed if there was some unfair
advantage it would work out in Maryann6s f avor .

fHe Goklerthan |am, 0 added@hesitantly.

iHow ol d i s hMethdselah flaahedktleraligh my
mind . Maryann was twenty -eight.

A 6 m n o,téheshedgee Bul h e insggreat shape. And |
know heds at hhke gokesbikinglamdccaouasceh e s hi s
sportsé , ber voice kind of trailed off at that point . Perhaps she was
remembering her many complaints about her ex-husband sitting in
front of the computer for hours on end playing video gamesd
another thing that drove her crazy d and it was occurring to her that
her attorney really had been using theseé o f f i c @o build si t
himself up to her.



| was tempted to ask if they everactually discussedher case
during their appointments, but | held my tongue.

AA judge i s i nshelexchaimed sudderly.Shee ! 0

said it the way you or | woul &asguvatdéh is in |
There was, | suppose, a degree of awe in her tone, but there was
definitely some horror there too. | me an, | 6 v genuine ar 0

desire in the voices of women trying on shoes.

So what it really came down to was thatMaryannd attorney,
an older, married judge who enjoy
running for father of the year, ranked somewhere between
Sasquatch anda pair of killer pumps .

With every word Maryann uttered, | became more skeptical

A Soéhddel me 2on étried to lead her back to
whatever prompted that first distraught outburst when | answered
the phone.

fWell, my first in stinct was to get the hell out of there, you
know?0 sblegan fiSo | suggestedthat we go out for a beer. And
suddenly he wasjust thereé kissing me!o

AWhat did you do?0 | asked.

~

Al j ust ot oddcknTechrdcalg, | guess you could
say | knelt there. What else could | do? His cock was in my mouth.o

lcoul dnot b e | crackingejokes.h&hatweere you
thinking?o

AActuall vy, I think |1 wantoshd it
said.

AOh my godjaganh. s ai d.

A 6m not e voe nsshlki |advdsirummgng through the
list of things | have to do before | leave tomorrow morning dd.et 6 s
seg | have to fold the laundry, pack the car, wrap the presents |

bought for my parentsd oh, and1 &6 | | have to fiownd
too! ®

canod6t bedidi eve this

)]



A That Gwentheoworst of it, 0 aild, @ausing to light a
cigarette.

fiHow can it possibly g et any wor s &hem! |
remembered the medical procedure s h e 6 dthahveedk. oM o
whispered, not wanting to hear anymore.

fiOh yeah, 0 said, exhaling. H& went there. 0
fDidn 6ybutrytost op hi m?o

fiNo! 0 eribde | juist kind of zoned out. | think | was in
shock or something. | did mention that | had the biopsy and was
still bl eeding. o

AWhat ditdthdt20 say

AHe :séhat 6s okay. AhdthemoIntdok mymi n
tampon outd6 She paused t o from kee cigarette.t h e
A E v dimeyl think about it | cringe. 0

| was cringing too, but for completely different reasons. fit
soundskind of € ,00 | was thinking dape-ishé(and yes,l knowt h at 6 s
not a word either), but what | said was, i &@nromantic. 0

fReally?0 sakked M e lying on my back on the floor of my
attormfefyibose trying to pretend I d
inthef ace i sndolt wowmhddvVve Madrignduplyour t hi
alley after reading yourbooks. 06 She was rEnthanted i n g
series with Harlequin , which does, admittedly , contain some pretty
kinky stuff.

ABut t hfantages,adr el .arfmWemen can ei
@&m or leave @m. Can you actually say you wantedto have sex with
your lawyer today? 0

ANo, 0 she admitted. fieBhert OrJlat c a |
| east , tellhindthatlin 6d i d n 0 tsay anythirthyi| pist went
along with it. | felt strangely c

AWhat happened afterwards?o |

fHe said he would ask his wife for a divorce tonight after
dinner and that was prettymuchi t , 6 she sai d. .0fAp|

Do you see why | rememberthis so well?



Al thought he was already getting divorced!o | sputtered,
although his marital status seemed a moot point given the
overwhelming ick y-ness of their first date (if you can call it that).

Al said the exact same thing,0 she laughed. Then she sighed
fHe says their marriage has been overfor a long time. They just
havemabdte it official yet.o

fANnd you believe that? o

fi lactually told him not to ask for adivorce,0 sshid fi Yo u
know how guilty | feel about my own divorce. The last thing I need
is to be the cause of someone el s

fiSo you walked out onhim ?0 suiggestedhopefully .

AWell €, 0 she hesitated. AHe w
promised to talk to him again. He sayshe want s t o marr
fWhat 20
AAnd | t ol dthitkiboutit, ov osal aqdick to add.
Al mean, considering what justhappened i n his offi

least think about it 20

Absolutely not, | thought, but | said: fwWhat about your
case?o0

fHe suggested givingit to one of h i sshepsaid, t n €
fwith him handling it from behind the sceneso

And the next thing | kn ew, she was cracking jokes about the

ugly organza gown she was going to make me wear as her maid of
honor.

By the time Maryann reachedthe &Velcome to Pennsylvaniad
sign that following afternoon , she was in love
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The Big Easy
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Looking back, it was all just a little too easy. And not Sunday
morning easy either, but tripping over a rock and splitting your
head open easy.

To Maryann, it seemed like a fairy tale. One day, the prince
announced himself andé act ual | vy, t Imach it.wBask pr
then, the prince answered to Bob (thisdoesndét become
later).

Maryann was swept off her feet (literally and figuratively) .
Enthralled by herp r i nmoelaieed devotion, sherefused to look
any further than his promises.

The thing was; Maryann trusted Bob. During the four
months heb d&pent as her attorney, Bob had listened attentively
while she poured out her life to him, sharing her deepest, darkest
secrets(some of whi ch s he ).IHeldad €eénher v e n
rant, whine and cry, and he had fallen in love with her anyway.

And he was ajudge, for crying out loud! Maryann was in awe
of him. Her feelings of failure over getting a divorce were washed
away by his assuances that her husband wasthe one to blame. A
judge knows stuff like that. He also knows right from wrong. So no
matter how Maryann (or I) might have viewed what happened that
day in his officed no matter how mortifying or inappropriate it
might have seemed to us it was actually perfectly natural. A judge
said so.

Even | was beginning to think that Bobd s feel i ng
Maryann might be genuine. I di dnot necéeosvaa r il



the paragon shebelieved him to be, but the guy did seem to be crazy
about her. Of course, Thadnaot a c thimayetl Rememieget
when | described my 6 no news I sO phidpsophy withe w s
friends? Well, Maryann was an even bigger subscriber to that
philosophy than me. When things were going good for herd
particularly when shewas inloved Iwouldn 6t hear fr om
as often as | did when her life sucked. But | was glad things were
working out for her. And | was too busy to talk on the phone
anyway, because | wasworking around the clock to make the grand
opening of the shoe store | had foolishly decided to open in

Newburyport , Massachusetts

The day aftertheir af f ai r office, NBapyana svent to
Pennsylvania as planned. | thought the separation would cool
things down (especially for Bob) b u t I t Mahjarthnsaid he
called her every day.

Meanwhile, the news of Prince Charming bombed with
Ma r y a mpareits, even with her leaving out the bits about the
tampon and the tie. Still, her parents were having none of it. For
them, the only bright spot in Maryann6 s  d iwasihe prespect of
having her and the kids move back to Pennsylvania.

But moving back to Pennsylvania represented a last resort
for Maryann. She was only considering it becauseit appeared she
had no other choice. But she hada choice now. She could stay in
Maine and marry a judge.

Maryann showed her motherd w h o we 6 IGloriadaa | |
picture of Bob from a phone book advertisement he had given her.
Gloria was far from impressed. i He [éold,& she said,
scrunching up her nose.

Bob was forty -eight, which is actually rather young for a
judge (as Maryann was quick to point out) , but which was still two
decadesolder than Maryann. In fact, he was closer to Gloriad age.

AHow di d t hiGhria lkeptpaskeng. Arid Maryann
kept seling Bo b 6 s g o oHk wasoal familysman. He was an
excellent father figure for her kids. And he was a judgée



ButGloriawa s n 6t blofgct, thegonly gerson Maryann
managed to convince was herself.But once she had wrapped her
mind around the idea, it was quick to take hold. The seed had been
planted and the fruit was too tempting to resist. Shewas enthralled
with the thought of being married to a judge. She once told me that
she felt a little like Grace Kelly must have when Prince Rainier
proposed. | tried to look at the situation from this perspective, but
alll couldseewas Bobds ti e whadtinknRyincé er
Rainierwo ul d 6 v e r e nndvihe alenlveastiest? Heealways
struck me as a white linen shirt kind of guy.

Maryannd somment about feeling like Grace Kelly brought
home what disturbed me so much about the whole thing. Maryann
was infatuated with an icon. She had looked up to Bob as her
attorney, but even more so asa judge and authority figure. She
seemed at aterrible disadvantage, made worse by the fact that,
while Bob knew everything there was to know about her, she only
knew what he had chosento reveal. And anyway, d iGdacedKelly
end up dying a horrific death ?

Maryann was crushed by heSBhefelahari | vy
mother, in particular , shouldd v wnderstood. Gloria married the
man who adored her and never looked back. She, too, had taken her
role as a wife seriously. Maryann told me that her father camehome
each and every dayto find Gloria perfectly tricked out in her little
control tops and heels, her lips s hi mmer i nsgnsewgotr al ©
lipstick and her Donna Reed hair teased and sprayed to the point
where it was as functional as it was stylish (Maryann often joked
that her mother could fall down a flight of stairs without suffering a
single injury to the head). Supper wasalways on the table by five,
and Maryann swears that, to this day, her father believes the sun
rises and setsto his wife. It is rather charming .

As far as Maryann knew, Gloria never considered anything
different for her life & or Maryann 6 ,dor that matter. Thati s rs@ t
unusual for that generation, | suppose. Maryann told me that her
parents spent a small fortune putting her brother through medical
school, but when it came hert ur n t h esge tlkipdim @nt
sending her to college.



AYou can ¢ éermoterrgasored., 0

Maryann did go to college, but the music degree she earned
di dnot r bea &lllthat miuah.lInpthe end, she was more like
Gloria than she might have cared to admit. She wanted her
mot h dife.6 s

In light of all this, Maryann was confused by G| or i a¢
negative attitude about this wonderful opportunity that had risen
out of the ruins of her marriage . But ironically, | think it was her
f ami | y tarsce thate actuatly provided that extra little push she
needed to make the leap into Bob6 s wa i t ,iifrogly taprones
that he really was as wonderful as shewas trying so hard to
convince everyonethat he was.

The simple truth is that, the more Maryann talked about her
6rel at i on s h the bBettewit sounded to ber. It was as if
focusing on who he waswashed away her mortification over what
he had done to her in his office d for the moment at least. She had
gonefrom il j u s twitlhhmydawgeeaxnd | dondt kn.
Al dm going to!adanarry a judge

And t hey hhadgore but en\adate yet!

If Maryann had any doubts, shewas hiding them really well.
I t 6s pthet sihiel edi dn 6t doubta \Bebd sangai |y
reinforced the @arrotdhe was dangling before her dazzled eyesAnd
the carrot had been custom designed by Maryann herself, during
those long, expensive appointments in B o b d@ffge, spent pining
over perfeetd lifé for her and her children. With every
conversation, Bob sweetenedthe pot, until she was babbling about
a pool, horseback riding lessons for her daughter and outdoor
activities for her son. Shelistened to B o b pgyosnises with both ears.
She wweuyied 6im a third ear if shec o u | .&ldevcanehome
early, unable to wait the full two weeks to see him again.

They had their first real 6 d atheenight she got home, and
her nervousnesssuddenly returned. After building him up so much
in her mind, Maryann was a little afraid of what shemight feelupon
seeinghiminperson(she must 6ve call ed meg si



They met at his office. Shetold me later that, when she saw
him, something inside her @ave waydShec o u | behedethe was
really there. She was filled with gratitude. She said she ran across
the parking lot and jumped in to his armsd a little over the top for
my taste but not so outof lineif youdr e a h o p éwhiehs s
she is).

A Wai t ugetadt woef t he pwldker,mgl | o
she backed away,e mb ar r a sdsse dh.otfi lytou, ol héwe e x
somecatty women working in my offi

Once they were out of the parking lot, B o b desneanor
immediately changed. He pulled the car over, put it in park and
kissed her passionately. Then he took her hand in his and held it
there as heresumed driving .

Al 6m taki ng ynother,tco tolchdeet my

| thought this was a little high-handed of hi m, b

t ol d t afemirdisbimmy thinking (actually, B o b thesone

who told me that). Meanwhile, Maryann was thinking that life with

Bob would never be boring. She wonderedif he would always be so

full of surprises (he would). And evenl| had to admit that Maryann
seemed to havethe perfect personality to compliment a guy like

Bob. | mean, how many women would just roll with something like

that?

B o brdosher was about asthrilled with their relationship as
Gloria had been. The first thing she did was ask Maryann why she
wanted to be with a manwho was so much older than her. Maryann
let Bob explain how much they had in common while she struggled
to hide her amusement.

But then B o b dosher said something that w a s mdary as
funny.

AArendt you c o ndvercerwdldecame public y o u
once it gets out that Maryann was your client? &he askedBob.

Bob was quick to reassure his mother that he could handle
the attorney-client issue, but Maryann was alarmed. What 6 i s s u e



were they talking about? What did her being his client have to do
with their relationship ?

Theywere both quiet ontheride back.1 t wasndét | us
his mother had raised. Maryann was exhausted. $ie had, after all,
just driven twelve hours with two small children. Bob was reluctant
to let her go, but hefinally relented when she agreedto have dinner
with him the following night .

It was there, at 6 J 0 n a t Restauransdin Ogunquit, that
Maryann finally admitted the anxiety she was feeling. Everything
was happening so fast She was overwhelmed. And my nagging
concerns about her divorce were starting to get to her(Bobh ad n 6t
even mentioned her casein the nearly two weeks that had passed.

AWhat di dthaet 8ayl t astolérde aboltetn s
later.

A Heavas so sweet 0 gushed i $hiel my fears are
perfectly natural after being in such a dysfunctional relationship. 0

A woul dndét cal | status dfgauidivalcea b o L

f earargaed.l Al theereality is that you still have no idea
where your marital assets are.0

But Maryann was too giddy to think about marital assets. Al
likehi m, 06 she said, e mp hbodhatilwouldaptcht h e
her meaning.

ANo tie slapping you in the fa
She laughed AThi s c¢ouldod sahmeeankcdd\as ifwo r
she was as surprised bythe realization as anyone  fi | me an,

want to say anything, but, deep down, | was afraid | might not feeld
you knowd attracted to him. But it was fantastic! 0

ATherebs more to |ife than jus

A T h gustGtsd  sshick EvBrything elseis already so much
more than | colulHedse maredddhéovwes c e
me and my kids! The list of things | love about him just goeson and
on. The only thing | was worried about was the sex.But now | can
check that off the list too!o



Air h at 6 sMagyane,ad | s ai d . Butiiwhat abou¢ a | |
your divorce?0

AT h a thé ene dark cloud in all't hi s, 0 s heBobladm
was planning to give my case to an associatebut no one in his law
firm will take the casd o

A thought he wa sCanhéemakdbsesneon® |
take the case? 0

fiThey 0 cleemingi t woul d be wunet hBolw al ,
thinksi t 6 s b ehes avifiesl guess they all really like her. 0

This gave me pause. Ineanéa | awyer who wono
fMAre you sureothatégedl!| it is?

iltds | ugoshe sasldismisdivély. | Awoul dnodt
those busy-bodies working on my case anyway.Bob promised to
find me a new | awyer. o

A We | | I hope hd dalatgosgton feved 0 n
months now and you were complaining before you went to
Pennsylvania that nothing was happening on your divorce. 0

Al know, éighed Maryann.D o y ou t thilledko He 6 m
starting from scratch with a new attorney?0

At just seems irresponsible of Bob to be so unconcerned
aboutyourcaseol coul dndét hel p remarking

Al t 6 s irrespohsibility !0 objected Maryann. | fi &he
opposite! Bob wants to be the one totake care ofme and my kids.o

| was momentarily stunned by this , but when | recovered |
said, That 6 sweetef him Maryann,buteven i f needu d
the money now, you never know when you might. 0

MDondt !owo sy, gewng dfrustrated with this
irritating bit of reality when all she wanted to do was to bask in the
glory of being in love. Al w oenddup working three jobs like my
crazy best friend. 0

I understood how she felt, so | backed off. fiSpeaking of
j o b,8lé&egan.



But | havenodt (¢oestpgareafoutdatey dte! 0 s
objected.

et 60 6y cshackgreat sexand he promised to find you a
new attorney. How much excitement can a girl take?0

ShegigglediJust as | was tbkony hand o |
lookedmedeadi n t he eyWeédnd gaidg o ha
life, starting tomorrow. ®

A Wh ahagpsningt o mor r o w,,dtrigueda s k e d

fWe 6 r e sghod pnpgshe gajd.odrawing it out for effectd
fé for the most beautiful di amond rin@® | 6ve evi
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A Crack (or two) in the 1lce
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She got the ring, the new divorce attorney and a
$500,000 .00 budget to find the house of her dreams. |
knowé r i glh t d?i sdeit &drking out that well either. Meanwhile,
| was up to my neck in debris from tearing apart the new building
my boyfriend and | had just purchased for our store. It was an
ancient ruin, well over a hundred years old, so | was probably
breathing in all kinds of noxious fumes, like lead and asbestos and
heaven knows what else The numerous cuts and scratches that
were accumulating over my arms and legs werecaked in filth. And
my hair stil hasndét r § ¢ sovneuchead hear the distant
pounding of a hammer it immediately starts to frizz.

Our plan was to get the shoe store open first, so we could use
all that moneywe were going to make selling shoesn repairs to the
rest of the house (this is one of those laugh out loud moments).

Our renovations were meant to make the shoe storelook like
a quaint little European shop that had been around for centuries. |
knowéit doesnoét ma k ecadnteithdr. s ens e

Do you remember the movie, The Money Pit? That house
was in pristine condition compared to ours. The most disturbing
thing about our house was that nothing in it was quite straight. In
fact, the door to the upper apartment was so off kilter that, when it
snowed, you had to shovelinside as well as out. That was the only
house | ever lived in where you had to do that.

But what | remember best about those long, hard days of
demolition was the exhilaration | felt . | was opening aretail shoe
store! Was there anything more exciting than that? Listening to
Maryann talk about her new ring, her new attorney and her new

W



house werelike happy background music. Things were working out
for us all! Life was good

Maryann chose a platinum band, two carat, traditional round
cut diamond, with smaller emerald cut diamonds surrounding it. It
was stunning! And shortly thereafter, Bob referred her to an
attorney in Saco, Maine.

Maryann went to seedwe 6 | | cal l hDassabit t
as she could get an appointment. She must have made quite an
impression when she strolled into his office to discuss a divorce,
flashing her biggest smile anda brand new diamond ring.

i We,lthey do s ay thereds S 0 me,0 hee f
remarked dismissively, and then turned the conversation over to
her case.

But Maryann liked Attorney #2 . He wasvery quick to pick up
the key points of her case and his no-nonsense manner gave her
hope that everything would turn out okay after all. Since Maine is a
0 nfault éstate, there wasvery little to argue over. Marital assets are
split down the middle, and child support is based on a flat
percentage of t h e noncust odrcane. Herahiggestt 6 s
problem seemed to bethat her ex-husbandh adn 6t f oyatnd
He appearedto be going through some kind of depressiond made
worse by the layoff. This left no guaranteesas to child support . For
the moment, the marital assets were allMaryann had.

Before handing over her case, Bob had arranged to have

Maryann0 s -heslBand removed from the home. A few days later,
Maryann called me.

ABob wants to move in!o
fiWith youandyourex? 6 | y el | e d litionwmeige. t h e
She | aughedMyexiNso,gosnie!loy!
fiGoned where?0 Had t hey buried him i

AHeb6s gone back to Pennsyl vani
was taking so long to get to thegood stuff. Anidl now Bob wants to
move in so we can become a real family o

AHol y s h {otsbomething likeait).dil s t hat eve



i U miéthink a judge would know if it waslegalornot, 06 s h e
said. Shewas really putting a lot of weight on this judge thing.

Bobds movi ng seemmedwwong, soméhew, but |
coul dndét quite put my finger on w

Al sndt this the kind of thing
wondered.

AWoul d Bob cdol dthuaudt imy divor
sarcastically.

I reme mber YdsH befieke he gvould,dbu t | di c
say that. i We, It $ounds like you want him to move in, oreplied,
which was the most supportive thing | could think of to say.

A think I  d o ! squealed fappily .

| think she was as surprised by the whole thing as | was.But
unlike me, she was starting to get used to B o b $ugprises. His
iImpetuousness seemedcharming to her, while | found it more or
lessinappropriate.

I mean, if nothing else, what would the kids think?

Maryann argued that her children saw Bob all the time
anyway. They liked him, and she loved how he was with them. In
fact, watching Bob play with her children , dhrowing them over his
shoulders and tickling them ,6was like a soothing balm to her soul.
She mentioned it every time we spoke. And that was one thing
about Bob that really did impress me. According to Maryann, he
spent quality time with her children every single day .

So who was | to judge?

And there was no denying that Maryann was happy after he
moved in.Bobcame &éhomed fr om herokidk and p| &
then later, they had 6 g r.eThey dvereslieexJune and Ward
Cleaver (with their beds pushed together). He went to work while
she stayed home, preparing elaborate meals for him . She @ressed
for their dinners, thrilled to have someone whonot only noticed her
efforts but actually appreciated them.

They went to the beach, holding hands in their chairs while
the kids played in the surf, or they spent the night at home,



cuddling on the sofa while the kids watched a movie. The sight of
Bob piggy-backing her kids up the stairs at bedtime would become
one of her fondest memories of that time . He was everything she
ever wanted in a man. It was as if all those thingsshe had told him
in his officed all the unfulfiled yearnings and painful
disappointments 8 had been gathered together to create this, the
perfect man.

During this time, the Martha Stewart in Maryann blossomed.
|l didndét doubt that the | ife Bob
for her. Things like decorating a new home, throwing dinner parties
and baking cookieswith her children were exactly the kind of things
that brought Maryann the most joy. | know some women would
think she was selling herself short, but | admired her commitment
to what made her happy. Why should she mangle her true nature to
fitin to amore modern mold?1 remember her goingtot he Far me
Market to carefully pick out demon verbenad for her @hicken
piccattad ( | nohdeaswhat either of those things are), or to find
someunique vegetablefor Bob to marvel over, and thens h ebé aff
to find the perfect wine to go with the meal. The only part of this
that bothered me was that she was paying for it all. In my opinion,
spending so much money at such anuncertain time in her life was
unwise.

ABut we edil@ vsatywed And dinner with Bob is my
favorite time of the day!'0

| wanted to be happy for her. When her divorce was in its
early stages, she had expressetkars that no man would want her. |
candt tosvimhny ymesishatalked about this.

MHowds t his f @shewounldjake. idiloVvly oame
is Maryann.l 6 m a si ngl eno maneyhmd job, and thd
slides from my last biopsy indicate a good chance of cervical cancer
inmy futureé wanna go outh some ti me?

This would get a laugh out of me every time, but | tend to be
an easy laugh | donodt think a potenditi al
nearly as amusing. But it worked like a charm on Bob and | had to

give him kudos for that.



But there were more surprises to come. One night, Bob
showed Maryann a handmade card he had receivedfrom his wif e.
Flowers had been drawn on the front of it, and inside was a short
note to let Bob know that she missed him.

Maryann was understandably confused by this. She said Bob
shrugged off her concerns with a remark that his wife was probably
just jealous because Maryann was younger than her.

Maryanndi dnét know h dw btéastioh®éis ab
present from his wife . Apparently it was a nice card an extremely
kind gesture, | thought, given the circumstances.

Maryann wondered if his wife might be changing her mind
about the divorce. From what she had seen of life with Bob (so far),
nobody would blame her. Yet he seemed terribly indifferent to the
card. Was this a good orbad thing? On the one hand, it seemed
pretty cold after twenty-five years of marriage. But on the other
hand, it proved that he was really overher.

Then came another surprise. Bob asked Maryann to write a
letter, addressedto him, but meant for his staff, explaining what a
great job he had done on her divorce.

| think this actually stunned her more than his confession of
love that day in his office.

fWhat good will that do? casked Maryann. | i donot k
anything about your job ?0 Not to mention that she w a s ratoatl
pleased with his handling of her case

Al 611 jot down a few key point
own words,0he said.

N Yi k eesclailmedwhen she told me about it later. But this
just put her on the defensive.

fHis whole life is turned upside down because of me!o she
snapped.

So shesat down and composed athree page letter, addressed
to Bob, but intended for his staff. A few hours later, the doorbell
rang and there stood Bob with a dozen, gorgeous, peach-colored



roses.ButMaryanncoul dndét help feelimsbge th
left to deliver her glowing tribute of his legal skills to his office staff.

Aside from these occasional&urprises,dife went along pretty
smoothly. Maryann and Bob had a lot of common interests. They
went to concerts, movies and restaurants, experiencing everything
as if for the first time .

Meanwhile, Attorney #2 scheduled Maryanné dirst court
appearance Her husband wasnow living in Pennsylvania, where he
was still unemployed . Maryann was growing increasingly concerned
that he wo u | d n abte tobfiad a job in the steadily declining
market, butshec omf ort ed hersel f wi twouldBob
take care of her and her children forever. She really seemed to
believe it. Meanwhile, her Gavingsdwas quickly running out. And
though Mar y aexhouss band wasnot paying c
was, to his credit, still paying the mortgage and utilities on their
house.

Al 6m éswoyry snot Bob contributi
expenses ?herohedays k ed

fiHe c ase dnaritalfunds to support a new relationship ,0
she said.

AAnd you can?o

They were both going through a divorce now, so it was
Maryann0s t ur n t odrdadeddteetnaitlos totiewash e
according to Bob, pleading with him to come home one minute and
being G&Gpiteful 5the next. Naturally this meant that | had to hear
about it too, although, since thisa Ot r u,d guess t have yo
admit that there were times when | setthe phone down for a minute
or twod but only when | needed both hands for whatever | was
doing (or when my ears started to bleed. As for Maryann, she
wanted to be there for Bob just as he had beenfor her, but it was
tearing her apart. | resisted the urge to point out that he had been
paidto 6 b e t h ber. &ld to mention that, when Maryann filed
for divorce, her marriage was actually over. There were no letters,
no pleading, no anything from her ex-husband. He had quietly
slunk out of the picture to make room for Bob.



Bob had said that his marriage was overtoo.Bu t | cou
help wonderin g if his wife knew this.

Meanwhile, things at B o b @ffcce were heating up as well
Two of his associateshad left the firm because of his relationship
with @ client,6and the rest of the staff was in an uproar. Maryann
felt terrible . She could understand the staff feeling bad forBo b 6 s
wife, but this seemed excessive. People got divared every day.
Surely t heagticednthaa Bé6tbe and his wife
together. ShefeltasifBo b 6 s p r o ball kenfault. Me hradthe
perfect life until she came along,but now his children were upset,
his wife was upset and his employees were upsetlt seemed as if
Bob wasgiving up everything for her, so Maryann tried even harder
to please him.

And to be fair, | think Bob was trying to please Maryann too.
She was forever telling me about his many spontaneous and
thoughtful gesturesa like surprising her with a huge box of quality
tools whenshec o mpl ai ned t hat she .dlkesel dn
were the thing s Maryann would focus on when it became necessary
to give Bobthe benefit of the doubt.

But there were still more surprises to come. One night
Maryann called me in tears. Bob was movingin with his parents dor
a few weekgbecausehis children were not adapting to his new life.

Maryann was devastated, but this di dn o6t seem | i
bad thing to me. | guess | had been waiting for Bob to show some
compassion for his 6 o | fandly. In the end, even Maryann
acknowledged that it was the right thing to do.

But there was a second part tothis surprise that wa s ra® t
easyfor her to swallow.

fiHe wants meto give back my ring,0 shemuttered miserably .

He was leaving and taking his ring. Was that writing | was
seeingon the wall?

fBobi s H étavi nghe masted fiprbemised h e el
back! 0



A donot bl ame y ofor the doest, o pi ng:
sy mpat hebut magbe yoy shouidpr epare for t he

fMy ring!0she sobbed.

AAnydou had to giv2othaaskhad kaw
could. I mean, it was probably insensitive of me, but | was curious.

fHis wife found out about it ,0she saidthoughtfully .

AiMaybe she he aabautityfrom thesroofiops, rog |
suggested in an effortto make her laugh.

MNo, it wasnét t hanyhumoryvhehwasa i d,
rare for her). i B oshid his wife traced that ring from their marital
assets 0

A Wa i texolaiméd. Aré you teling me ther eds a w
trace marital assets?0

This time Maryann di d | dudgh. |fi ke you
mind sometimes, 0 salil.elt really was uncanny how often we
both had the same thought. iGe t t h isa&d, gningsback tothe
marital assets Henvl asked Bob that exact same questionhe said,
and | Thereiswhenydurwi f anioseyhungry bitch!@This
was the first time | ever heard Maryann express doubts about her
Prince Charming.

When we would talk about this later (and we would talk
about it laterd many times), Maryann admitted that she had
something like a moment of clarity when Bob said that. But she was
too distracted by the words themselves to think about what it meant
that Bob was the one sayingthe wordsd and to her, of all people!

This was the thought that was distracting her: There was an
drderbout there that dnoney hungry bitchesécould file to prevent
marital assetsfrom disappearing.

Bob and his wife had barely begun their divorce proceedings
and here was Maryann, approximately six months into her divorce,
with her husband in another state, and no idea where any of their
marital assets were.

Without another word, she handed Bob the ring. And for the
first time since that fateful day in B o bdifise, her divorce casewas



uppermost in her mind . Where were the retirement accounts, the
severance package their savings? It could all be gone for all she
knew.

And here she was, using the last of her household expense
account to buy gourmet food and wine to impress Bob!

AJust k e e pho h b Bob Kept telling her.A Not hi n
hasc hanged. 0

But for Maryann, everything had changed.

The next day felt like a slap in the face. Maryann went from
basking in the glow of t h e 0 pliéer tb wakihgbup alone and
afraid.

She called Attorney #2, just to make sure he knew that; a)
therewassomet hi ng t hat o6 mon e yldfileutmdgacey b |
marital assetsbéand; b) he could feel free toconsider hera 6 mo n e
hungry bitch .6After that, shefelt a little better.

In the days that followed, Maryann did everything she could
thinkoft o 60 keep t bleane@piouamduntsSdi @mfort
from each and everygesture from Bob. She called me, weeping with
joy upon receiving a card from him in her mailbox, addressed to her
chil dren. |t was si gne dherédweceuwo s p
twenty dollar bills inside. Bob wrote, fiThis is from someone who
loves you and your mommy very much and will be back very soon
and forever. 0

That Sunday afternoon Maryann took the kids to Goose
Rocks Beachfor a walk along the boardwalk. Though she claimed
what happened nextwas 6 f at e adbways wondered
intended to find Bob there (it was, after all, one of the places he
went jogging). Ilwo ul dn odlamdda e e . She certai
be the first woman to plan such a meeting.

The kids saw him first.

ATher ebds B bdr som anddhey darted off in his
direction .

Maryann said the sight of her children running toward him
nearly broke her heart.



Eventually the kids made their back down to the beach.Bob
and Maryann watched them for a while in silence.

It was Bob who spoke first.i Wo u | d vy othis old,cdaendd p t
Frenchman back into your |ife?0

Maryann burst into tears. Bob put his arms around her and
she clung to him. She di dndét want to think
how good it felt to be with him again.

He moved back in that very night, right after Maryann put
the kids to bed. They made love and Maryann slept for the first time
that week. The next morning she made him breakfast and he went
to work. It was like the previous week had never happened.

But it had happened. AndMa r y a reacfioa was the most
disturbing thing about it . Even Maryann had to admit that she had
become much too attached in the short amount of time that they
had been together. And yet, s h elieh turning to Bob for advice
and comfort for nearly seven months. She had trusted him with her
most private thoughts and fearsd as well asher darkest secrets But
it was more than that. It was as if her failed marriage had brought
about a loss of self. She had gone from clever and resourceful to
completely helpless.Or a't |l east thato6s.Oneow
week without her d&night-in-shining-armord was enough to
devastateher. | was afraid for her. | think she was afraid for herself.
Shewas much too grateful to have this guy back in her life.

The two of them went back to playing house and, on the
surface, things returned to normal. | heard very little from Maryann
during this period, as she was consumed with being the perfect
avifeband mother.

And then, one day, | got the call. | ¢ o u | thaké out what
she was sayingbut | knew what had happened. | might not have
understood the words, but | understood the tone. One minute she
was sobbing uncontrollably and the next she was screaming in
agony, but overall, it had the same effect on me as ifl had heard
someonecrying out for help from a dark alley.

It would be severaldaysd and countlesscallsd before | would
get all the details.



That afternoon, while Maryann was upstairs doing the
laundry, Bob had slipped into the house, quietly packed up his
things, dropped a letter on the counter and, with a few parting
words to Maryann6 s  (svlworhad stumbled upon him there ), crept
out the door.

Maryann was shattered. Everything was goned even the
toolbox Bobhad so thought.Hel hadiogt veabd
as astray hair, actually making it in and out of the master bathd
which was just on the other side of the wall where Maryann was
folding laundry & without creating the slightest sound.

In his letter, ent i t | ed A RE[LETGERY 8db wrete;0
A | was much more vulnerabl [eWitfthads
seeming, ever-growing disinterest in me attributed to her
continual weight gain and lack of concern and effort as to whether
that was affecting how | felt she felt about me, her related
defensiveness, indignation and defiance regarding that issue, and
heri ncreasing views of me as bei ng
else to be interested in me anyway. Then you came along, and you
made me feel like a completely different persond the person |
wanted to feel like and knew | was, who still has a lot of life ahea d
of him and who [Wife] di dndt seem to appr
wonderful, but it was and is wrong. 0

Bob went on to say that he was returning to his wife, who he
suddenly realized he loved. Back and forth he went, one minute
bashing his wife to bits and the next minute professing his undying
love for her. Hethr ew i n a bunch dadlofwhkich yo
Maryann d i d n 6 td beékoneofinally ending the two page letter
wi t fhank iyou for making me feel as wonderful as you clearly
are, during our times together. | wish you and your children all of
the best things that life can offer. 0

For me, this wasthe first real indication of how self-absorbed
Bob really was. | mean, | thought it was pretty selfish of him to put
his personal feelings ahead of Maryanné slivorce that day in his
office, but maybe that was just me, not understanding the whole
0l ove at thing, besatisemsyiownteelings take a little longer
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to develop. And B o bsbuggish manner of handing off her case after
the fact also seemed rather inconsiderate, but some might say that
his promise to take care of her and the kids made up for that. But
this long-winded, self-indulgent explanation of B o bféetings while
he was usingMaryann to easehis mid-life crisis was incredible!

Even | c o0 ulbelidve 6t,tthough the first words out of my
mouth were; Al itkaew

Maryann seemed almost as surprised by my abrupt
declaration as by what happened. i Y o knew? oshe echoed,
momentarily stunned out of her hysteria. In fact, my ill -timed
words are one of the few details sheremembers about that day. The

rest has been almost completely blotted outd the way traumatic
events sometimes are.

Maryann resisted all efforts to move forward. 't wasni{
thatshedi dndét know h.GShedi dwdntatohdrdle it. i t
A canot believe what Bob has

saying.

Later, when we were able to laugh aboutitwec oul dn 6t
noticing some striking similarities between Bob and The Grinch
Who Stole Christmas. You might need a little eggnog to truly
appreciate this, but here wasthis sweet, merry, slightly gullible little
family (the 6 Whs@®, when along comesthe mean old Grinch, who is
so miserable with his own life that he hastotryand 6 st e a lthe wh
Whos have. Just like the Grinch, Bob had slithered in, taken what
he wanted and then slithered back out, pausing only to assure the
sweetest most trusting little Who that nothing was amiss. The
thoroughness with which he went about his gruesome taskd even
taking back the gifts he had given Maryann, such as the toolboxd
brought forth images of the Grinch emptying the ice cubes from
their trays, and scooping up the last can of &ho hashéfrom the
cabinet.

Mind you, Maryann di dn 0t take this wit
grace that the Who clan had. There was no standing around her
kitchen table, holding hands and singing joyfully . Her thoughts in
those first few hours were maniacal.



iThe f act t hat you MADE ME bel
SOéWHATShe wrote in an [EMALILIl Yo f e
could FUCK ME a few more times to not feel like some old, flabby
bastard???0

She closed her email wi t hWas Ifiyour 29 year old
whore/therapist? 0

fiHow could he do this to me and my kids?0  sdsolbed,
reading his letter over and overagain.

There was nomistaking it.
Prince Charming was gone
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4

Misery

- -

She had gone back in time, to the quiet little suburb where
she grew up. Only this time she was ashattered, penniless single
mother with two little children. Her divorce was still up in the air
and she still wa s ndt cany child supporh. gler husband still
wasno6t wo shestih pad aonidka where any ofthe marital
assets were.

Except their house. Maryann knew where that was. Upon
hearingthat shewa s 0 s h a ¢ k henatornep id theiri ntaifial
home, her ex-husband had stopped paying the mortgage and
utilities. Maryann was forced to sell the housefor a song. An
$11,000.00 song.Or atleast,t hat 6 s whwdhénitwds all sgd t
and done (as compared to the $80,000.00 they had put down on
the house). After paying the 6 p a s t bills, LAgoéney #2 and a
moving van, she had just enough left over to take the kids out for
pizza.

For a job she was managing a retail shop at the local mall.
After rent, utilities and food, she was only about $500 short each
month. Thankfully, she had her mother to watch the kids. It was
starting to sink in, just how bleak her prospects were, though she
was still holding out hope for the marital assets. Between the
retirement fund , the severance pay, the stock options, the savings
and the carsd there had to be somethingcoming to her and the kids.

Her original fear that she would be alone for the rest of her
life seemeda reality now. Her experience with Bob made this clear.
Men would see her as an object to use. There wasnothing more
pathetic than a single mother. Her relationship with Bob almost
seemed like the punch line of a joke now. As it turned out, she



coul dnot even tr uler final ointmerd with sy
Attorney #2 proved that.

Al 6m &bPDmaigdi ngot wi hadeaw as yc
he said.

i Wh y sheasked, half expecting him to profess his undying
love for her.

Instead, he handed her a letter.

In a final, devastating blow to Maryann6 €ase, Bob sent
Maryannd in care of Attorney #2 d a nine page letter that appeared
to be some kind of lame attempt to exonerate himself of their affair.

ABob has made me aelatwg tb higlsegal t o
mi s ¢ o n dxplairted Aitorney #2.

Upon closer examination, it became apparent that the letter
had nothing to do with Maryann. In it, Bob rewrote history again,
adding a bunch more of the 6 a s kiyowsjdwhich, | suppose, were
meant to give it credibility. He began with a lengthy explanation
about how exemplary his handling of Maryann6 sase wa$ quoting
Mar y a n n praiseofwm the letter he had askedher to write on
his behalf. He evenaddeda o6 f i ndi ,0 g |lyoukseein@aurt s
pleadings, which went over every detail of their affair, point for
point, from the sexthey had in his office, to his personal struggles,
and then finally , to his reasons for going back to his wife.

B o b lét®er was actually a responseto something Maryann
had done. Shortly after receiving his @oodbyedletter on her counter,
Maryann went to Attorney #2. He was about as surprised by this
turn of events as| was.

fi Tah day when you walked in here and told me about your
engagement to Bob, | could tell that you had no clue what was
happening to you,0he said.

AWhat do vysheaske@& an?o

fiyou were manipulated, 0 thlé her. Yofir case was
basically set aside while Bob pursued youo

Maryann beganto cry.



il me an, that appoi nt metfedlingsvh e
andthens edu c ed weantwn,do yowerealizeyou were billed
for that?o

Maryannst opped crying. fAWhat?0o0

Al still d o fulfy understamdrmkh ayt dus htap p e
you, 0 h esimplyai d

ABut what <cansheasked about it ?0

iwell, 1 t hi nk youobre we l | wi t hin

grievance with the Board of Overseers of the Bay 6 h e Atshe i d .
very least you should be able to get your legal fees backli mean,
Bobreallyd i d n @lt thatnouch in the nearly four months that he
represented youo HWook hishead | icoul dndét hel p
he managed to file a motion to get your husband out of the house
though. Di dnot y o u stleyday lafeer youo hugbdnd i n
left 20

Maryann sent an email to the Bar that very day [EMAIL 2],
telling them what happened (though she had yet to file a formal
complaint).

fivast promises regarding my own and my children's
futures, not to mention damage to my divorce case by following

hisinstruct i on t o 0] us sowgeotld be marred, leas Wi
now come to ahead,0  swnoee.

And here she was a week later, in her at t o s ofeicg 6
because Bob had snt him this letter.

fBy sending it to me, he must have knownthat | would have
to withdraw as your attorney,0 he explained. AHe hasno
considered your needs as his clie

In his letter, Bob basically blamed Maryann for their affair,
twisting her every move and action into some kind of a conspiracy
to seduce him. He concluded; Pefhaps you are correct,
[Maryann], that | could have and should have pushed you off me
after you walked around my desk instead of out the office door.
Yes, | was the lawyer, but | had already told you that | could not
be your lawyer anymore, and you are an adult, too. 0
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(This would not be the lastt i me he woul d f ai
woman off him).

Bob also blamed Attorney #2 for not filing his 6 Not i c e
Wi t hdr aw\a réy aarasd) svhich he left in Mar y a fiilea 6 s
instead of filing it with the Court himselfd as he was supposed to
do. In his letter, Bob wrote about Attorney #2:

fincluded in [ Ma r y a rcaséfie] was a letter to [Attorney
#2], requesting that he would file my enclosed withdrawal notice
toget her with his appearanceébut
on your behalf, he did not also file my withdrawal notice. 0

Personally, | always felt that leaving his withdrawal notice in
Mar yanno6s dfof lmalingiit nostlieecaurt was an obvious
attempt to create confusion over the date when he actually
dvithdrew 6 as her attorney. He knew that, as far as the law was
concerned, he was still her attorney when he had sex with her that
day.

As for sending the letter to Attorney #2, | think Bob did that
to discourage Maryann from filing a bar complaint. He was putting
a whole new accountof what happened on the record, and making
Attorney #2 a witness to it. Bob was creating evidenced hence the
ridiculous list o f  Gofwhichtwsre anything but).

Maryann did file the bar complaint, which became headline
news that made her look like a vamp on the prowl instead of the
naive and somewhat foolish divorcee that shewas.Wh at 6 s mo
she now had to find herself a third attorney to start over with. Were
there evenany assetsleft? | remember the bitterness she expressed
over each andevery payment she had to make toAttorney #3.

So Maryann decided to move back toPennsylvania. Actually,
@eci dedd mi ght be Fdrbar, | thinkritofeltgnora wc
like she had slunk back under the rock from which she had come.

This is not a slight on Pennsylvania. We both love itthere.1 t 6 s r e
a reflection of Ma r y a statédaf mind, and the circumstances of

her return . She sent the kids ahead and began the arduous task of
packing up all of her belongings.



| spent agreat deal of time with Maryann during this period .
She came to Newburyport almost every day, staying overnight
occasionally at fir st, and then, eventually, staying for days at a time.
This mightd v e fure wnder normal circumstances, but | had two
deadlines looming over my headd one was to get my Harlequin
manuscript in , and the otherwastomaket he d&égr and o
shoe store As well, the fall shoe sampleswould be arriving any day,
and | had to get ready for the upcoming shows. Looking back, I
donodot k npulledibadl eff , &specially with Maryann following
me around like a little lost kitten, going over and over the details of

her affair with Bob. | di dnot mi to dher Whiles ltwas i

painting walls, sorting shoes or setting up inventory, but it was
impossible to actually do anything that required my full attention &
such as writingd when she was around

ALet 6 dmorow dwdulddsuggesd consahtlg.

I remember feeling like a guilty mother responding to a
negl ect ed c¢ hi finidh paifitidgutsigwall 2entd nteh e
go to the Starboard Galley and have drinks on the deck, 0 |
tell her. Contented for the moment, she would resume hertirade
against Bob.

Strangely enough, even her tirades wereentertaining . I n fact,
| remember that summer as one of the bestin my life. | mean, the
timing for a house guestwasterrible and | was experiencing a great
deal of anxiety about all the things | had to get done, but | had
never been so happy There were just so many exciting things going
ond my upcoming book, my new retail store and the latest shoes in
my fall line.

And | enjoyed having Maryann around. Even people who
d i d npérticularly care for her (like my boyfriend) had to
grudgingly acknowledge how happy she made me I cou
around her for five minutes without laughing. | ¢ a neden saywhy
t his was. | 6m not <allyad thdt turany. Magybet
there was some chemical reaction between us that madesverything
seem funnier than it actually was. Sometimes it was just that
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whatever got us laughingwas so unexpected like when she fell in
the bush. Other times it would be something ridiculous .

By the time | left for the Vegasshoe show, Maryann was a
permanent fixture in my house. She was having trouble sleeping
one night, so she called to ask if | had any sleeping pills. | told her |
did, and | even knew where they were. She hung up and went to
find the pills. Sure enough, they were where | told her, but when
she opened t he b buttdns. She sam she blipked p e «
sever al times to make sure she w:
them back in the bottle and then poured them out again, just to
make sure.They were still buttons. A little while later she called me
again.
fl think | must be going crazy because your sleeping pills
|l ook just I ike buttons, o0 she said

AOh my @exckimed. | il w &ring where tthey
were! 0 | had | ust alugoe afew veeekk beforg!Anfd o r
all of a sudden | remembered collecting all of my stray buttons and
putting them in the empty sleeping pill container. | have no idea
how they made their way into my medicine cabinet.

A

Maryann was still conf used. ASo | d&m not
AThey really are buttons?0o

This started us both laughing. | could picture the scene in my
mind; Maryann stumbling into my kitchen in the middle of the
night, locating the sleeping pill bottle, opening it, and then pouring
outt he contents into her pal m. [
expression as she stared down at theassorted buttons that | have
collected over a lifetime (you never know what <co
going to need). How confusing those first few moments must have
been. And how ironic, that the one and only time that | can ever
remember needingabut t on | coul dn 6theyhadn d
somehow ended up back in my medicine cabinet.

We had a good laugh over that And later, we would joke
about the medicinal benefits of buttons . All it took was the mention
of aheadacheto prompt Mar yann to ask; O0Woul d



To this day, she swears she a n 0t open a bottl

expecting to see buttons pouring out.

But even the most normal, everyday thing could get us
laughing. My boyfriend and | often disagreed over how to fix the
many little dgroblemsodwith our house, w h i ¢ h ali tsathudusual
for couples. But we always handled each disagreement in exactly
the same way:| would present my case forthe dgight way to do it
and then my boyfriend would go anddo the opposite.

Now | know that sounds really arrogant of me, but | don 6 t

mean it like that. 't wamy 6w a Y right dse muéh asthat
my b oy f wayevasgudtso wrong. Most of you are going to
have to take my word for this, but trust me; anyone who actually
knew him would be laughing right now over how true that
statement is.

I 61 1 gi ve y ohe starcaseenoar enryway.had a
tiny crack in the ceiling. With all the major problems in that house,
that little crack was the thing that bothered my boyfriend. After
puzzling over it for several months, he suggested wecover it with a
piece of trim.

Yeah, you read that right. H e wanted to nail a piece of trim to
the ceiling to hide a crack.

it wi | | | oolkaddecorative, 0 he

e

AAct ualwaon, 60t ireplied. AiBut youdre

considering how low that ceiling is. A taller person might bump
their head on a piece of trim sticking out. 0

Sincemy boyfriend d i d Inadeta response for this | assumed
he had cometo his sensesthis time .

Maryann happened to bethere that day. She and I spent the
next few hours downstairs in the store. Later, as we were heading
up that samestaircase | stopped her on the secondstep.

A L o olksdid)pointing to the ceiling.

There was now a gaudy piece of trim where there used to be a
tiny crack. Maryann and | burstinto hysterical laughter. We tried to
get it out of our systems before going upstairs, knowing that my



boyfriend was probably up there sulking because he thought we
were laughing at him (which we were). We actually had to sit down
on the steps, which got us joking and laughing some more.

Finally we were ready to head upstairs, but as Maryann

A

passed the trim,s he coul dnodt rte summ her hpade t e

(even though she was too short to reachit).

A Ou c $hé avied, holding her head. This got us laughing all
over again and, from that day on (until | moved out of that house),
Maryann would often athpieompfdrim,aedr
there was never a time whenit failed to bring back, in vivid detalil,
the hilarity of that incident for me .

BesidesMaryann, | had a steady stream of siblings and other
friends constantly dropping by the store, which also kept the
atmosphere cheerful. My brother, who is alocal contractor, camein
regularly to check on our progress, lend an expert opinion or
sometimes just to poke fun at something my boyfriend did. My sons
were there too, helping with the renovations. And anyone elsewith
a few minutes to spare dropped by to watch the show. Those were
good times.

But the deadlines were drawing near andthere were all kinds
of tasks that required my full attention. | neededtime away but
Maryann c o u | d n @ be abbeedhat summer. | think she wanted
an escapefrom her life , and my hectic existence (and dysfunctional
family ) provided just the thing. At one point, theytookt ur n s
her off my hands. 06 tHatdl evergpaichsanmeend
to take her out drinking one afternoon.

That summer it occurred to me that | would have to put up
boundaries where Maryann was concerned This was nothing new
formed beingan @rm6é s | akindgot gil anywayd but it was hard
with Maryann. She was more like family than a friend, and my
ar moéos | endd ¢ sagplytto family. In fact, family is where
the co-dependent in me really gets to shine. | donodot |
and watch anyone suffer, no matter who it is, but it is virtually
impossible for me to do with family. I would much rather go

6t a
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through whatever it is myself, than to watch a family member
experience it.

But no one in my family had ever been & needy as Maryann
was that summer. | once got so frustrated | exclaimed; | Wion 0 t
make my grand openingif | go out with you today! | t ditrser drinks
or my store!o

She blinked as if consideringit.iJust one | ittl e
pleaded.

But the situation was temporary, so | roughed it out. And
then, suddenly, shewas goneand | was almost too busy catching up
to miss her. But, of course, | did miss her.

So Maryann went back to Pennsylvania, where shespent the
next two yearstrying to fitinto the role of a single, working mother.
But it was an uncomfortable fit . Also, she had unfinished business
up here in New England, and |1 6m not just t a
complaint. She missed Bob. Or maybe it washer life in Maine that
she missed. She had gone from theproverbial frying pan (marriage)
into the fire (single motherhood), making a quick stop in paradise
along the way.

| felt that Ma r y a mrieféescounter with the ¢erfectdlife
was about asrealasBo b 6 s prQf oourseglsvas noét.l t he
hadmre@tmetBobyetBut | di dndét need to |
the glaring flaws in his character. | saw alawyer who would take
incredible risks with the lives of his clients, and a man who was
equally reckless with the lives of the people he claimed to care
about. Andl 6 m not | us tMatyanh &nd hegchillrero U t
think the same could be said for his wife and kids.

Bobds ,ltheugt eonmtradictory in relation to his affair
with Maryann , were actually very consistentin what they said about
him. They were like a crystal ball into the future, providing a clear
picture of a man whos e 0 r woaltl always de shifting to ensure
two things; first, that he always got what he wanted, and second,
that he was neverresponsible for his own actions.



Over the years, hesetwo insights would prove as constant
and dependable as the tides that wash over our northeastern
shores.
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The®Bar, 6 as | | i ke to call t hie
located in Augusta, Maine. Augusta is surprising ly small for a state

B ¢

capital, and it lacks the charm of the cities and towns alongMa i n e 6 s

coast Infact, | 6 v e ihcalleadthte @rmpit 6of Maine. It seemed a
fitting place for the business at hand.

For those of you who are blissfully unaware of the legal
system, a dar complaintdis basically an appeal to a board of
attorneys to determine if the behavior of another attorney is
unethical. If they decide that it is, they can do anything from
publicly reprimanding that attorney to dlisbarring® him (which
means he can no longer practice law).1 6 m not sur e
are the ideal people to bemonitoring the behavior of their fellow
attorneys, but I suppose itods
we 6 d htalveer @ fwa s n 0Q@verseer8l &reow df nadther
authority that alawyer must answer to.

From Maryanno sery first contact with the Bar, it appeared
t hat Bobo6s s,indastawethical. Upvta that point, evenl
h a d n 6 tundérstdod tlye whole &ex with a clientéthing. My issue
with Bob was his incredibly negligent handling of Maryanné sase.
He had put Maryann in a terrible position that sheh a s heén able
to recover fromad even to this day. This was the crux of the matter
for me. However, for the rest of the worldd including the Bard it
was about the sex. In retrospect, | can seewhy that would also be an
issue.

During adivorce,a w 0 mself-ésteemis often at its lowest
point. S h eldsinga friend, a lover, a partner and a way of life. She®
vulnerable. She needs professional help, not the thankless burden

t h



of assisting a married man through his midlife crisis . It took the
expressions on the faces of the attorneys sitting on the board to
make Maryann realize this.

But Maryann refused to believe that Bob had used her. She
coul dnét whatdtheysharetwad dobetbAnd s he c oL
forget those wonderful months of adoration, attention and
promises.

After atwo yearreviewofher compl aint and
(whi ch | 6m sur e wthesBarVioallyustheduledias )
hearing to determine whether ornot Bo b 6 s b e hunethicalr w.
Unfortunately, Maryann had to be present at that hearing.

Shewas a nervous wreck. And s he
took the last dollar she could scrape together just to get there. She
flew in from Pennsylvania the night before, which barely gave her
ti me to pr e padthaehearihg, but @fscoutse, | heard all
about it later.

Maryann told me that Bob @lareddat her when he walked
into the hearing room.

Al gne haduseddhe advocate that was sitting beside
heriHeds just trying thswasitke askingchat e
deer to ignore the headlights of an approaching train . It had been
two years, but the sight of Bob still had the power to affect
Maryann. And she was intimidated.

Maryann couldn &r@amember her testimony that day. But she
remembered B o b éygs boring into her face as she stumbled
through itd and her relief when it was finally over.

Then c¢ame .Blarpadnswagaatualhy curious to hear
what he would say. She had never gotten &losure6 on their
relationship d or her case for that matter . Shewas expecting him to
express some remorse for what he had done but, recalling those
letters he wrote to Maryann and her attorney, | doubted this would
happen.

And of course, the sorrow never camed at least not for Bob.
Maryann, on the other hand, felt like she was beingskinned alive.



She told me that she could actually feel her flesh burning as he
slowly skewered her before the panel of attorneys. Shecoul dn o
believe what she was hearing.

fHe made it sound like | threw myself athim! ¢ s he t ol
| at kikelhadihunted himdown justtos et him up! o

Bob began by telling the Bar how 6 s h o chk lead been by
the many dntimate detailsd6 Ma r sharedwith him while he was
her attorney, including very graphic details about her sex life with
her husband. Bob claimed that Maryann had acted inappropriate ly
by telling him these things (which he proceeded to describe in great
detail for the Bar), becausethey had no bearing on a divorce in the
onfoaul td state of Maine.

AHow wsawpplosed t o Kk ndemandédHatet.? O
A Y owould think he would 6 vneention ed it before | got around to
the whips and chains!o

Bob also told the Bar that Maryann scheduled too many
appointments (all of which he had no problem billing her for),
0 pr ol on gepdir@mentshwith unnecessary details and even
gavehima O s u g gnagazinewitad woman i n a bi ki
cover (remember that Wo ma n 6 s  aftela Abbuhthe tort?). He
testified that she dntentionally 6arrived late the day they had sex in
his office and then insistedongoingover t he Om®ardee i
to stall 6for time until his employees left for the day (as if Maryann
knew when that was). Then she &Geducedhim. Shortly after that,
Maryann 6 ¢ 0 e r ¢ e dbuy ah engagement ring and, later still ,
threatened to file a bar complaint if he di d stdy with her.
Throughout it all, Bob insist ed that he was looking out for her
interests as his client. He claimed that h e h ardpedtedly uér g e 6
Maryann to call Attorney #2 , supposedly bringing it up every time
they spoke.

‘N

In fact, the only wrongdoing Bob would admit to, was6é n ot
rejecting Maryanné smmanyadvances. 0

As i f this ,|Babseasohedhes testimgnipwith a
steady flow of insulting innuendoes about Maryann as a client, as a
woman and as a mother. The remarks were not of a nature to help



his case nor do | think he meant for them to. Like the smart bombs

used in warfare, they wereintended for one very specific target. And

they reached that target with the precisionofas ur geonoés s
Maryann was crushed.

This passive-aggressive method of attack would become as
characteristic of Bob as barking is to dogs. But unfortunately, no
matter how well prepared we have learned to be over the years it
never quite loses itssting. | have noticed that B o bféverite &ingersd
are those that highlight the ironic injustice his opponent is suffering
at his very hands. He seens to almost delight in flaunting his
wrongdoing with vague allegations about that same wrongdoing in
the person heos . $orig addigon tb cbeing ¢the me n
victim, his opponent is now in the awkward position of having to
defend his or herself. It is the ultimate insult to injury, and | have
never met anyoned before or sinced with such an amazing talent for
capitalizing on this particular form of psychological warfare. Not
even the worst bad guys in movies can pull it off with Bobd s
panache.

| have to give credit where credit is due.

These characteristics that | was noticing in Bob would
become a pattern of behavior that would emerge again and again,
t hough | d id@dmeben thikknabowt itd at the time. When
taking on an opponent, B o b $€trategy would never waiver. He is
like a four or five trick pony, pulling the same stunts over and over
again, regardless of the circumstances he finds himself in. In any
other forum d an office, a construction site, flipping burgers at
Mc Do n althdsé strategies would have backfired, rendering him
an outcast(and perhaps even earning him a well-deserved beating),
but they have served him remarkably well in the courtroom .

I me an, heds a judge, sudcgght ? Y

Getting back to the bar complaint ; as Bob was doing his best
to make Maryann look like a conniving blackmailer, and zapping
her left and right with his little zingers that were intended to make
her feel about three inchestall (but actually made her feel much
smaller), it never occurred to him to notice how utterly



inappropriate and downright disgusting it was for a lawyer to be
carrying on an affair with a client he thought so little of .

For Maryann, that hearing represented 6t he wor st d
life .6Sitting there while Bob brought up all the private things she
told him when he was her attorney was particularly difficult. One
minute he was exposing her darkest secrets, the next he was
throwing her a dig where he knew it would hurt the most. She told
me that she wanted to jump up and cancel the whole thing but she
was too mortified to move.

The Bar d i d anidunce their decision at that hearing, so
Maryann was obliged to slink out of the courtroom with her tail
between her legsd much like an unwelcome animal that just peed
on the carpet. She was more dejected than ever when shereturned
to Pennsylvaniathe next day. It seemedshec oul dndét si.nk
As if beingusedandd u mp e d ®anaugm <hé had been forced to
endure a four hour testimonial of what a horrible client, woman and
mother she was. She cried for days.

Even the B a r d@asion, which came in the mail about two
weeks later, c o uwlfind hed dut of her funk.

TheBardeci ded toscpwrlswmerdgdiact i ol
[BAR1]. | thought t heir observations about Bob were dead on (if a
little restrained), and they describe him just as well today.

There were act uan Ityh e wBa ragasstudnet c
Bob, only one of whichcamefromMar yannés b aTothiso mp
first count, the Bar determined that; AiThe Respondent [Bob] has
conducted himself in a manner unworthy of an attorney . 0

The Bar went on to sayy, Céantrary t o Res
assertion, his misconduct caused substantial injury to his client,
the public, thel e g a | system and the prof es

And; With regard to aggravating factors, the Panel
concludes that Respondent was motivated by his own personal
interests and relationships, that his misconduct materially and
adversely affected his representation of his client, that he
disclaimed personal responsibility for his violation of the Bar
Rules, that he has failed to acknowledge the adverse consequences
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of his misconduct, that he was free of any impairment that would

tend to excuse his misconduct, and thatheabused hi s cl i
and used knowledge gained in the course of representation to his

own advantage. 0

In light of all this, the Bar determined ; With regard to
Count 1, probabl e cause exists foc
suspension or disbarment. 0

The second count related to a separate bar complaint that
had beenf i | ed by the two attor nEigys w
had accused him of violating the rules of professional behavior. As
to this, the Barfound: iRes pondent 6 s mintentomah d u c
or knowing, and was for the purpose of obtaining advantage in
the dispute. 0

For aggravating and mitigating factors, the Bar determined
t hat dBawved nd remorse for his misconductd6 and t ha
fwould be likely to repeat such misconduct in the future should he
conclude that it was to his advantage to do so0.0

Boy, did that ever turn out to be true!

For that second count, Bob received a public reprimand right
there on the spot.

But the penalty for Ma r y a first 6osint was still yet to be
decided. Another hearing would have to be scheduled to determine
whet her Bobods | icense to practi ce
was to be disbarred.

| was satisfied that justice had been done. ButMaryann was
still reeling from all the terrible things Bob said about her at the
hearing.

fiHow could he have moved into my home while thinking all
those horrible things about me ?0she asked.

I tried to comfort her with th
but she wasndét buying it.

fiHe @ pidge,0 ssaidssimply. Where his position as a judge
had vindicated her before, it now condemned her. A judge had



stood up, under oath, and announced to the world that she was,
pretty much, a piece of shit.

How many women have to live with that?

They say that facing your Oabu
i's healing, but foriVaryannw Sesing8db agaih e ¢
was the worst thing t hatHeduwsutbod 6 v
good atintimidati ng people.

In fact, if there is one thing | have learned over the years,i t 6 s
that no one everwalks away a winner with Bob.
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Shortly after Maryann receivedB o b@E Goodbyedletter on
her counterd but before she filed her bar complaint d she had asked
me to write Bob to let him he would knowthat s he wasnodt t
one who thought what he did was wrong. | was happy to oblige,
though | doubted it would do any good. So | sent Bob an email,
telling him just what | thought of his careless handling of
Mar yanno6s. Amdlil wotdr here that | knew he lied about
Maryann being the aggressorthat day they had sexin his office.

How did | know? Because | know Maryann. Sheis the sort of
person who would feel self-conscious walking into a convenience
store in the disheveled state she was in that dayd let alone getting
naked in an office with florescent lighting. No way . And | knew
about t he pr ocedu how icly hsleetfelt. Notatal a
mention her pre -occupation with her case that entire week. All she
kept talking about was that damn tort! Sex was the last thing on her
mind.

In fact, 1 went so far as to sharemy first impression with
Bob, that the event had a rape-ish quality that made me sick.
Maryann might not have been kicking and screaming on the
outside, b u t she was <certainly objecti
mortification is ; an internal objection. Andt hat 6 s what I
her voice when | first picked up the phone . The manner in which
she talked herself out of it is typical as well. | t 6 s ialalhel e d
simple fact is that Maryann was too intimidated to say ¢mo6to Bob
that day.

| told Bob all of this in my email. It felt good to get it off my
chest.] di dn 6dareply, ngo didcl iget one.



Until two yearslater. In factitwasn 6 t  shartly iafiter the
Bar sent out their decision that Bob would finally respond to my
6very nasty, i naccenaibasdetermedit).ilmap e r
long, drawn out dissertation (which would become characteristic of
him),Bob6éadvi se chi® (amdeh i ¢ f f & (hut mgstyshis)
sufferingd all because ofwhat Maryann had done to him with her
bar complaint. He claimed that his feelings for her were real and
even suggested that he had cherished hopes that somedaywhen
his family was feeling betterd the two of them would get back
together.

A He g@omgto wait until his family felt better and then do
this to them all over again?0!| exclaimed in horror .

Bob went on to say that the bar complaint that Maryann
&ery sadly saw fit to fileéh u r t ektiemely deeplydand destroyed
his belief in his decessarily concealed hopéfor the two of them.

There were three long pagesof this, but | quit reading after a
few paragraphs (which would become characteristic of me).

But when | showedthe email to Maryann, sheread every last
word, over and over againd out loud!

Forced to sitthrough Bob6s email Jilooultdna
help noticing that he brought up Ma r y a menydirst boyfriend in
high school and a guy she went out with in college He had really
done his homework. He actually referenced her old diaries, which
shed Hept for comic relief when shegot old.

AWher dheyproe |l asked.

A dm nod shie es diinal.sawfthem they were in
my bedroom closetin Wells. 0

Naturally, these references to Mar y a rpasb Ife were
phrased in a way to makeher sound like a nymphomaniac.

Altds dsaddhriglde §® threatening vy

AWi t h wheasketldi What 6s he going tc
odhi gh school and have my homecom
AThiaboktit, 0 | shy ¢omtact mé@2/Maryann di d n o6t

respond so | answer e dBetaose h eh e ¢ aontéiit you



directly, and he knew that | would show you this email. By
mentioning ex-boyfriends and your diary, he Oéirssinuating that he
can use this stuff against you. 0

ABut éwhy?0
A dondt slaniayhed gét you to back offo
fBut the Bar already made their decision.o

A T qursue disciplinary action, d reminded her. Th@
hearing to decide what actiont h ey 6 r e (g asiyet comeo t a k

Al thi nk we should just ignore this e ma ishesaid.
AToo Ireptied., 0

A Wh at di d skeoaskeddan® the fear in her voice
convinced me that | was right about B o b &msil being a threat.

A Wh a should have done is sert B o bé&msil tothe Bar I, 0
sai d. ALet t hem s e e stihis.\But whatrl did®do r s ¢
mostly because | donot want fortyoudigs t
reply to his piece of shit email

Maryannsi ghed in relief. AWhat di

Al 61 1 s endlpsomised.aFoicstarfens,,| @ointed out
that he still, to this day, has not once considered what you or your
children have suffered because of hs actions. | added that all of his
problems were causedby him, not you. And I told him that you filed
that bar complaint becauseyour marital assets were neversecured
and as a consequenceyoust i | | h a vadanihthingy ©h & € & s
what | said. o

fiWell,y ou the writer, 6 s he responded.

When Bob responded this time, he took a completely
different approach. He mu s t 0 v e esfermte, becadise in all my
years of dealing with Bob, | have only seen him resort to this
strategyoneot her t i meitldterio theéblodk). s e e

| suppose his response [EMAIL 5] was meant to sound
conciliatory and helpful . In fact, it was the closestBob would ever
get to expressingremorse.

AOh my lexdaimed fAHedbds offering yoc
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fWhere? @emanded Maryann. | waited for her to see it, but
even when she did see it she tried topr et end shAh@haeai
possibility of a lawsuit came up at the bar hearing, &he argued.
fBob probably just wants to settle out of court. 0

A

A Om predatyesulrement would Ibe v
toldher. Al n f act , bultlismeemslikelthe apposite of a
settlement. See where he says dt is important to understand,
however, that these checks are gifts, not compensation for
anything ?61 s rthi whole purpose of a settlement to compensate
for something? And wo u |l d n 6t thig dacii fntgé | us't m a
obligated to him? | mean, heds ma
here, but the thirty thousand h e 6 s o fs fstdl ressntigan the
divorce settlement you would® vgetten if he had handled your case
properly. 0

Awel | | obviously he dadesnmewetd w;
upshesai d. fABut i feelsboaudn dasb oluitk e th e

fFunny how an upcoming disciplinary hearing will do that ,01
coul dndét help remarking

Bob6s e mawitHa blzyelg ride that takes him through
about seven towns along the coast of Maine (and just as many
emotions) until ; at last, he hasa dorainstorm .6

Bob pauses here, to assure me that he checked the bar rules,
and, after a lengthy explanation of them (that | still don 6 t
understand no matter how many times | read it), he assures me
again that there is nothing to prevent Maryann from contacting
him .

ALook at this Ideclaredy gNbherio$ hj
anysense. He s ay s, She maywdnttacheckowith y o U
her attorneys first about this , if she feels uncomfortable about the

situation and feels that she still needs her Main e attorneys (God
knows why d for reasons you and | have already discussed) .®

AT h e r ledxabaimed. hatd dor reasons you and | have
already discussed. 6 Wheehell did Bob and | ever discuss your
attorneys? Is he referring to his previous email, where he wrote that

all of this was their fault ? Was that the discussion he and | were



supposed to have ha® And he goes on tosayd speaking of your
attorneysd 6 & advise her and to make her decisions for her, but

you and | both know how much advisors, starting with my former
counselor, can screw things up so badly.® | turned to
fWhat do | know about his former counselor é except that he had

his hands full with Bob?0

| continued to critiqueB o b 6 s sddenly Intrigued. | fid s
like he thinkst hat i f he phrases t hirmw. sh
And hereds the part t hat ; Brougddd me
indicate that [Maryann ] has tried to reach me but her lawyers 8 6 0

| st oppe dhenddéaverindicatd\that?d | asked
says; 0rou did indicate .01 most certainly did not indicate any such
thing . What did he put that in this email for? Who is he writing this
to? 0

Maryann had no answer for this, but | was too absorbed in
the email at this point to notice her anyway.

AHe ends t hi syet anetket tiranlen aganst tydur
attorneys, who he claims; dave been beating her down and
causing her to feel she has noright to tell them to take a hike . 6
Jesus! Do you t hiBolkiscraryd lde spuads srazyp | e
tome. O

Maryann di dn 6 t, but eng Iqgyestion was rhetorical
anyway, so | kept going.

fiNext he goes on to tell me to tellyou how to contact him if
you do decide to break free from the tyranny of your lawyers
andé a bré weHjo.We finally get to his dorainstorm 6to max out
his credit cards so that he can give you and the kids a thirty -one
thousand dollar @ift.6Th e r e 6 s imiograleout thé attorneyso
blah, blah, blahd then listen to this mind -bendings t at e rikeent :
money is pursuant to my long -standing desire to help [Maryann] ,
that | expressed when we were together, let alone ever since, but
that became drowned out by the confusion, the hurt and
disappointment, the lawyer intervention and lawyer threats on
her behalf, and the unexpected need to spend so much money (still)
defending myself and trying to salvage my reputation and dignity



and to keep my practice and source of any income at all together,

while everyone and everything have been working to keep us
apart 0 plus, the claim her lawyer so wrongly made that | am
unethical because | allegedly had tried to buy [Maryann] off, of all
things, to save my hide for some reason, seemed to make the whole
situation impossible. @ Afatpboh nt I had to Icom
think some of my br ai hcompihedds j ust di

Maryannd6s si |l ence should have tip
w a s iguitd right, but I was on a roll.

A Wh at ellisihe sagingin that sentence?0 wbndered out
loud. L&t 6 s s e dong-starding desire &o help you, it would
seem, but that desire is being dr owned out by vyc
ontervention and threats ,6not to mention his own struggle to stay
afloat, avhile everyone and everything have been working to keep
us apart@® can you believe heactually said that? d&veryone and
everything . B it possible that Bob seeshimself as6 ever yone
everything ?®

| whistled.

fAnd that little digression about your lawyers accusing him
of trying to buy you offdl wonder wh a8 @ftalhtlangsd, sO6 a
h e s tgave myhide for some reason. 6 0

| suddenly had the urge to laugh, so | did. d&dr some
reasoné @Il repeated between chuckles  fin &le cracks me udo

But the high point of the letter 6 the words that would
become more and more ironic with every day that passed were
when he wrote: Thig pain is magnified tenfold, because [Maryann]
was the victim of the only lie | ever made in my lifetime, and will
ever make.o

This time | threw my head back and laughed right out loud .
|t wasnot j ust Bobbds <claim that
| i feti med was | eaving Mar ytleesheert o
dramatics of it all. He was acting as if he and Maryann were a
modern day Romeo and Juliet that the entire world was conspiring
to keep apart. | |l i ke to think I know my



remember Romeo leavinga goodbye lette r on Jul i et 0s
you?

How stupid did he think Maryann was?
That 6 sl netibed mer silence.

I | ooked up from Bobds efinvdhialt Gas
thematter? 0 | asked.

ANot hing, 0 sh e g tak dne awmysd woh d o n
want to know .0

My eyes grew wide with dawning. i O'h My! God!o I
expostulated. | knew | sounded really judgmental, but it just kind of
came out, like three long burps.

Of all the rules | had made for myself as adest friend, 6at the
very top of the list was that | would accept my6 b e sassheevds | 6 d
had enough of judgmental people, what with the whole JW thing.
The last thing | wanted to do was to impose my values onto others.
This went double for their romantic interests . Who can sit in
judgment of the heart? Anyway, it 6 s not i ke |1 d
weirdos in my closet (who I o | | deny knowing if
me on the street). So who am | to talk?

This no-judgment policy hasactually been pretty easy for me
to follow d even with my own children. | genuinely d o hwant the
responsibility of telling people how to live their lives. | 6 m n o1
exaggerating when | saythat a friend of mine could be dating d'he
Boston Stranglerband Il woul dnét waste my brea
out of it.

AHere, 0 | would say, handi ng h

But poor Maryann! All she got from B o b &msil was that he
still wanted to be with her. Left with the impression that things
were not as they seemedshe automatically assumed that shemust
be the one who got it wrong. Bob was still dhe judge6in her mind .
Here he had been planning to come back to her the whole time, and
she had ruined everything!

Quite simply, she still had feelings for him. His invitation to
contact him was irresistible. And frankly, I think everything that



contacting him represented was even more irresistible. Not only

had Maryann been pining over Bob during the two yearst hey 6 d
been apart, but as wel | , Sshedd Hherdfain tNewn ni
England.

SoMaryann called Bob. She told me later that the instant she
heard his voice she was a goner. It was like the two years that
passedhad never happened. They were tripping over themselves to
gettheir feelings out.

Al | ove yowu Bmb nemaer.l e d

It was the day after he sent that second email to me. As
usual, it was happening much too fast.
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There She Goes Again
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Al f you would still want me as a di
then |I still want you. 0

T BoB NADEAU, June 20, 2005

We stayed uplate when Maryann flew into town , talking and
laughing into the wee hours of the night. The common thread
between us has always been our ability to laugh, even during the
worst moments of our lives (and we 6 Wa some pretty bad
moments). For me, it sdba copingmechanism that | have embraced
since childhood.

For Maryann and BobOothey bad ghosérnrae u n
guaint little restaurant in my neck of the woods called d’he Black
Cow.6Maryann insisted that | tag along. | felt like a very clunky
third wheel, but at least | was finally going to meetthed j u.d g e

Il 6dm not sur e w tbat tmy disapponpnert t e d

co u | d n 6 beenhaayweeater if his eyeshad been crossedand he
walked with a hunchback.1 n f act , t hat mitghkt 6v
every ounce of willpowert o o6wi pe that ,8apmk o0
mother wo u | dértairdy instructed me to do if s h eb&eah there.
She often requested this when | was a kidd which always left me in
a quandary over what 6 | o to keplace it with. On this particular
occasion, | tried to appear as if | was concentrating on something
far off in the distanced which seemedto appeasemy mother back in
the day.

What was wrong with Bob, you ask? It would be easier for
me to tell you what was right. I n fact, if that were the case 16 e
finished.



It iIs@ mughtthat Bob is an unattractive man, asthat he
possesses nothing with whichto attract. Do you know what | mean?

| 6m aeventsur e that what Il 6m atte

something that is tangible to the human eye. Physically, Bob has
always beena nonentity to med that is to say, | ¢ a nséean to get
past thoseinitial character flaws that fo rmed my first impression of
him (which have been confirmed time and again with prolonged
association). Putting that aside, there is very little left to work with .
Bob has a bland, almost sluggish-looking face that responds more
like a mask than real flesh and blood. Even the occasional smile
could pass for a grimace. After looking at him for any length of
time, | am left with the impression that there is something terrible
lurking just beneath the surface

To make matters worse, he was wearing a fire engine red,
button down shirt with an enormous green and blue parrot printed
on the front of it . There are men out there who could make that
shirt work but, unfortunately, Bobis n 6 t o n elt midght seeme m
catty of metoevencr i t i ci ze tclothingpbutohonesgyy y 0 <
the shirt seemeda little like putting an exclamation point on a
death sentence. | mean, the shirt wa s nj@st a bad fashion
statement, it was a poor decision. It was too bright, too fun, too
whimsical for the occasion. It was disturbing in light of recent
events.

And | wasnot the on Mgryamnrsgotted h o
him long before | did (shewoul d6ve had to have b
him), and the sight of him stopped her in her tracks. She actually
spun around sothat she was facingthe opposite direction.

Al candd shioneunded. s
By this time Bob had spotted us.

iCanodt ®Pd askéddtas i f | dMedmvidile, k n
Maryann just stood there, staring at me with her back to Bob. Talk
about awkward!

| glanced around her at the guy in the bright red parrot shirt
and grimaced. What the hell had possessed hinf? | waved and tried
to smile.



Alcandt «lesddagais., 0
AOk ay , dagrdeably.a i AidL ettdd s6 Tgho® Gr o g

Taking a deep breath, Maryann turned back toward Bob. But
at the sight of him she faltered again, grabbing hold of my arm and
digging her fingernails in to my flesh. | tried to keep my expression
serene, but I, too, had the urge to run (screaming) from the scene.

We made it to within inches of Bob when Maryann spun
around and did the whole thing all over again.

Al c a n 0 to Stk owhispdned st this time (as if Bob
co u | dhead her from a fewinches away).

What could | do? | laughed. It was an apologetic laugh like
mot hers do when t hdffcdltrchiddeal i ng w

fWould you mind getting us all a table?0| asked Bob. | put
out my hand. Adlway .Nancy, by the

His hand was clammy and limp. figured. 0

| fought the urge to wipe my hand on my pants (Mom would
be proud). Meanwhile, Bob just stood there. il recommend the
steak tips, oendouraged and hereluctantly left there.

Meanwhile, Maryann was lighting a cigarette with trembling
fingers. What arey o u doing@? &he demanded.

| shrugged. Ok ay, so | dondot particu
tipshere, 6 | Wbhaeds Hhe gemea do? S

Al 0 bming serious! shesaid, although she was laughing. She
took a long, thoughtful drag from her cigarette. fiHow could | love a
man who would wear a shirt like that? o

Al think th at shirt is the least of your worries,0 shid.
fBesides,it 6 s allnhattunusual for the male speciesto dress up in
bright colors to impress the females.o

fiDo | look impressed to you?0she asked blowing a cloud of
cigarette smoke in my face.

| responded by bumming a cigarette. Back then, | was what
youc al | a O6soci al smoker, 6 ehwash n



having a good time. On this particular occasion, smoking was
probably a tad optimistic of me .

Maryann lit the cigarette for me (for some reason she always
lit them for me). | tried to think of something neutral to say as |
took adrag.

At must b e overwhelmingto seeh i m a d said,fegeling a
little dizzy from the cigarette.

Ailtds over wheéehmt n gheiegidds 6 e

fWellé we 6 r e noWw,elreasoned. iWe might as well make
the best of it.o

We talked for a little longer. Or maybe it was a lot longer.
Bob wasjust finishing up his steak tips when we finally went inside .

The weird thing is; neither of us can remember anything else
about that ni ght. Il tdés | i kel Ba@lb (
just a bright red blur.

| think what probably happened was that Maryann
completely ignored Bob while making snippy remarks on the side to
me. That was something shewould do whenshewa s ndt ¢ o mf c
confronting a person directly (especially a man). Though it
appeared to relieve the discomfort she was feeling it made it a
hundred times worse for the rest of us. Hating awkward situations
the way I do,I 6 m sspentdhe éntire night trying to compensate
for her behavior, and probably made a fool out of myself in the
process

Whatever happened, we were both too traumatized to
remember it. All 1 was left with wasthe impression that Bob was as
il-fi tted for casual cl ot heQ@fcoarse, he
Maryann demanded to know my opinion, but how could | tell her
that the only way | could ever become entangled with such a man
would be in a mass grave?

In the end, | just said that, if it were me, | would proceed
with caution . | knew that she had her heart set on getting back
together with Bob, so anyt hing more woul dov
awkward between us



A Wh at s h o udhaelasked withos@ob regularity that it
almost seemed like a greeting. But Maryann wa s n 0 t |l ook
suggestions. She was looking for reassurances.

A Wh at dfeel lyiokue doi n greply, playingvihheu | d
neutral therapist, but feeling like an idiot .

So Maryann went back to Bob. 16 m n o twhat was going
on i n Bo bub kthink eMargann was looking for something
t hat w a s n lagtead toh feausng on her feelings of the
moment, she was consumed with recapturing her feelings from the
past. She wantedto bring back all those fantastic sensations that
she had experiencedin those first few months with Bob.

And she got them. Or a carbon copy of them.

A H etbesman | fell in love with again!d0  stdldeme a week
later.

A Wh at happhegugdt t ohe bar hearir
help wondering.

AThat wasnoét rsada ThatyBobhwasrfightingte h e
save hiscar eer . 0

AANnd t he gueletterloroyodreofi mt ¢ h? 0

Maryanns mi | ed. Al know 1 6m taking
she said. AButcanbrregl bytthhekbétst
know how t o expl aanonly bethis true seff wherl i k
heds with me. o

While | had no problem believing that Bob was equipped

with a multitude of personalities , I wasnotaccemthag u i
0| owagthe solution.lcoul dndt hel p theealBobr i n
was. One minute he was willing to publicly humiliate Maryann in

order to &Gave his careerpand the next hed i d evéntcare abouthis
career as long as he could be with Maryann. She said that he
actually joked about what he would do if he got disbarred at the
upcoming hearing.

A 611 wash di s h, eossupeosedytold kes. fiCa u r a
dig ditches. dondét care wHatm Iwbdichoas | o

')



Of course, the fly in the ointment was going back to
Pennsylvania to tell her family what she was doing In fact, | was
the only person wh o di d nMatyanm @vér ¢he coals for her
decision. Was | wrong not to do that?

Meanwhile, just about everyone elsein Ma r y a lifentbrew
up their hands in disgust. People told her she was crazy so often
that she was actually starting to believe it. But mostly, people just
stopped speaking to her. Nobody wanted to hear about Bob. But
that only made Maryann more determined to prove them wrong.

Bob waived away any doubts Maryann mi g h thédwwih
more promises. On June 20, Bob emailed Maryann in
Pennsyl vanliwsited my faka hast night and had a long
talk with them. They are, like your mom, very apprehensive &
mostly because the bar stuff is still pending. They wanted to be
sure that you realize dymareéei ti fmdy
be quite difficult on us financially. 0

While Maryann chewedover this little bit of information that
Bobos pnanteel her ® know, Bob offered to buy her and her
kids plane tickets back to Maine, and even offered Maryann his car
to drive once theygot there.

B o b dhange of heartso soon after the adversebar decision
was suspicious, but when combined with his remarks about how
odi fficultdé thing&f iwoaunlcdi ab dissdeo ri f
wasnot r abosgowitly bigl offers of financial assistance, it
became disturbing.lcoul dndt hel p awoalodkirgatian g
very cruel form of witness tampering.

AYou just donét knsistedMaryarnm | i ke

That was true. | would never meet the @harmingdéBob who
wooed Maryann back into his life, but | was pretty well acquainted
with the Bob that took over once shegot comfortably settled in.

The first order of business, i n case you whsave
for Maryann to write a letter to the Bar, retracting the statements
she had made in her complaint. According to Maryann, the letter
was written for her; either by Bob or his attorney (she w a s suiet
which). | always believed it was Bob, becausethe letter had that



angry, accusatory tone that he always gets wheeverh e 6 s cal | ¢
on the carpet. It pretty much accused the Bar of intentionally
misinterpreting and manipulating Maryann to satisfy their personal
agendas. | knew this wasn 6tiow Maryann felt at all. She had
expressed a great deal ofyuilt over retracting her statement after all

the work the Bar had done on her behalf. In any event, what would
Maryann know about the gersonal agendas6of the lawyers working

at the Bar?

Al real ly dondtsighyourmdme to that, & hlo
said.

A 6 m doi nngyself as mtich as for Boh 0 said.e il
d o nwamt him to lose his license to practice law any more than he
does. 0

fBut you can retract your statement without this personal
attack on arghee. THairs, 0i sl yet another
burning! 0

But the only O0bri dge atmbdireemtwasn n
the one that led to all that she and Bob might have together if she
could just make it work. She signed the retraction letter and sent it
to the Bar.

Without a thought for what it would do to Maryann, Bob
immediately contacted the newspapers. And as Maryann sat by his
side in the subsequent interview (thoroughly humiliated and
muttering canned phrases that had beencoached by Boh), he threw
her under the bus yet again!

Al v&@ never been happier in all my life, dob told the
r e p o r tasd hase, been since that phone call from [Maryann] . 0

The enormous sacrifice Maryann had made for the sake of
their relationship (however ill-advised)  wa s n 0 t Bolehadta g h .
slipin one more little lie. By convincing everyone that Maryann was
the one who initiated contact 8 with that phone call that made him
Ohappierdé than he 6a8Bolewas reinfdirang Imis i n
earlier claims that she was the one who pursued him. It proved,
once and for all, that Maryann was responsible for their affair .



But B o b ldtle lie covered up more than his seduction of a
client. He knew that his email to me (requesting that | relay

information to Maryann) qualifiedas 6 di r e ct adtigamtt a c

who is represented by counsel He also knew that lawyers are
forbidden from having direct contact with a litigant who is

represented by counsel.ln fact, the statute forbidding this s hou |l d 6

been really fresh in B o b isd, becausethe Bar had just publicly
reprimanded him for doing the exact same thing to his former
partners, who were also represented by counsel!

And it gets worse. Mar y ann wagaslitigant who wast
represented by counsel She was also a witness reporting
misconduct. Bob was about to be disciplined for that misconduct.
So what does he doWith the subt lety of a sledge hammer,he offers
this witness, through her best friend, a @iftéof $31,000.00, after
disparaging her attorneys and even blaming them for &eeping us
apart. 6 He discourages Maryann from discussing his illegal
communication with her attorneys by insistingthathe d o e s n 6t
them to @et one dimed tbe money his offering. This is a very
serious f o r m witmdéss tédmpering, 6 a nsdomeithihgbysu or |
would go to jail for .

Il n 1 ight o fs staténient tohhie press aBautohow
dhappy 6he was to getdhat phone call from Maryann &borders on
the diabolical .

But the twisting of the phone call would be pushed asideand
suppressed, along with the retraction letter and all the other lies
that were too painful for Maryann to think about . She buried them
all in a place where it was too dark to ga And there they would
remain, as silent and sedentary as nails in a coffin, unless some
attempt is madeto pry open the lid.

W



Havenot Got Ti me fiom r t he P a

Maryann was happy. You might sayshe was too happy. Or
maybe she was the wrong kind of happy. | d o n 6 tdrugd, dut |
imagine her happinesswas a little like that. | thinkt hed h i shdfeit
coming back to Maine wasreally just the thrill of getting areprieve
from the pain s h e lieenh experiencing in Pennsylvania. She had
been going through her days in a kind of dreary fog, unwilling to
accept what had happened to her. It had been a painful two years
but now, suddenly, all th e pain had magically gone away.

It di dnot dviargann tratcsbewias hanaling all of
her power over to Bob on a silver platter. From that day forward, he
would be her 6 deal er , 6 abl e hethighscaodnidws.o |
People always wonder why women stay inabusive relationships.
Believe it or not, | think they do it to avoid pain. Every possibility
comes with a price, and change, in and of itself, can be extremely
painful. Like the old saying goes,we pick our poison. | 6 eertainly
not excusing Bob, but | do think it takes two for an abusive
relationship to exist.

fWhy would he go through all this againi f h e lodei dn
me?0Maryann insisted. H @sGisking everything to be with me ! 0

But | di dnot S e e reuniting twhhaMaryam@, 8ab By
was relieving some very significant 6 pai n & o fn pafticukar, o wn
Ma r y a retraétisn letter to the Bar was a dniracle cureofor what
ailed him. The thing is, t he Bar di dMarty aemwne
statement to move forward with their chargesd which centered on
Bobo6s ownydobwishinkt,ooamc cusatory tone



letter pissed the Bar off. In the end, the misconduct that had
merited O6suspension or disbar ment

In addition, Bob could ki ss the pain of f
unappreciatedold ma n 6 g onow thag hee had a young, insecure
single mother waiting for him at home.

The pain had subsided for both of them . Maryann, for her
part, was content to forgive and forget.

But | didndot | i klenbthewasf ar out
Why dong@getajopdoas | S u fitg ewsot uel dd n ot
put a little money awayéjust in c

But Maryann wa s n 0t a Ojustgrli nSteaseid
look at life that way @ which was actually another thing that | liked
about her. She hadthe most charming belief that things would work
out, even aftereverything s h ebéedh through. And she still believed
in love. Her capacity to keep believing has astonished me over the
years. For me, love i s nsdmething you delievedin. It 6 s | u
something you feel. | mean, when it comes right down to it, can we
even believein what w e 0feeding for ourselves? How many times
have we thought we were in love, only to have those feelings
change? If it has happened even once how can we trust it ?

But Maryann did trust it, and it was as refreshing asit was
terrifying to watch. And yet there were moments when | thought it
might work out for them.

Maryann was much q uieankheusebthiso f
time around, and then, all of a sudden, her days were filled with
painting, unpacking and making their house a home She kept
comparing her life to a fairy tale.

But even the most enchanting fairy tales are riddled with
difficulties . There are malevolent forces lurking in every dark
corner.| sabmostto be expected,a k i mitk ofgdssagedto get to
the Ohappil gndyget, waall enbw teratdé t hey 61 |
there intheend ( spoi |l er al ert: d o faify ttale b e
doesndt thasestandargs).t o



Of course, nofairy tale is complete without a few dragons for
the princetoslay Bob6s dragons c atmeresidual t h
consequencesof his actions that t h e p rd retracion defier
c oul dn odimingte.i Theetwo partners who had left Bobd Bw
firm were still battling him in court, his wife was suing for divorce
and, it being an election year, new judicial candidates were popping
up all over the place.

Howdid 6 Pr i nce @dnfrontrhis dragdns?

| wish | could tell you that Bob behaved in a way befitting a
prince. It would even be nice to be able to report that he behaved in
a way befitting a frog. But the sad truth is that the only behaviorl 6 v e
ever seen Bobembrace is that of the villain.

But | think those people whose job it is to separate the
heroes from the villains are much better suited to describpe Bo b 6 s
behavior than 1.

As for the various lawsuits and countersuits between Bob
and his former partners, the court observedthat [ORDER1]; d'here
i's a significant basis for concel
defendants has become a vendettab They found dNadeau 6
testimony not to be credible,6 and ¢ o n ctheunitisgiah artdh a t
continuation of this case constitutes an abuse of the litigation
process 6

In fact, Bob 6 s behavi or was so bad
litigation that the Board of Overseers issued a second public
reprimand [BARZ2], sayAmnmigor niey Nadeauds
discourteous and degrading.0 Th ey Alldfdteese;violdiions
of the Maine Bar Rules are serious. Attorney Nadeau is O RDERED
to conduct himself in the future so as to avoid further occas ions of
professional misconduct. 0

Overwhelmed by how all the bad publicity was affecting the
election, Bob decided to fight fire with fire. Only Bob threw a little
extra gas on his fire. They actually had to call in the judicial
committee for this one. They determined that [JUDICIAL1]; Qudge
Nadeau knowingly misrepresented the contents of a videotape in a
political advertisement intended to reach and influence the voters


http://www.nmadore.com/images/RobertNadeau/Order-Robert-Nadeau-2006Hunt.pdf
http://www.nmadore.com/images/RobertNadeau/Bar-Robert-Nadeau-2006Mar2.pdf
http://www.nmadore.com/images/RobertNadeau/Judicial-Robert-Nadeau-2007Mar1.pdf

of York County and, in so doing, seriously misrepresented the
professional conduct of one of his primary opponents for the office
of judge of probate. This knowing falsehood to the public by a
judge cannot be tolerated. 6

They added; fHis refusal to acknowledge that he acted
wrongfully and violated the code adds to the seriousness of the
transgression .0

| know this sounds serious, buty ou s houl dnot
much about our prince, becausebehavior that @annotbet ol er at
from a judge i s madite the same asbehavior that i s riofetated
from you or me. The penalties make up the primary difference . For
this O0Oserious fudggBab@eé ssieadndot aak
the Maine Judicial Committee ruled that ; A suspension from the
office of judge of probate for a period of thirty calendar days is
called for, but we will suspend all but seven days of that t hirty -day
period of suspension. 0

He r e 6 sBobhdesaribed that seven day suspension a few
years later. Sefveral opposing candidates filed a collective judicial
conduct complaint against me resulting in what amounted to a
one day suspension from the bencho

B o bfina dragon, his divorce, would rage on for three long
years, but when it (an d B subgfeguentappeal), was finally over
in 2007, both courts agreed that Bob; & has a self-centered and
insensitive world outlook and ha s engaged in self-destructive
behavior that caused the break -up of his marriage, the break -up of
his law firm, and a significant amount of litigation . ®hey also
remarked on t h deepdsense of betrayabB o b éhikdren felt, not
j ust b e ¢ a u sseddep, funaraubcédsdepartured i n 20
a f t ppomisiryg that he woul d not leave them again,6 lalscotfor
daking money that he had purposely and publicly set aside for his
children and converting it to his own use. 6The courts felt that dis
conduct throughout this divorce [was] one of economic warfare .6

Oof cour s e, Bob thesaihddtménts omr hesc e i
characters until later so, as f ar as this bsllok i
in what | like to refertoas6t he f airy tale phase



One of the reasons that fairy tales fall short of reality is that,
in real life, everything we do createsa cause andeffect. Our actions
might make an enormous splash or a little ripple. But even the
tiniest ripple can react with other ripples. One thing leads to
another, more ripples get involved, and pretty soon you have
yourself a tsunami.

Unfortunately , the older of my two brothers got mixed up in

Maryannos ripple

Everyone callshim 6 D a ¢bevgn though h e the only one of
us w h o Beser had any children. He claims he never wanted any,
insisting that children are a form of parasite that sucks the life out
of its host. The funny thing about that is that Daddy6 s a | waay s
favorite with the kids. | n any c¢cr owd, h e dhey a l
gravitate toward. Ther eds somet hi ng dhemmin,t h
eventhoughtheyk now t h ey 0 idrcildsgdy.| tt edass ekd n d
that with everyone actually, no matter their age. My brother is the
only person | know who can make someonel a u g h whgivihge h
them a hard time. And | think the reason for that is becauseh e 6 s
goodd And vyes, I mean that i n.Ctatzyas 6 g
it sounds, @addyba 6égood guydéd and anhpnone
knows exactly what | mean.

The thing | like best abouthim is his sense of humor.I guess
you figured out by now that | have a weakness for people whomake
me laugh. My b r o tumerristhard to describe. | t  ijustnhé t
steady stream of jokesthat are constantly and effortlessly flowing
out of him, but his mannerisms as well. Sometimesall it takes to get
a laugh is a look from him, because he has one of those facethat
reveals exactly what you are thinking.

My brother is also an extremely talented carpenter. He 6 s
worked for some of the finest contractors in the area, and if you live
up hereinNewEngland, t hereds a good chance
at some point. He loves incorporating his own designs into what
heods bui | di mgnasteraat évengthsng sadial d circular
buildings, spiral staircases, you name it You can tell that he loves
whath e 6 sng.d o i



But Daddyods great estawordsméhnile h a
has a knack for putting just the right sounds together to create the
perfect word. Often, people canguesst h e wmeaning svithout
even hearing it in a sentenc@ he 6 s t h attit. Ompeood miy all-
time favorites isthe 6 f ugl ar , 6 wh laay,incodsidsrater i b .
person who leaves disaster in his or her wake. The duglaréhas
taken off to the point where | have actually heard it used in
conversation by peoplel 6 ve never oanmkin thebrglitor e
context too! Da d d yatss a poet, and his favorite outlet for
expressng this talent comes through song. One of my favorite
things intheworld ist o catch him in one of
talent comes outd often wh i | e h e 6 Workers, rcénirantgrs
and even homeowners have beerbeguiled by this rare talent which
can literally halt all activity on a job site because everyone istoo
immobilized by laughter to continue what they were doing.
Meanwhile, Daddy just keeps working and singing; seemingly
oblivious of the commotion h e 6 s ¢ a hisgramelly vaice belts
out a familiar tune with a n entirely new meaning all his own.

But like | said, beneath the hard work and the jokes, there is
an extremely kind soul that draws people tohim. Unfortunately, not
everyonerecognizing this kindness in others is kind themselves.

A contractor and his wife had befriended my brother a few
years beforethis and, in the course of that friendship, the three of
them decided to become partners in real estate. Daddy had sealed
the deal with a Ohands h aklwaysodid wh i
businessin those days. They purchasedthree run down properties
with the intention of renovating and selling them. Daddy has the
ability , and indeed, he has taken a hundred thousand dollar home
and turned it into a million dollar property. His work is that
outstanding.

He wrote checks for everything, keeping a perfect record of
mortgage payments and construction expenses while the wife
handled t h e 0.&l evasknever clear on what the husband did.
Mostly, | think , he provided material for Daddyd s j. ldekwasa
slothful, inept sort of fellow who was at his most productive when



he stayed out of the way. Thinking back on it now, it occurs to me
that he might havebeenDaddy 6s i nspiration fo

This was only a side venture for my brother, mind you. He
kept his construction business running smoothly throughout the
partnership . He worked around the clock for nearly two years, until
one of the properties was just about ready to go up for sale The
house had been purchased for under $200,00 0.00, but was now
being appraised for over $800,000. 00. It was beautiful.

By this time, my brother had invested over $120,000.00 for
mortgage payments and materials, and around $70,000.00 in
labor. | guess he wastoo busy working to noticet hat hi s,6 6 p
who r eal ldoanything aside from the bookkeeping, were
spending money like it was going out of style (they had three maids
at the time). And the moneyjustwa s n 6t addicongiructiopn. T
expenseswere coming in much higher than what Daddy knew them
to be. | was the first to suspect foul play, based onthe conversations
between my brother and his crew when they stopped by and
inevitably stayed for dinner . No co-dependent worth their salt could
sit through what | heard and keep
than most), b u t Daddy coul dnot bring hi
becoming more and more obvious. In fact, he continued to pay the
mortgages on all three properties for several months after he had
hard evidence that he was beingscammed.He justc oul dnét a
that his oO6friendsdéd wauld do somet

We were all devastated. The worst part was that these
horrible people had brought in other investors on the same
properties. The investors had no ideawho wascontributing to what.
The wife had collected duplicate mortgage and expense payments
from the various partners. And as if collecting double and triple on
the expenses was not ghey evgnh started 6 pdinjd et h
expenses making them evenhigher than what they were. It was no
wonder they had three maids!

Once Daddy finally accepted the truth about what was
happening, he hired an attorney in Newburyport . But two months



went by without any activity on the case. Maryann and | were
discussing it over drinks when she came up withthe idea.

i Wh at about Bob?o0

They say you should always go with your gut instinct. Mine
was to dismiss her idea with a joke about the movie, What About
Bob. | mean, the parallels were glaringly obvious, even back then.
But | resisted that instinct and considered her suggestion. I di d
have a very high of an opinion of Bob, but then again, it occurred to
me that some of his character flaws (especially his penchant for
fighting dirty) might actually come in handy in this situation . From
everything | had heard about the people my brother was going up
against, it was clear that they had no scruples. Why not fight fire
with fire ?

Al gitvoebdnot glear Botbd,sosadpi ni on

Maryann was thrilled to be able to help. fiBeing a judge, Bob
might know how to get criminal charges filed against them!o she
added. She knewthat | had been writing letters to every official in
the state of Massachusetts,outraged to hear that what happened to
my brother wasa O c i v i.lsillfind & hatd éor believet hat i t
okay to steal from people as long asyou do it through a dusiness,d6
but then again, it does explain a lot of what 6 s happeni
world today.

fiDo you think Bob would be interested in this case?0! asked.
Maryann smiled. fiLeave it to me

A Nol, tad her. il d oyowinvolved n & | | cont a
directly, s o h e likeohe Basto ke thé case 0

AAr e vy o sheasked.e ? 0
fivesol said.

When my brother came by for dinner that night | told him
about my conversation with Maryann . Seeingthe spark of hope in
his eyes,| did the only thing that made sense at the time. | latched
onto the closestremedy at hand for easing our pain.



Before | knew it, | was talking my brother into it. i Wh o
better than a judge to know how to deal with cr i mi nlal s
reasoned.

Looking back, | could almost laugh at our naivety. We
believed we had found the perfect solution because wewanted it to
be the perfect solution. Like Maryann, we wanted to postpone our
pain, or better yet, to hand it off to someone else. We wanted a
miracleor a fairy tale or whatever I
that easy to stop the bad guys.

We spent that evening sitting around my kitchen table,
fantasizing about all the justice we were about to experience My
brother and the other partners would get their money back and the
people who swindled them would go to jail. We embellished every
detail of their downfall, right down to the wife having to clean
houses to pay back the money. And we feltalmost as much
satisfaction as if it were really happening. | t 6 s a maevenrithg h o
shortest reprieve from hopelessness can bring about the most
incredible joy.

You know what comes to mind when | think about that night
now, Reader? You 61 | fdr aommg teasonh always think of

Walt Disneyd gendition of The Three Little Pigs, whent hey 6r
dancing around the kitchen floor, singing:

fiWh o 6 s a fthe big bdd wolf? 0

| t di dnot even occur to us tha
first real puff yet.

One of the reasons my brother had fallen prey to these
people in the first place is that he absolutely abhorred doing
paperwork. He could hardly be bothered to open his mail. He
carried around his hefty checkbookd the only record he would ever
keepd and dealt with each expense on the spot. Having partners
who were willing to do the bookkeeping for him proved too
tempting to resist.

| went through D a d d wustg checkbook and got a very
detailed account of his expenditures. Then | met with some of the
other gartners6and quickly identified the various ways in which the



money wasbeing embezzled T h a whEer the situation stood when
| contacted Bob.

Despite our temporary OhiDagddyo t I
was reluctant to hire a secondattorney. Having finally accepted his
situation , he was hesitant tokeep shelling out more money. He had
already given his first attorney, (weol |l cal l h |
$2,000.00, and when hes poke t o Shl otwowrosthss e ¢
later, she admitted that nothing had been doned but then turned
around and told him that they would need more money. Daddy felt
|l i ke he had posted a neon sign
Though he was generally a trusting soul (believing, as he did, that
he could bring out the best in people), he had an instinctive distrust
for lawyers. He had picked uponS h | o ritdeddésclaimers in their
very first meeting, and he was starting to feel like a bleeding
carcass helplesslywatchingt he v ul teowveehéas. ci r c |

flL e tjustssee whatBob has to say, bsuggested Al f not
else, maybeh e @iVelusan opinion on Shlomo. 0

twas Bo b®@ @ p i mfiSbloamd that actually sold Daddy on
him. In an email to me, Bob wrote;

Al reviewed the documents submitted to me by [ Sh | o mo ]
the quality of wd¢ Skl lodfbe® scgvieeeemearf r o |
justifies retention of [Da d d]y$&9D 0 0 r e[Daldyh may @ish
to pursue fee arbitration via the Mass Boa rd of Overseers of the
Bar and/or a bar complaint against them .0

Now here was someone who could say, in no uncertain
terms, that for this much money, this or that should have been
done. Daddy hired Bob on the spot and we all settled in for our
happy ending.

Meanwhile, Ma r y a ramrydtale seemed to be dissolving
right before her eyes. But there was no turning back. In dollowing
her heart,06she had, in a sense, thrown away the efforts of all the
people who had tried to help her. | d o n 0 tshe everi realky
considered what she was giving up until it was gone.

The worst thing about loss is that it& a vicious cycle. The
losses Maryann had suffered would open doors to even greater



losses. Gone were her marital assets, her family support, her
credibility and every bit of the independence she had worked so
hard to achieveinthoset wo y ear s s Reamsydvansap e nt

| 6ve often thouglreatest losstwaskea r y a
ability to trust her own judgment. By thistime,shec oul dnét t
shoes without second-guessing herself Having her every move
censured by ajudge had really done a number on her.

With so many losses, Maryann felt that Bob was all she had
left. Shehad to make their relationship work .

And | think she wanted to make it work, too. It almost
seemedas if nothing else mattered to her. There were long stretches
of time when she was so focused on her relationship with Bob thatl
wo u | demed hear from herd except when they had problems.
These appeared aslittle, doubt filled dribbles at first. 60 Wh at C
t his mean??&b s triedWhweotu | @m als k doi ng
eventually, even Maryann could seethat she was heading upstream
without a paddle. She fought it. Shereally did. | n f act , I 6
seenanyone fight so hard.

| once read that we are all insane to one degree or another.
The psychologist who wrote this theorized that a p e r sanitg 6 s
could actually be measured by their level of commitment to the
truth. Int h at p S y cdpinidnopgople whd strive after truth
are less crazy than those whoare perfectly content to base their
existenceon | i es. I donodt orkot.oTwth offen t h i
brings incredible pain and | 6 ve not ieucia chn htelagery d
comforting thing. But my experience , as a person whohas a deep
regard for the truth , is that once you get through that pain, a myriad
of new doors will open. And these doors can lead toreal joy for
those who dare to venture through them.

But evenl di dno't want t o | ovadgannedts t
situation. W hat possible doors would open to her now, even if she
had the courage to faceher reality?

And yet, the longer she kept clinging to the lies, the greater
her losses would become.



9

The Old Bait and Switch
N L,

e

fiConstantly choosing between the lesser of two evils is still
choosing evil. 0

d JERRY GARCIA

Another thing | liked about Maryann was that, no matter
how preoccupied she was with her own life, she still had the
capacity to empathize with others. This applied to the good as well
as the badd which is unusual. Too many peoplear en 6t fealb| e
joy for others when their own lives are falling apart. They either
resentyouf or your oOrgheyordnimize yolr problems as
0 n ot dcompared to what they are going through. Not so with
Maryann. She delighted in my joys and commiserated over my
sorrows. She loved to talk, but she could listen too. And she has
surprised me more than once by remembering some tiny detail |
mentioned in passing.

So it wasnot avlheh she moticed thatn wasu a |
acting strange one daywhen we were talking on the phone. Never
one to mince words ordinarily, | was stuttering like a murder
suspect without an alibi.

fiWh at 6 s ?whedemgnded.

| hesitated. i1 | donot knotwe lilf ylous Hidu s
said. Al meanéyoldonée¢ nowsnat tfan . poy

Her silence sounded a little like terror, and 1 felt a pang of
regret.



AOn t he ot hsuggestech n di ma@ay bl evanyto u 6
know.0 | know | would if it were me. But she and | were very
different when it came to stuff like that.

fTell me,0she said, but now | was having second thoughts.

Al toslwareed., ol t 6s preallybrpéno, it ¢
fWill you just tell me already!0she demanded.

I s i g hYodrin-ladw sent me an email. 0

A Wh l@gheexclaimed.| dondét know what st
but this definitely w a s ritdActually, 1 did know what she was
expectingd and this was it. WHIiy is she contacting you?0

fi was wondering the same thing, bsaid. Al 6 m suet e
how she got my email addressé although | suppose shec oul do v
gotten it from my author website. 0

AWel | 20 Marganmmpt édVh ashewahi? d

| took a deep breath. fiShe forwarded me some emails she
received® | hesitated before finishing 6 fi fom Bob.o

The silence that followed confirmed my initial impression
that shedi dn o6t wa mhis. Butdheré was mo turning back
now.

i Wh a ttheglsoa yshaaskedafter a moment.

| sighed again. Whatd i d théytsay?iWel | , t o Ibeg
dondt t hi she senthwerethiewmy ones. It looks like Bob
has been contacting them since a few weeksbefore that first bar
hearing. o

The line was silent.

ADo you want themttoo yfbaskeda r d

i Y e she said.

You have to love modern technologyd she had the emails
within seconds.

The first email was from Bob to Maryanné s -heskand
[EMAIL4 ]. His comments seened to indicate an ongoing question
and answer dialog between them.
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Bob had asked(among other things) ; iWhy was [Maryann |
wearing a birth control patch the evening of June 20 th, 2003, when
our affair began, inasmuch as she
with you for a year because she was allegedly so unhappy with
you?0

This question was particularly disturbing to me because it
indicated that Bob was sharing information that Maryann told him
while he was her attorney. His use of the word 6 al | eime d |
describing this confidential information & with the opposing party
inhi s c taseeohdll pespléd seemed staggeringly inappropriate
to me.

i Dr. Love] was ready to testify, but he was [unavailable ],0
continued Bob.

I had no idea what this statement meant.
AWhéoBr . Love?0 | asked.
AMy f or mer Maryamngrepbed jnda quiet voice. |

A

listened quietly as sheelaborated. Andt hat 6 s how | | e
the brief affair she had during her marriage .

Fearing that the affair might come up in her divorce,
Maryann made the fatal mistake of telling Bob about it almost
immediately after hiring him. Of course,the 6 n o flaav in Mairt
made it a moot point, butBob di dnot tell her
every detaild including the tape recordings her husband made of
her talking about the affair on the phone and the emails between
her and Dr. Love that he found on her computer.

In fact, Bob tried to have thosetapes and emails admitted as
evidence at his Bar hearing. The Bar flat out refused, and in fact,
Bobo6s atutseemptthitso i nf ormati on was
disciplinary action they were taking against him. Of course, Bob
convinced the Bar (under oath) that it was his attorney who had
communicated with Ma r y & nexliusband, not him. Nobody
dreamed that these prohibited communications were taking place
between Bob and the exhusband of his former client .



I n his email, Bob goes-hushandit o
f{Maryann] is nothing short of a completely dishonest lush, a
narcissistic slut, a gold digger looking for a sugar daddy, and an
extremely poor r ol e model for your chil d

Then Bob turned hi s attention t o Ma
Apparently, Gloria had written a letter to the Bar to express her
thoughts about what happened to her daughter. This is what Bob
had to say about that; A will soon be filing a lawsuit dn your
backya r @dainst both Maryann and her mother, [Gloria]. In the
lawsuit | will be detailing [ Mar y a sexualspast and how she
lied about and concealed it in my public hearing € As for [Gloria],
she wrote a letter to the board that was given weight by it during
my recent inquisition é | am assuming she owns a house titled in
her name that can be attachedd what do you think it is worth, and
is she employed as welld

Bob went on to say. iWhen | file that suit in [Pennsylvania],
you or someone you know may want to inform the local press that
a Maine judge is suing [Maryann] and her mother in federal court,
for their history of sexual deceit, deceit to a hearing panel, and
harm to a Maine judge and his family. o

Bob continued; fit would be of considerable helpé if you
would send me a detailed chronology of [Maryann 6 sséxual past,
so that my lawsuit can be as detailed and accurate as possible.0

Bob even dictated a letter for Maryann6 s -heslkand to send
the Bar on his behalf, to let them know, among other things, that;
d'hey have done a very grave injustice .0

Almost as an afterthought, Bob adds; i &ur kids are
definitely being harmed , emotionally and psychologically, with
every day that goes by while they remainin [ Mar y a oane@ 0]

He polished the whole thing off with this ; fiYou can count on
me to be your ally for [thech i | d rbenefd.so|

A canot b e-thusband evouldh yoe irerolved in
something like t h i ssid Maryann.



| found it interesting that she d i d find it surprising that
Bob would be dnvolved in something like this .6

fHe looks to me like a reluctant participant, 0 | coul dr
observing. il | m & gau Jlook at your ex-h u s b a espdnse to
this email,you canalreadys ee hi m backpedal ing.

MButhe doesndét even wanrnd salgeed ody

| shrugged. | filkke Bobémai |l s t o merHe
pushes his agenda onto everybody els®

Maryann was speechlessl think she found the possibility of
her ex-husband suing for custody alarmingd especially with a
gudgeobofferingt o be WBi s o6ally

Altds obvyouwesditdmatt thfowgh,dlgented
out. Otherwise, why would Bob have contacted me?0

Maryann seemed surprised by this statement. AiYou think
t hat 6 s t h gothadk with ma? dheasked.

| felt bad. But seriously, was it possible that she hadn 6t
already figured this out for herself?

When she spoke again Maryann sounded beaten.il s t h
nexte mai | as bad as this one?b90

A Act utleid ol nyekdisnd o f shidiBENVAYL6]0 |

fHi [Ex],6wrote Bob. Duiing the past week, something
completely unexpected and incredible has happened in my life.
[Maryann] and | have been in direct contact, we have gotten back
toget her , | 6V Mal ¢ § beerdhere farithfe past few
days,and we 6r e engaged. We twd nighkteato, u p
and sheds been wearing it ever si

I di dnot know how to tell y ou
sure that it comes as a complete surprise to you, just as it has to
[Maryann] and me for different reasons than yours. Frankly, I
have never stopped thinking about, loving and missing [Maryann]
during the past two years, which have been pure hell for both of
us, as she and | now realize. In a way, the communications among
you, [In-law] and me seem to have actually served as a catalyst to
the ability and desire of [Maryann] and me to reunite. My
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communications with persons such as [a guy Maryann dated in
college] have actually been very laudatory as to [Maryann] . She

and | are like t wo peas in a pod, and | frankly have struggled with

and discounted much of what has happened or been alleged about

her past. | just feel truly, that | know [Maryann] and the person
shereallyisds heds frankl g, my alter ego

Maryann never told me what happenedwhen she confronted
Bob with these emails. Given her dejected manner upon seeing
them,lwasndét al that shle awauld sonfrorg him. But she
did.

Seeing that the cat was out of the bag, Bob was quick to
contain it. With duplicity | woul dndt himwih (acke d i
then), he somehow managed to blame the entire communiqué on

Maryannd sx-husband andi n parti cul ar;l atwloe d
forwarded the emails to me.

Bob copied me onthis email [EMAIL 7], which he pretends is
written to protect me and Maryann d but we all knew who he was
really trying to protect. | 6 v e dhis eraéd id its entirety because
| ¢ atmbéar to cut a single word. Long-winded though itis,i tjdss
so classically Bob.

Al Ex]

[In-law] has been emailing [Maryann 6]sbest friend (and,
lately, my very good friend also), Nancy Madore, and doing
everything in her power to attempt to get [Maryann] and me via
sharing copies of emails between you, me and [In-law] that were
issued several weeks or more ago, before | ever had a clue that
[Maryann] and | would get back together. It is obvious that [In-
law] and you hate [Maryann] and will do everything you can to
harass and frustrate her efforts
for you.

If you or [In-law], or anyone apparently or actually acting
on your behalves, emails or in any other way communicates with
Nancy or [Maryann] one more time, for the purpose of sharing
any of our obsolete and badly misinformed (by you and [In-law])
communications and/or for the apparent purpose or negligent
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effect of invading our privacy, inflicting emotional distress,
defaming any one of us, or harassing us, you and [In-law] can be
assured that your ex-wife, to wit, my future wife, will own  [In-
| a W} bosne and will be happy to evict [In -law] from it. You should
also be advised that both of you are subject to the jurisdiction of
the courts of Massachusetts and Maine when you engage in your
unauthorized activities, that 1 am licensed, most proficient and
well respected in those courts, and that the judgments of those
courts are subsequently registrable, enforceable and lienable in
Pennsylvania. | am not kidding. | will be on you and [In-law] like
white on rice.

With all due respect, [In-law] has clearly shown herself to
be a malicious, spiteful person. It is clear that the apple did not fall
far from that very diseased tree. You and [In-law] will not destroy
what [Maryann] and | have found in each other, and you will do
no further harm to her and the kids. You will not succeed in any
effort to wrest t hose kids from her, either, for any number of
reasons that frankly completely disentitle you to even being
considered for primary residence or custody of those children o for
example, alcoholism, excessive smoking, refusal to obtain and hold
down a job consistent with your educational level , failure to honor
court orders regarding child and child support matters, inability
to promote and foster a positive
parent, inability or refusal to establish financial independence and
a consistent level of responsibility, and refusal to seek
guardianship of [In-law] and to have her committed.

[Maryann] is an absolutely beautiful woman, both inside
and outd not at all the woman you tried to paint her up to be in
your purportedly supportive emails to me that caused me to say
and do things | ceased doing one month ago after realizing that
much of what you said is simply borne of lifelong insecurity, an
inferiority compl ex, and hatred.
ever seen (and I 6ve seen |l ots of
from the bench in very heated, emotional child custody disputes
through the y ears).



It is extremely ironic that [In-law], who professes to be
religious, saying masses for people and holding candlelight vigils
(disguised as séances?, chooses to inject herself into something
that is absolutely none of her business. | am extremely surprised
that [Maryann] lasted in marriage with you for more than just a
few days. [Maryann] , through you, inherited the in -law from hell.

But now sheb6és history, and .she ne

Please also know that [In-law] has no rights concerning
[Children] . Only you and [Maryann] do. So, you would be very
wise to reign [In-law] in, so as to avoid further jeopardy to the
rights you still have. Those kids deserve much better from you.
They do love you, and they will never hear me disparage you or
[In-law]dt hat 6s a promi se. But you al
judge and jury will hear me disparage you and [In-law] most
effectively, if you or [In-law] cross the line just one more time.
[Maryann] has her own | ife now,[In-Evi]e ds
and you two had better just get used to it or it will only get much
worse for both of you. 0

It takes your br e aesk thamw angnth d o
beforehe was trying to c-busbandtocee foMa r
custody!

The first time | read it | was actually impressed. It was one of
the few emails from Bob that | would read all the way to the end.
fHe has hypocrisy down to an art form! @ exclaimed. A | can
believe he putthisi n  wr iYbuihaddoladmire his Chutzpah.

Maryann was too close to the situation to appreciate the
irony .
fiCould youé just in case, dshe stammered awkwardlyd An

case | turn up dead or something, would you mind keeping these
emails in a file somewhere?9

The smile disappeared from my face i S u r sajdpcreating
a new file right there on the spot and labeling it 6 ¢ r.@zoysands
of emails have ended up in that file, all of which | have to this day.

But thatwas nodt of ht.eWeeks ldter, while using the
computer she and Bob were sharing, Maryann stumbled upon



another person that Bob had contacted from her past [EMAIL 3].
This email was sent shortly before the infamous bar hearing that
went so badly for Bob, and it was addressed to Dr. Love.
Apparently, Bob had been working that angle too.

In his email to Dr. Love, Bobgetsr i ght t o lama
Maine attorney and a part -time, elected judge. Like you, |
(directly) and (indirectly) my wife, children, and many others
affected by my resultant ordeals, am also a victim of the sexual,
adulterous prowess and charms and subsequent bar complaint of
your former patient, [Maryann ]. Through extensive efforts | will
not address at this point, | have learned about the torrid,
adulterous sexual affair you had with  [Maryann] . And justin case
the scoundrel had any ideas about denying the affair, Bob follows
this up with a comprehensive list of the evidence he hasin his
possession, such asudio tapes, emails andDNA that was found on
asurprisingly unfashionable blue dress.

Okay, that last one belonged to Monika Lewinski, but Bob
d i d ne@d it anyway because the first two items will sufficiently
terrify 99.9% of the men out there.

Al do request, however, that you contact me by 5:00 pm
today to arrange a candid telephone conversation between us, 0
instructed Bob, fand that you provide me with a telephone
number, date and time when | may reach you within the next 48
hours to thoroughly discuss [Maryann] .0

lcoul dnét help wondering what
head when heread the next line; AYour attendance to testify fully
on May 20 at that hearing is essential. |, therefore, ask you to
mark that date on your calendar. | will provide you with the
address and directions. 0 And just in case the doctor he planned to
be busy that day (and who could blame him?) Bob added this not-
so-subtle warning; A would like to protect you from being
subpoenaed at your home or office to secure your attendance and
testimony at th at hearing, but | will need your cooperation if such
process may be avoided 0

Nobody can issue an ultimatum like Bob!

P C
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Having dispensed with the proper introductions, Bob finally
seemed able to relax. | imagine him pouring himself a cognac,
putting his feet up on his desk and lighting a cigar before
continuing ;

Al ended my professional relationship with [Maryann] by
verbal agreement with her on Friday afternoon, June 20,
2003é wi t hi n nshemadtteos ép, walked around my office
desk, leaned over as | sat, placed her hand on my cheek,
passionately kissed me, and all sexual hell broke looseo

Bob pauses here to explain how he later learned that
Maryann had planned the whole thing, virtually stalking him until
he had no choicebut to nail her, right there on his office floor . And
there were a lot of other things she made him do as well; iDuring
my relati onship with [Maryann] , she induced me to buy her a
di amond ring and to become O0engse
pleadings against my wife, and to largely ignore my law practice.
| can tell you so much more, but | will await our conversation. 0

Next comes the breakup. An any event, by the second week
of August, 2003, while continuing to live with [Maryann] , | came
to realize that things were not as rosy as they seemed and that
[Maryann] had been dishonest with me about many things she
had told me when | w as her attorney. 0 And then he gives Dr. Love
an example of one of the thingss he oO0had been di s
while he 6was her attorney. 6

No matter how many times | read this, it never fails to shock
me. Bob is playing the victim while violating Ma r y a attordey -
client privilege !

And speaking of Maryann, Bob assures Dr. Love;

fMeanwhile , [Maryann 6 dVipine divorce was granted and she was
essentially awarded everything. 0

|l 6ve al waywhaonwasedoing on in
as he read this email. His brief affair with Maryann had been over
for five years. Even | was shocked by Bob6é s  h-laadedymanner,
although I had long since figured out that subtlety w a s hi$ dtrong
suit. But why put this in writing? Why not wait for their phone



conversation? And when | thought about it like that, it occurred to
me that Bob was saving the worst for their phone conversation,
which left Dr. Love leadingandi n t @aarding to Bob).

B o b fespectiveiswhat 6 s most striking
From the moment when Maryann begins stalking him in his office
to the divorce settlement awarding h e r 6 e v,éB oybtsids ofi g
the story is so lacking in authenticity that it almost comes off as
satire.

Of course, B o b @mail to Dr. Love wasn ohis first version of
their affair , nor would it be his last. He has continued to write about
it to this day (he might even be writing about it now) . He has
adjusted, revised and tweaked until even he ¢ a nkéep up with the
details anymore. Each ti me | 6m @mew ediiont le d
grow more convinced that Bob missed his calling by becoming a
lawyer. Just look how miserable he is! Constantly being impeded by
0f gbctdsay i n ,é&smudte abdoyslydillirtg him .

He should bewriting fiction !

As | was sitting in court one day, contemplating this, |

coul dnét hehopwBowbndedi Mgmapawaodbdodv
fared in the hands of Bob the @uthoré 6

(The blurriness will recede in a few second9



INTERMISSION

Ode to Bob
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She strolled into my office like a kid walking into candy
store, looking for a lollipop . | shut the drawer where | kept the
lollipops. | 6d seen her kind before.

But she was a looker, with eyes so penetrating theyd i d n 6t

just seeinto your soul; they saw into the soul of your mother and
your fatherd and the half-brotheri n Bangk ok t heeen

know you had . She hadlegs so long you could climb all night and
still never reach the top.

| could seethat she was distressed, like a bargain basement
sweater t h at 6 smarked dawn one too many times. And yet
there was an innocence about her that made her seem

almosté innocent. Oh, but she was as guilty as that cop who
framed OJ.

She was yapping about something d and nothing . Like most
of the dames who camethrough my office, she was mostly talking
just to hear herself talk. But I liked the sound of her voice; it was
soothing and suggestive, like a three-for-one special. When she
bent over my desk to show me a picture in a girly magazine | knew
my instincts were right . This broad was going to be trouble.

But what was she after? What did she want from me?

ALook, baby,Io6vlie toonlldy hgeort. sfio
you better start talking. o

~

il want a di vtooubteelk®d. s he said

| pretended not to hear her. If she wanted to play games |

could play too. | figured we could start with tic -tac-toe and work
our way up to twister.

Yy C



But she was craftier than | anticipated and, before | knew
it, she had sunkmy battleship.

| fell for her enticements like a spider falls for a fly 8 a
curvy, blond fly with eyesso big and beautiful you could drown in
them. It was a good three minutes before | came up for air.

| poured myself a whiskey while she scrambled to put
herself back together. | was waiting for her next move. She had
that vulnerable look cats get when you pour hot wax on them. It
was a look | knew well. But something told me that t his was one
catthatwasndét going to end up buried

The next few months went by in a fog. | was trapped in her
web and therewa s n 6 t alrould doibut gde it out.

It was a nice diversion, but it had to end. A s pi der 6 ¢
meanttolivei n a web. H dunter, aawanderer. ¢le has a
to follow his instincts to find more flies.

A Se edolfaxe, 0 | sai d, Heethave ané@then d |
| ol l i pop.0 She did | ove those | ol

| thought that was the end of it, but that just goes to show
how napve | was. You dono6t wal k &
crawl away, dragging your guts on the floor behind you.

Next thingl knew | 6 d flamexn

Desperate, | racked my brains to try and remember
somethingd anything 6 about her visitsto my o f f idccheen Sh
intent on destroying me d that much | knew d but what had
brought her there? | recalled some mention of a divorce. Assuming
she got herself hitched before the days of samesex marriage, |
figured | was looking for a man. If | could find that man , maybe |
could solve the mystery of why all this was happening to me.

As it turned out, hewa s rad tl that hard to -
clever but not nearly clever enough. Shehad left behind all kinds of
little clues and, before long; | was on her trail like white on rice. |
found the two jamokes who supplied her with lollipop s before me,
and | was even able to discover a few of their secrets. With a little



finesseand a lot of muscle | &bd able to get those chumps singing
like circus canaries.

Oh, but this floozy was ndét arg/dimeli dlge dd al r
found her next sourceof | ol | i pops. She had 0c¢€
right (the source, not the lollipops). Now they were all working
together to frame me!

| had to move fast. But which of the bread crumbs she
dropped had I missed?

| was running out of time . And then, suddenly, |
remembered something. There was another damed a friend. |
realizedthent h a tbedn badking up the wrong the tree.

From my very first thought of her , | knew this 6 f r iwvasn d 6
going to be even worse than the first . As usual, my instincts were
right. The friend was behind it all 8 the seduction, the betrayal, the
framingdand | knew she woul dnot sto
destroyed. Butthi s dame wasnoét galackgstieo b
canaries. | ddhave to drop the Bogey impression and try my hand
atsomet hing a | itt | entiemgrifécosld detheréoé a n
play Jerry Lewis to my Dean Martin | 6 d b efreehNolnody said
it was going to be easy, but | poured myself a gin martini and
went for it .

0 Music Plays:

fWhen the moon hits your eye like a big pizza pie,t hat 0 s
amore!

When the worl d seems to shine
wine,t hat 6 s! amor e

Bells will ring ; ting-a-ling-a-ling, ting-a-ling-a-ling, and
youol | si fwabella) a bel | a

Hearts will play ; tippi -tippi -tay, tippi -tippi -tay, like a gay
tarantella (lucky fella).o

The next thing | knew | woke up in a dark alley, wondering
where my socks were, and | realized that neither Martin nor
Bogart could save me now.



| was on my own. | had to fix this the only way | knew how.
| would have to find that crazy dame and crawl back into her
sticky web.

And | would have to get a lot more lollipops .



10

Trapped Like a Rat

e L
LI >

She had made her bed and she was determinedto lie in it.
Maryann tried ( yetagain) to forget the past and focus on thefuture,
but she was starting to feel like shewa s n 6t bavea anpgstta o
look back on until she wastoo old to remember it.

Things had definitely changed. Maryann still had feelings for
Bob, but they were complicated and strained now. She loved him
but she wasnot S u r etruss lhire. Sledelt Ithdt he was
committed to the relationship but she was afraid of what he was
capable of, should things not go his way. You might say that she
di dmuétthis gudgment.6

The problem was that Maryann felt trapped. Did she want to
be there? Who knows? It was hard to tell because suddenly, she
was painfully aware that shedi dn 6t h a v eneaa,shedid i c ¢
have a choicebut she di dndt s ee sonkethingAnd
itéds as good as not there.

Plus, s h e deéxactlydobk back on her days as a single
mother with fondness . And that was when she still had the support
of her family and friends . Now it would be evenharder.

Instead of coming up with possible solutions, she spent her
time bemoaning what was lost. Why had she been put in this
position to begin with ? Women got divorced every dayand went on
to live perfectly normal lives . Where had all her choices gone?

Over t he vy e athistoo many tmees th count. Ahd
my heart always went out to her. All she wanted was to be a
housewife and mother. If there was something she couldd veajoyed

A

asmuch,I donét t hfigurdd ot Whatitease r



[, on the other hand, had the opposite problem. | was born
with an interest in too many things for one person to pursue in one
lifetime . And | 0 teen lucky. I w a s aadier whew |l saidj|
never had a joamdl ydiudmwhtul ldinlbe be
differentjobs | 6 haéover the years.When | get bored | move ond
which i s ralvdys the smartest career move Bu t t Wwrere the
luck comes in. There (almost) always seems tobe a new door that
opens when an old one closes I say Oal mostod be
t h er e Initmtrcdse, you have to create a door. Or look harder.
And when even thatd o e s n 6 & whishoitr Jometimesd o e n 0 t
well;that 6 s why puballittle something aside, for those
@ry éperiods.

For me, it would be hell on earth to see noother option other
than to stay in a dead-end situation. Yetit happens to people all the
time.Qui te often, 1 tbés not their fau
way, | t 0 sxistencgttat! ol b avidsh on anyone.

I made the grand opening of my little shoe boutique , which |
called Port City Shoes. Just thinking about it makes me smile, even
though it swallowed up all the profits from my other endeavors and
never came close tobreaking even in the five years| kept it open.

But it was something | enjoyed immensely. | canot whegall
Ma y b es the saine reason peopleenjoy going to Vegas, even
though they knowt hey ér e going to | ose

| spent most of my time working back then. When | was in
the store, | was either writing, order ing shoes,chatting with visitors
or, once in a blue moon, selling shoesWhen | wasndt in
was on the road,selling shoes toother stores, which | liked equally
well.

Meanwhile, Maryann was doing her best to give her kids a
normal life. And she wasnoét c o mmmlhertbaiéf yhat wr o
staying with Bob was the best way to go about it

Even though | have alwaysenjoyedwo r ki ng, enjoy di i
being a 6working mother. 6 Back wl
have the earning capacity to support them with one job, so | had to
take a second joh and even, sometimes, a third. | hated not being



able to spend time with my kids. | remember those days as one big
guilt trip. Often, my kids would cry when they realized | was leaving
again for workd and my employers complained when | was leaving
to go home.In fact, | thinkt he employersmi g h t 6 vwersebtleae n
the kids. They even made me feelbad when my kids were sick, and
there were actually times when | felt compelled to leave a sick child
at home alone for a little while rather than to risk getting fired. |
remember once scolding my youngest son for getting the flu. Can
you imagine? Even the teachersgave me a hard timewhen | came
running in , late as usual,for some meeting or event.

A

Dondét get me being@amgther.llj ulsatv edd d n ¢
being a single mother. That one little word can suckall the joy out
ofit.If youdre goi mapgedhimrereby y e mps et b,

a certain amount of Anglgaffectsthe kids.at 0
Thest ati stics donot |1 e.

My experience represented the worst kind of nightmare
Maryann could imagine. And frankly, even | 6d r at her
squad than to do it again.

As far as jobs went,Mar yannodés best prospe
But even here, her opportunities were limited, it being Maine and
all. She did eventually get a job selling credit processing services to
the local businesses The money walbapeditwayld e at
help her get a little ahead

AWhy arendt anyaono n e g Yaskedgwhen she
complained that she was actually getting further behind.

iHow can | ?20 s IBdb payetheanmodgage but,
since his divorce is still ongoing, | have to pay everything else. By
the time 16m done with the food
clothes on the kidbdbs back. 0

fl thought you were finally getting child support ,0 said.

A am, but myearing a fowth éf tvhat he used t0.0
She silgthGd.mmdieh kess than |1 &dm use
dondt Kk meopedoiotw. O



~

A | i Babgelks thevmortgageon the housewhile you get
al | t he t hr owenmanged drylyl [THat, way he gets
something for his money whiley oubeé&t with nothin

Maryann di dndét d efiYaurkrtbw, lthe mmortgagei s n 6 t
that much more than thed what did you call themad throwaway
bill s?0o0

A Anldupposet he house is in his nam

AEven so, | ¢ gratéful, oh esliimigedf. & et | 6isn g
good home for my children. 0

AThat 6s true, 0o | agreed, al so
side.

fl justneedtogetused t o | i vi ngpidwstiullin. Bo
A On clearnto understand him, wed | | have tle perf

Or vy endap just as crazy as he is, | thought, but | said;
fMen a r e th& thard to understand. How does the saying go?If
you want to make a guy happy, all you have to do isfeed him, fuck

A

himandowhat 6s theothird thing?

Maryann laughed. Al t hi nk onbtah &tippidghuse
up.o

| laughed too, remembering. i Oh ¥ keaphour mouths
shut.0l shrugged. Luikily, | prefer my men miserable. 0

But Maryann had fallen in love with the guy we would later
dub 0 Ha pgndsheBvastdetermined to keep him that way. She
wa s nquite as enamored with 6 Sur pr i saithougho lhis 6
surprises could be quite wonderful sometimes. But ®isappointed
B o lwas to be avoided at all costs This was a guy whowas capable
of emailing hi s f o r meexk-husband and dnd@usraging him to
take her children away.

This range in behavior, from extravagant gifts to
extraordinary betrayals wasextremely frightening and confusing for
Maryann.l guess t hwdsoosstantlltyyingtd encourage
6 Ha p p yto @mdoaut and play.

Butwehadndot met syelTheretwere pleBty imore
tocomedt hough I d6m only going to tou



that for every Bob | introduce youto,t her e6s another

A

the shadows. In fact, | 6 | | meation tlyose Bobs that are revealed
in his written correspondenced that way we can keep a lid on
0 itigious Bob.6
The crazier things got, the harder Maryann tried to find

0 Ha p p y6BuB ibvias beginning to feel a little like finding Waldo
at Disneylandd there were justtoo many places for him to hide. She
did her bestto make Bob happy and, failing that, she did her bestto
cover upthe @razyband failing that, shetried to downplay the crazy

and finally she just went crazy. You might say the whole state of
Maine went a little crazy.

With so much crazy, it was probably foolish of us to expect a
happy ending.
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The Many Faces of Bob

- -

Bob had to attend a four day judicial conference in San
Francisco, so they decided to make it a romantic getaway.

Having never been to San Franciscg Maryann was delighted
by the prospect of riding a trolley up and down the steep, hilly
streets, and dining outside at the restaurants along the wharf. She
was even more delightedto be getting a reprieve from the blustery
winter of Maine.She was on c¢cloud nine whe
left for their trip .

But by the time they boarded the plane, a new Bob had
emerged

"Why do you always have to talk to everyone?" he snapped.

Maryann had no idea what he was talking about The only
conversation she could recall was with a flight attendant wh o had
complimented her on her dress.

Nowd to be faird Maryann did have a tendencyto talk to
everyone, but supposedlythat was one of the things Bob liked about
her.

However, this Bob dherfusedtospeak e
to her for the rest of the flight. Maryann spent the next six hours
wondering what had upset him so much. Was it that the flight
attendant noticed her and not him? He was certainly accustomedto
being the 6 i mp o romeavheh they were out together. Or could it
be that she had stopped paying attention to him while she was
talking to the flight attendant ?

By the time their plane touched down Ma r y a stonmach
was in knots.



But just like that, when they stepped outside the airport into
the warm San Francisan air, Happy Bob returned. Maryann said
that the rest of that dayd and the nextd were wonderful.

Back when she was packing for their trip, Maryann had
confided in me that Bobé sshifting moods 6reminded her of Sally
Fieldbébs char acSyl@lrFoithosée hef mgoue who
seen the movie it os about a withy multipley W
personalities who, when distressed, liked to scribble frantically with
a purple crayon while buzzing like a bee.

| t coul d shi¢ worse, o |
H o wagked Maryann.

AHe coul d r eanserial dilley, told bef. Sybild s
personalities are almost refreshing when you compare them to
those of David Berkowitz or Jeffrey Dahmer. 0

o 1 - 1]

fi | Patklsome purple crayonsinmycarryon, 0 s he sai

ButMar yann wo ul deedittle puptetcrayors Lnyl
their third night in San Francisco. T h at 0 s | gotlthe oall that
Bob left her stranded in a bar. There was a Id of noise in the
background, but | could tell that she was crying.

Al t hywapdhBobwer e having a BGawmnht a:

ASo di dyelledino the phene. | could alsotell that she
was drunk.

AWhat haplaskede d? 0

She laughed® or sobbeddit was hard to tel]l
the bathroom. 0

|l yawned. AAnd?0o0
fiThere was a ling sheexplained. A When | came
gone. o0

AiC o me opnotested.|
AiYeah, 0 s h and shg rstarted laughingd or crying.

A

Maybe it was both. A 6 m so sick of wabkhlei ng
complained resentfully.

fiWhat are you going to do?0 | e



Al i ng to have anot hethendhei nk
hung up. | stared at the phone. | could feel a storm brewing.

Il di dndét he aruntil arcundtem e b c &hg adxin
morning . They were still fighting , but at least she was alive and in
one piece.

AWhat the hel]l happened?06 | as

i Eerything was fine until we went to this little martini bar
afterdinner, 06 s he said

fAnd then? 0o

fHe claims | took too long in the bathroom. Like, what does
he think lwasdoingi n t her e?0

Now, having gone out with Maryann myself, | can attest to
the fact that she does take a really long time in the bathroomad
especially when #8Mbebbyaitds Bawvset t
haveincredibly long linesfort he | adyidd o om@dduyst hi
appreciate how slowly those lines move. It 6 s on | ywhieat u
webr e st an dto sirike up fla eonwersation with the person
next to usd | mean, what else is there to do? And with all the talking
t h agoidgon, itds i1 nevitabl e t hadomesom
intriguing little tidbit that merits more discussiond either because
we feel like we have to help the poor woman out or because its
comforting to hear that there 6 sSomeoneout there w h o évenworse
off than we are. Either way, it 6 s not at alfind un:
ourselves so absorbed in the conversation that we forget whywe 0 r e
there in the first place.

Once we actually make it into the stall, the business at hand
Is pretty quick. But when we get out, we still have to wash and dry
our hands, fix our hair and touch up our makeup (sowe wo n fdk
l i ke a frosted wathkreahdtsidewatk bythe end n |
of the night). After that we have to sayour goodbyes, which usually
involve s afew more short conversations, perhaps a hug or two and,
well, you get the idea. And when itcomest o maki ng O&épot
as | like to call them, nobody can keep up with Maryann. | 6pltlit
this way; more than once | 6 told her that | was going back to the
table before all the ice cubesin my drink melted.



But abandoning her in a strange city?

The worst part of it was withat
her . The Omatchi ng b aapgarerdhhanly biga s
enough to hold face powder, mascara, lipstick, an airplane-size
bottle of hairspray, ciggies and, of course, herphone. There just
wasnot an ygash(a oagon$).o r

Strange as it may seem, Maryann never considered the
possibility that Bob would leave herd not even when she returned to
the table to find him gone. She just assumedwentt o t he me
room.

But after about twenty minutes Maryann grew concerned.
Bob had been gonealmost as long she had and everybody knows
that me n d o n éstlong asg waenenin the bathroom . Something
was wrong.

And t hat leeslittlev matahing bag started to vibrate.
She could feelthe apprehension building before she evenanswered
the call.

fiYou seemed to behaving fun with your new friends so |
decided to return to the hotel,0 said Bob, and then he hung up on
her.

Maryann was stunned. What new friends? Was there a
hidden camera in the bathroom?

And how the hell was she supposed to getback to the hotel?

Now this is where all/l t hat bon
in handy. The girlss he 6 d b e e it upowitha(bragging gbout
her wonderful fiancé who was a judge, no less),were already
sending her curious glances.

Maryann told me that she was soembarrassedthat she was
tempted to tell them that Bob had become violently ill and was
rushed to the hospital. But she wassick of covering for him, and her
anguish over being discarded in such a callous manner had
escal at e d Sdrewthim,6shethoyght. Add when one of her
6new friendsd offered tahowyMlger (
not ?0



ACan y ou beli eve bdaek nfeorer me?:
demanded.

Yes, | did believe it. S0 h oywdud ge't back Ito
asked.

ANot o n loge wamembuytmly drinks for the rest of the
night, 6 s h ebutshayi indistedfon paying a cab to take me back
to the hotel! o

A Wo w, said, limpressed, as always, with how friendly
Westerners are.

Al j ust canot get over the fac
more concerned about me than my fiancé,0 she complained.

fiLet me gue seaswassledpinglikeia Baby wihéh you
got backto the room? 0

fProbably, 0 Ilaughed. Bét | di mynkéytwithhmev e
so | had to wake the baby wup. o
AANd?0

AHe was naacd utah a tyimmediatalygfollém edhim

back to t heexchaiméde AcBoodingstd lem, that makes
me a drunk and a slut. o

AOf course, oOagreed

Al said; Wdil, you left me at the bar.6And do you know what
he saidto that? o

i 6 m s@ rsigge8tedas one possibly, knowing full well
that it was the wrong answer.

AHe said; 6You |l eft me first. o
| laughed.
A | e f tshetyelledpas é Ihaa defendedh i m. nTo p

o
—

fiNext time try doing it at the bar,01 suggested T fi a t
him. o

She si gllaikds.n oibkbedy t akes that | c

AWel |l éhe might hawlented point th



fHe insists that | was growlin g for younger men® s h e
huffed. fFAnd he was dead serious, Nanc He s ®o yby have any
idea how out of place | felt standing there with all those younger
people?d As i f i t @wryaneat thedarwas younigea than
him! o

AThaattalbly k i nd of sad, oremarkicgoul dn

That morning, Maryann said she was awakened by a loud
knocking on the door. Looking around, she immediately noticed
that Bob wasgone. Her first thought was that he had checked out of
the hotel and left her there.

Shepeered out through the peep hole in the door.

There, in the hallway, stood a smiling waiter with an
enormous tray.

A Room s ehe annaueceddn that sing-song tone that
never fails to cheerd unless you just got dumped by your fiancé.

Maryann opened the door and the waiter set the tray down
on a nearby table. She watched skeptically as he poured a cup of
coffee. It really did appear to be room service. There wasa white
rose on the tray and everything.

Maryann told me that she ran into the bathroom and threw
upd something that would become a regularoccurrence from that
day forward.

They flew home that afternoon. Maryann kept her head
down and her mouth shut. Needless to say, here was no small talk
with the flight attendants or anyone else She muttered just enough
words to convey her desire fora vodka tonic, chugged it down with
a Xanax, and tried to fall asleep.

All she wanted was togo home and hug her children.

It was shortly after this that Bob madea 6 c onf @efs i o

sorts, to Maryann. Looking back,1  d o n 6 he wasltanfedsing at
all. I think he was bragging

For whatever reason, Bobadmitted that he had been having
sex with his wife right up to the day he left her. In fact, he claimed



to have had sex with herthat morning. | 6 m not sur e wh
Bob was expecting but what he got washorror.

A H actually tried to excuse himself by claiming that she
climbed on top of him!ld6 s he e xc | &AifmRedverd dainge r .
her a favor!o

Al 6m not s u rtreat rdally happened,voe | S a
shuddering. ABut even if itdés tr
now?o

A donot know, 0 she said. AHe

detail than that. And get this; afterwards, he waited until she left for
workd at his office, no lessd to pack up his stuff and leave. Their son
called hertot e | | her what happened. 0
AOh my god! o | gasped. AThat p
ABob said she coul dnot even
Maryann.

I felt sick. AWhy would he te
asked again.

Al ot alnzost as if he were trying to impress me or
something,0she said.

| shook my head. He was the sickest combination of
arrogance and insecurity | hadeverseenfi What di d you s

A 6been crying all night todears h e
asiftoproveitt AWhy di d he Bas&hesohbed t el |
fHe probably made the whole thing up, 0 | sai d. /

you, this was meant to comfort her.
AfWoul dnot t hat be even worse?o0

Al dondt knloonestly. | Igdessipgthat there are
experienced psychologists who would be out of their depth with
Bob.

Since we had no ideawhat was in B o bhead when he made
this confession,we si mpl y du bAdmiskions Bb bHe@ u y
wasdefinitely telling us something,we just di dndt know v



It was around this time when Maryann started working part -
ti me i n B.ollydess it wdsbnlydasr, then, that his staff
should get to name the next Bob to come along.

Late one afternoon, Maryann came home tofind a complete
stranger standing in her kitchen .

Al magi ne Ru P a with Bilyldok ana givingibpth
to a hairstyle, shetold melaterr i That 6 s t he only w;
to describeit. 0

ABob bought a,pietwringhim inlthe misdie efd
her kitchen with a Billy Idol wig and a guitar in his hand.

ANo, 0 s heaithagirpdyavend Afiwi g woul dn
taken me all weekendto fix.0

flLet me guess & | a u glustefdr .Menfid o e sinclude
Bob?0

Shegroaned. fHe decided to go with Miss Clairol.0
A OMmygod ogadped A What <color did he

A would put it somewhere between a lit match and a
lightning bol t , 0 svmae laughang so.hardt hat s he cc
get a word in anyway soshe reluctantly joined me . A Thertwor
was that he was trying to act normal, you know, like nothing was
out of the ordinary . | actually had to ask him about it before he
would acknowledge that anything waswrong.0

fAnd whatdidhesay? 6 | asked.

AHe bl anmhardresseh & s h eAppararnitlyd the dut
was so bad that it turned hishairgr ay . 0

By this time, the lengths that Bob would go to avoid taking
responsibility were a longstanding joke between us. fi | see,
replied, as if that made all the sense in the world.

fiSod get thisd the hairdresser supposedly told him to go
home and color his hair, 0 sail. e

fNot unlike that time my surgeon advised me to operate on
my s e | fokea, to llet her know that | understood how utterly
preposterous it was. Actually, a surgeon would probably



recommend self-operating before a hair dresser would suggestself-
coloring.

AThi s was per manent c o lotothee kind a d
that fades after twenty washeso

iSo whyaudd2dd | asked.

AThankfully, it was the weekend 06  sshig A | must Oov
sixteen trips to the drug store, and the rest of the time was spentin
the bathroom mixing chemicals like some kind of a mad scientist. |
colored, re-colored, stripped, tinted and drabbedd all in an effort to
make Bob look somewhat normal again.o

A An d ?rompted. p

Al 6d psermewhere betweencheesedoodle orange and
Paddington Be asrdincoat.o

I coul dndét haeagap i1t . | | aughed

i Wh & he goingtod o ? @sked. It was Monday morning as
we were having this conversation.

fWhat do you think?0  sshaei He.ropgd meinto his public
humiliation .0

AfNo! O

AY®s s he |jasawatked info his office with him a few
minutes ago, doing my best to pretend thatit does ndt | ool
brood of baby chicksare nesting on his head, when all of a suddenl
hear someone say; 6Look, itdéds Mali bu Bob
here to laugh. | hard someone elsesay 6 Hey dude, w
| eave your surfboard?06 | <coul dove

6 Ma | i bdwoulB stidk until the dye finally started to fade ,
at whi ¢ h phain begantdBresbnibke achampagne cocktail.
All it needed was a cherry for a garnish.Maryann told me that every
time she looked at him she thought o f Do n Ting Bubldes.66 | n
fact, it was a long time before she could mention Bob without
humming a bar or two of that song.

Things went back to dormal @n time . Or so Maryann thought
until several months later, when sherolled over in bed, opened her



eyes andthen scrambled frantically to get away from whatever it
was that was lying next to her. She glanced around the room,
disoriented.

She was in the right house. But where was Bob? Andwho (or
what) wasin their bed ?

She took a cautious step toward the bed and leaned in,
squinting to see without her contacts. There was adark brown head
lying face down on the pillow. Shetried to recall the events of the
previous night. As clearly as she could remembers he 6 d gone
before Bob.

And then it hit her. Bob was at it again.

She told me later that, as she stared down at the brown locks
peeping out from beneath the blankets, shec oul dn 6t hel p
that she hadtraded upfrom 6 Mal | bw 6 Eeh 06

Shortly after this | got a call in the middle of the week.
Al Y ohave to meet me in Portsmouth!0  scbnamanded.
| groaned. iWhat is it now? 0

Al candt tell younsistederiThHhies ptha
sadi n person. 0

Ilwasworkingi n t he st or e, altbathatdtowo u
slipout for afewhours. An d | hadndét seen her i
our time together was, by this time, spenton phone.iLet me s e
can get someotoleéhet o cover, o |

When Maryann and Bob were getting along, she wouldn &gb
anywhere or do anything to potentially 6 r o ¢ k t6Bwt whem at
they were fighting, she reminded me a little of a rebellious teenager.
Knowing that she would be gunishedéanyway, she felt that she
might as well make the most of it.

Their fights would last anywhere from two days to two
weeks, and Maryann would emerge from them a weak, shriveling
shell of her former, weak, shriveling self.

| could tell this was going to be a humdinger, and | knew that
her present mood would only last as long as her initial outrage over



whatever he did this time. Then reality would set in and she would

start to crack under the uncertainty of what Bob was going to do
next. These events wreaked havoc orher health. She was already
showing signs of the strain, including all kinds of problems with her

digestive system. But there were moments, like this one, when she
j ust di &mewas feeliagrdefiant, resentful and sick of trying

to appease him.

| had long since accepted the fact thatMaryannwa s n 6t g o
to leave Bob, so | figured the next best thing was to help her get
through it .

AYou Kkinhomos told her, i f reallypdetérmieed to
make this work with Bob, y o u 6 r e g o iadifferent approaehe d
Maybe you coul d t hirolércoaster'ag t | i keé

Shejust stared at me.

Al me an, Fself@kwenaton. y girou 6 r lEyoa me
want to survive this, youé halve to acceptthat B o bgwisag to flip out
every so often and just roll with it. He always comes around
eventually. 0

fiThat 6s t elpsheshid.e advi ce

A kK nl tawghed. fAYBauwdve al r e atheygood gnc
advice. o

fiWhat s h o u | gheaskeddfar the gazillionth time.

Al fweremedwhi ch it neveécouwlodird @t &
adding wi t h a s hu ddjast ignoré his littl® tartrdms.
Donrgact. Youodbre fueling the fire wh
this.Br eat he, be cal m, and wait for

i | cligedike that, she said.

fiWhat 6 s y our? dadkdd.eTofohartgehim@ Because
youbre goanrma tnemadh f or that. o

ANoél kshesighed

A We | | the only thing olseafitahdil s t
knowy ou o r e nto do thgtdout,nfrgnkly, I donodt und e
why vy o yuta little éhoney aside,justs o it 6s. an opt



AEvVvery Inhaw kgeds toward expensedd she kept
insisting . A As inmother gpenednaycredit card account in her
name just sothat | could keep up with the household expenses 0

fWait! bsaid. iwWhat?0

At 6s just until B o b,66he adsurgdanec e
AThe cdooerstgivie thim enough allowance to cover our
expenses. 0

fMaryann é ,0 | said, genuinely alarmed by this latest
development.

~

Al k rslewaidpbrushing the mattera s i d e . A Wh en
his divorce s eofftmye men treeiradrd and thegna y
lreallywil st art saving. o

That was the conversation we had after their previous fight.
This new fight h @oidtnyét.tMaryaanavwash sildin t h e
her 6 | dondét c ar mdhesatGlaggaritasBamnm dnd G
in Portsmouth .

She was waiting for me at a table nearthe bar. She was
already half-way through her first drink.

I sat Qkoawn,. wihat 6s so i mportant
in person to hear it?0 asked

She giggled. Al &m not saying one wor
i n your hand! o

| obediently ordered a drink and when the waitress delivered
it she raised her glass.

AY o te@oing to be anauntie!" she announced as we clinked
glasses.

The smile left my faceand | set down my drink . iwhat?0

AOh , i tmine, nhootshe gontimued with a grin on her
face. niffdct, Bob says it has nothing to do
something for him!o

| picked up mydrink and s mil moipted,i Go

looking forward to the warm sensation | always get from the first
few sips of a drink.



ABob wants to adoptlo asekkpimedi a l

The warm sensation | was looking forward to had to be
temporarily postponed while | choked on the last few drops of
alcoholt hat di dndt end up on Maryannf¢

She laughed thoroughly enjoying my reaction. | could tell
that she had given this some thought while she was waiting for me
to get there. Sure enough, what followed was a lengthy parody of
her life with Bob and diiséspecial needs child, who shehad named
@amiroqui 6on the drive over, because, for some reasonthe whole
thing remind ed her of the band, J a mi r q §itudordgsVirtual
Insanity . She had created a vivid scene of the event, right down to
the squeaky wheels onlittle Jamiroqui 6 s wheel chair a
around their house. She acted out every possiblescenario with me,
while | struggled to get some of my drink down between fits of
laughter. | almost fell off my chair a few timesas she was describing
the typical evening at the Nadeau homestead

fPicture me, in my crisp new apron, 0 s h e Tinseafaor d .
dinner 0l call out to my two adorable little cherubs, and they come
running in to tell me about their day.0 He r s mi | eButf ad
suddenly we all stop. A slight frown creases my otherwise smooth
brow. | turn my head ever so slightly to listen. Sensing my
discomfiture, my little darlings stare up at me with large,
guestioning eyeso

Heedless of my laughter, Mar y a nfad@ s reflects
consternation as shecontinues.

f®Oh dear§ | think . dNot again! @ut t hereds no
telltale squeak of the wheelsasJ a mi r ®chair icréeps closer. As
unpleasant as it is, | am forced to turn and speak to him. dNo-no,
Jamiroqui,61 say, askindly as | can manage. dNot you.0l give him
my brightest smile in order to take some of the sting out of my
words. &Remember?d remind him . Wedtalked about this last night. 6
The little wheels pause, and one of J a mi r olgrgej warsdering
eyesstares at me in confusion while the other one checks out the
pizzaa 6 You have Daddy Bod,0dltexplairoto him for the
third time that week , trying my bestto keep the irritation out of my



v oi &®u gustesomething for him, remember? Now, be a dear
and wheel yourself back into your corner. There you go. 6 0

By this time | was in tears.
Her expression was filled with incredulity .

fAs if adopting a child was like picking out a new cardigan!o
s he e x c I|Hmmmeviich ong.dwhich one...®

But not all the Bobs were this amusing.| 6 | | never f
pain in Ma r y a rveicé svhen she called meone bitterly cold

morning in January. Ther e woul d be no o6drink
this one.

iHeds dat scregned diHe ds fucking m
online! o

As shocking as it might seem, | was actually surprised to
discovert hat t her e wa s.coraBob.® mean, torcatl ofiat c
his crazy behavior, | thought the one thing Maryann could count on
from him was fidelity. Maryann thought so too. And yet, when |

thought about what happenedtoh i s wi f e, I  coourl do
naivety.

A kept thinking that i fo |Is hter
sobbed mi s enroav |tyhne mépBtost

AWhat Haveltosheey about it?0 | ask:é

A Wh at does thatriedmafiwwWer Dot &he&n
every word that comes out of his mouth is a lie!o| could hear the
hopelessness in her voice Thi only thing we had going for uswas
my belief that he was committed to this. Crazy fuck that he is, at
leasttherewa s n 6t edse.Puwaseéturnsout,l dondt eve
that! God! | am so screwed And then she wassobbing hysterically
again.

A

She sounded utterly defeated.il 6 m s o todber,rand, 0 |
meant it. There was somethingto be saidfor believing that you are
s 0 me o mredasd only.6Stupid as it might sound, she had been
hanging her hat on that.

It wa s nlietresputcastandopportunities that Maryann
had squandered onBob either. Shehad allowed him to changewho



she was She hadcutour g i r | s $outrta ngostly stolen lunches
between errands and she hadput a muzzleon her Midwestern habit

of talking to strangers. Even laughing on the phone with me had to

be limitedtowhen Bobowasnodot ,maeoawmsgde he .Anddnd
each time Bob succeeded inaltering Maryann 6 f or t hbbe b e
immediately pushed for more. It was getting harder and harder to

work around his jealousies and phobias and the reprisals when she
failed were getting more and more outrageous.

As it turned out, &utting backbon her ni ght s
enough. | felt sick when | heard that it was actually a rare night out
wi t h me t hBoltogoonsparfeanthith.com and announce
thathewas6é si nlgyalé , @nd o6ready for | ove.

There were still more Bobs to come, but it was becoming
apparent that they were all connected to three key character flaws
that appeared to be the driving forc e behind everything he did.
0 Ne gl e c pferdexammeb was actually a bi-product of Bo b 6 s
terrible, ever-simmering anger, while dMalibu Bobbarose out of his
insecurity. As for6 Pe r f e ccommBob, égbhs indeed odd that he
came as such a surprise tous, becausehe actually represents the
most prominent feature of B o b pessonality, which is duplicity.
Though there would always be more Bobs, one of these three
dominant characteristics of anger, insecurity and duplicit y would
always bepresent within them.
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From Bad to Worse
N L,

e

fl believe in truth and honesty, and | live my life by it, no matter what anyone
who dislikes me may <c¢l aim. o

i BoB NADEAU, September 2007

derfectmatch.com Bobd mar ked t lare eraefor d (
Maryann. In her heart, her relationship with Bob was over. The
effort it took to please him had been extraordinary , but now there
was noreasonto continue making that effort.

Considering how much Bob found to complain about when
Maryann was actually trying to make him happy, you can imagine
how miserable he became when she stoppedrying .

She was lying in bed one night, watching television, when
one of B 0 labse. Maryasnsc waid @ n demenegber evimat
it was, exceptthat it was doo stupid to waste precious time fighting
over.0Bob disagreed, and shelost her temper, throwing the remote
control across the room and shattering it into about twenty pieces.

Bob calmly got up, went into the bathroom and turned on
the shower. Fifteen minutes later he came out, got dressedand left.
Maryann assumed he had gone to spend the night in the in -law
sutedsomet hing he often did when h
Only this time the prospect brought herrelief.6 Good r i ddan
thought. But as if sensing that the ante had been raised,Bob
returned a little while later with the police. Though he was n 6t
pressing charges @t that time, e told the police that Maryann had
assaulted him and insisted that he neededt h eprotectiéon 6while



he collected his things. This time, he was moving in with his
parents.

When Maryann told me all this later, she seemed pretty
confident that the police officers knew he was lying. She said one of
them confided in her that there are three &keydocations on the body
that, if struck, would constitute the kind of 6 a s s &hat|Bbbd
described. Apparently Bob had listed all three spots precisely as
they are describedin thestatute.| d o n 6 why thenpoliee officer
would tell Maryann thisifheb el i ev e d B\wmttdnsentisnt o r \
that Bob is six feettall to Ma r y a five foat four. How would she
manage to strike him in all three 6assaul t 6 zones
stopping her?

Bob returned to the house a few days later, but he would
hold this incident over Ma r y a headfa years. Though she never
believed he would actually press charges forthe supposed6 a s s a u |
shedi dnodt | i ke t hadiesblore recora this tme.t h
Somewhere out there was areport that said shehad O6assau
someone. This was becoming too big to ignore.

Maryann was sick of it. And yet, s he wasnot si ck
leave. This marks the first time | ever saw my friend depressed. And
16 m t adekousndgpression here. It hung over her like a heavy
fog, hour after hour, day after day, week after week. As well, adeep
inertia was setting in. She woke up hopeless and lethargic. For
forty -five minute s each morning she would pretend to be happy
while getting her kids ready for school, but the minute they climbed
onto the school bus shewent back to bed and pull ed the coversover
her head. She began drinking more heavily tood and more often.
Having lost all hope of having a normal life, she wanted only to
escape

Though Bob always blamed me when Maryann went out
drinking , the truth is that | no longer had any desire to go out with
hercespeci al ly at n i g h anymore. tAftelj thes t
incident with Perfectmatch.com, the stakes seemed too high.l
di dnot want t on thb eicinily nvhhem hbeVroel c ani ¢
erupted.



Besides, this wasone of the busiesttimes of my life. And it
was the first time | would experience dove at first sight.

| discovereddowe 6 | | ¢ aShdozie® at éhm Lad Vegas
Shoe Show. They werelaid out on an unadorned table in a tiny,
unmarked booth. The man working the booth was blatantly
European (meaning he was fashionably dressed in clothes that
actually fit him and had styled his hair). Also, hec o u | sheakany
English.

Most buyers d o nhauve time for manufacturers that are this
wet behind the ears, but | was in the habit of checking out
everything at the shows, so | popped infor a look.

I wasnot e X p @tcl practicglly swaondd wheltb |
saw the shoes My hand actually trembled as| reached out to touch
them. The nextthing | knew , my own shoeshad beendiscarded and
| was trying on every sample in the booth. | can still remember the
way | feltd like a starving person discovering food, or an alcoholic
finding a bottle of good whiskey.

It was orgasmic.

What was so special about Shoozie® Well; at first glance
they had a kind of innocence that was reminiscent of the shoes
women wore at the turn of the century (the previous one). But they
were sassy too,calling to mind the roaring twentiesd and brazen,
like the seventies. They were allthat, and still as sophisticated as
anything ybbhbds$ | mbogub. fihycame in every color
of the rainbow (my favorite style was actually featured in green),
but the colors were neutral, subdued tones that even the most
conservativewoman would wear. The heels weresexy, yet practical.

But the leathers were what impressed me most They were
softerthan my inner thigh & right after a wax! | could wiggle my toes
from within the shoes as freely as | would in a sock.

The minute | laid eyes onthem | knew they were special

The man in the booth just stood there, watching me in
astonishment. | think he only u nderstood about half of what | was
saying (if that) and | d i d anderstand anything he said. | decided



to limit myself to five styles formy store.] know t hat doe
like much,buty ou have to buwy od stitapmibhi® s i z
usually around twelve pairs. It adds up quickly. If even one style
bombs, it can represent quite a lot of money. So | carefully selected

my five styles (which actually turned out to be seven) and | ordered

the shoes. But the sales rep was having so much trouble
understanding me that | took the order pad from him and wrote the

order myself.

| was also a rep at that showd although | was no longer
working for Terry . He hadbeen | i berated from
(eventually) gotten his job back after | politely declined the
companybés offer to r eprlensmrgedtostayh e
in the shoe business, b u t I di d ddittby sgrawing over@
friend.

Months before, | had been putting out feelers for other
opportunities i n anticipatieavaral of
manufacturers had already approached me, and | had agreed
(perhaps too hastily) to represent their shoes.

When youodr e hsafulsheedinean sssilver platter
it s 0 n,ébut trying to mrn an unsuccessfulline into awinner
is quite another. | agreed to gepdthose first few brands without
considering how a groblem 6brand might affect my reputation. The
buyers were always willing to look, but they would become less
inclined to buy with every 6 d ahgtdl sold them.

T h e $ &I16t to consider when representing a brand. 1 t i s n
just about how the shoes look. Sometimes the shoesar e n 6t m
very well, or they might not fit properly. They could ship late or not
at all. And since | always put the shoes| represented in my own
store, | suffered right along with the other buyers when ever there
was a problem.

The brand | was repping when | discovered Shoozieswas just
s0-so. Their shoes came in @vidths,6so the fit was great, but the
styl es wer e njonp upandydown iabougt (I guess if your
foot is too skinny to hold the shoe onthe styl e doesnad
much). The best thing about the brand was that the buyers ordered



three to five widths in every size so | could easily sell twenty -five to
fifty pairs with eachstyleordered. Thi s i s i mportant
getting paid by the pair.

| was still thinking about the Shoozies when | returned to my
booth. Before | knew it, |1 was telling the buyers about them. In fact,
| took three of my customers over to the Shooziesbooth personally
and presentedthe line. All three of them wrote or ders.

There was another man in the booth this time around, who
spoke slightly better English than the first. From him we learned
that the shoesdi dnét a ct distributey bhdrenirvtiee states,
meaning that there was no one toaccept and&leardthe shoes from

customs and then parcel them off to the various shoe storesthat
ordered them.

This killed the deal for the o
about to let the shoes slip through my fingers that easily.

i | didtribute the shoesmyself! 0 announced. Mind you, |
had no ideawhat customs actually did at that point , let alone how to

get products through them . But | had to have those shoe$ and how
hard could it be?

The new guy grabbed my arm as | prepared to leave his
booth. il ¥eblui n e suggedtedin his broken English.

It was extremely tempting, but | hesitated. A new, completely
unknown shoe line? | had no idea what that would entail. Every
brand | had been involved with came with a customer base of some
kind. And it takes money to rep shoes. You have topresent the
shoesatthes hows (those booths areatbt c
go out on the road (which is evenless cheap. With no commissions
coming in that first season, | would be completely absorbing the
cost. It wo uld be like investing in the brand.

On the other hand, | had already paid for my booths at the
next two shows. Surely | could squeezein a few more styles!

| thought about my store, my contract with Harlequin and

the line | was already repping. Af | wer en o6t sabusyela dy
hedged



AWelpahy t e n p e rhe pleaded. dhe going rate was
seven.

And | really did love the shoes!

i Ok,a yagreed Buijust send meten samplesdn o mor e !
| ooked aroundentdthteatboon e, 0 fil totha i d,
green shoe AAnd tohveetr a nhmeinted bud a few more.
Actually, it was more than a few. | probably picked out about twenty
styles.

AOnl vy send me t e And ol nded thems i s
immediately . | have another show coming up right after this one.o

Fifteen styles were waiting for me when | got home from the
Vegas shoe show And they were even more fabulous than |
remembered!

The Shoozieswere a hit at the New York and Boston shows.
The buyers were actually blocking the isle, @oingéand @wingbover
the brand! | think | opened about ten stores during the Boston
show, which is saying something for a new, completely unknown
line. My instincts were right. The brand wasa winner!

When the shoes arrived that following fall, they were an
instant sensationin the stores as well. And with that first delivery, |
learned everything | needed to know about customs and shipping,
while managingto 6 d i s t the $hoes te the first round of stores
without incident. Shortly after that, | began contacting fashion
bloggers on the internet, offering them free shoesin exchangefor a
review on their website. Meanwhile, my son was kind enough to
create a gorgeous webpage for the brand. By the time the spring
samples came to my door,| had created professional dine dsheets
and was sending out designer emails to all of the buyers.

I knew | was in over my head, but | had no clue how far. The
client list I had inherited from Terry, impressive though it was, only
covered a relatively small territory up here in New England. If the
Shoozies were going to have any real chance of becoming a
recognizable brand, they would have to be available in stores all
across the country. | was already venturing into the territories to
the south and westof New England, but it was a little like digging a



well with a spoon. | decided | would have to get the shoes into one
of the national department stores. This, too, wasunknown territory ,
but I figured all | had to do was to get my foot in the door and the
shoes woulddo the rest.

However,lcoul dno't get any of the
to talk to me. | coul dn 0 theireassestants tp dalk to me.
That 0 s | deddedrto let Shooziesdo the talking. But sending
out pictures wa s n ot e n o u g hthe shoesloratde buyers @ e t
feet. So | made it my mission to find out the shoesizes of themajors
department store buyers(and their assistants).] wonoét anl ab
how | went about this, except to say that | managed to get the
information without breaking any laws (or stealing any shoes). |
sent each of them apair of shoesfrom the collection | had ordered
for my store. Shortly after that, | had my opportunity to present the
line.

And t h at dpsnedamajor tlepartment storedwe 6 | | c
them Bar r i ndgrn noyrsécend season!

As proud as | am of my part in all of this, | know that the real
credit belongs to the manufacturer of the shoes In those first few
seasonswith Shoozies, | felt a little like the shoemakerin the classic
chil dr en ®he Elge$ and yhe Shoemaker. The craftsmen
responsible for the Shoozies seemed every bit as magical as the
elves in that fairy tale. How they did it was amystery to me. All |
knew was that | had been presented with a once in a lifetime
opportunity . | picked up the ball and ran, loving every minute of itd
even shipping the shoesfrom the backroom of my shoe store And
of course, everything is more sat

| would continue as the distribut oré for another three
seasons before Shoozies finally hooked up with a 6 pr of es s i
company to handle their shipping and receiving. During that time, |
shipped to over fifty Barringtons 6stores throughout the country (in
addition to the independent stores in my own ever expanding
territory).

Meanwhile, my relationship with Maryann had been whittled
down to talking on the phone. This was fine for me, but Maryann



wanted someone to go out with. | had neither the time nor the
desire. In fact, | felt that going out would only make her situation

A

worse. Th at 6 s Judith €ame along

Judith and Maryann had sons in the same classroom. At
some point they discovered that their relationships were sinking in
the same misery pool. Best of all, they both sought comfort in a
bottle. It was a match made in heaven.

Though | was seeingMaryann less, | was hearing from Bob
more. Somewhere along the line he had cast me in the role of
Ma r y a mshre@eshifting puppet master. One minute | was the
Geppetto to her Pinocchio and, the next, | was her rascally friend,
Lampwick (leading her into such debauchery that it was turning us
both into donkeys). Meanwhile, Bob did everything he could think
of to strong arm me into taking the form of Jiminy Cricket, her
chirping conscience, in the hopes that | could help her morph from
a holl ow, wooden dhatlhé couldbée moudof.6r e a

Bob evensaw me as the person tooffer redemption when he
screwed up. After the Perfectmatch.com thing, | was the one who
got the 6 a p o lewmail,ywhich | found even more disturbing than
the hate mail he sent me.

Al want to apologize to you for having treated [Maryann]
very badly and for failing to give her the degree of credit that she
deservesp h e ,vaddng; el Miad suggested, and [Maryann]
quickly agreed, that if we were to h ave a baby daughter, she
would have your name as her middle name in honor of you. 0

AWhy does he ke dasked khayarn bne day.me ?
fWhat did he send you now?0  sgloaned.
AWhat does mé?tocdleteresl.dHedvencopiesme

on the stuff he sendsother people. Which reminds me, why is Bob

still handling the visitation issues between you and your ex
husband?He 6 s noarkliyng t hi ngs wor se. 0

A k nsmlved Maryann. Al 6 ve keesyppgleutdheh i
w 0 n. 60t



AWel |l it puts me iiom saih Ndmakywa r d
would just ignore this kind of thing, but sometimes | feel the need
to defend myselfd and you. | mean; are you even aware of all the
t hings heassof?aon du b irespgnd the way | would like

A

to, becausel 6 m a f r take d ouhoe thy brother. o

AHoDaddy 6 s c asheaskgd(possiply tO change
the subject).

Adonoét , kwldker. Mi br ot her doesnbd
about it, so | h a v erealiyt heard anything since | finished the
bookkeeping. Every now and then | get an email from Bob or his
secretary, looking for more money, so apparently s o met hi n¢
happening. 0

I di dn 6t think albotit whab was going on with my
brother any more than Maryann wanted to think about what was
going on with Bob. But | was worried about both of them. Looking
back, | 0m eseokksshewad lonewan, she wascompletely
at Bmdoy and, right or wrong, she had to know the precarious
situation she was putting herself and her kids in every time she
went out with Judith . Shes t i | | di dndét gedevent ,
the worst, most unimaginable things d could happen to her. Shewas
too focused on theinjustice of it all.

fWho is Bob to accuse me of cheating?0 she would demand
resentfully. She was still monitoring his activity on
Perfectmatch.com, and would sometimes even sendme updates
h e dnthde to his profile d which | forwmarded t o t he o6 cr @
unread.

Val ent i n e oOright dooand theveoser . As usual, Bob
and Maryann were fighting , so Maryann watched the day approach
with something like dread. There was no telling what Bob would do.
He was capable of anything, from descending in a giant hot air
balloon overflowing with gifts, to moving one of his d&Perfectmatchd
women into the in -law suite next door. You just never knew with
Bob.

| got the call just after the delivery man came, around mid -
morning.



With his usual penchant for making everything a spectacle,
Bob had sent one of his assistants from the office on this particular
errand. As Maryann accepted the package she coul dn ot
noticing that, although Bob had enactedt h i s dayg hefore e
had waited until Va |l e nt i noehévsit dblaered.

It was an eviction notice.

The dire circumstances finally drove Maryann to action. She
began applying for jobs and looking for apartments. She was still
working in Bobés offshkhe,dbdnobherceu
paychecks anymore.The moneywent directly toward the household
expenses

Meanwhile the job market was still steadily spiraling
downward, though rentals remained more expensive than ever.
New England has always been funny that way. Rents nevergo
down, even when everything else tanks.

AHey! o | sai d, struck whahhsaan
second house on the beach. I d oni
but it woul dn 6t Havimng nd timeé dor farmdt . O

introductions, | gave Maryann his phone number.

Around this time, | was having personal problems of my
own. My fiancé had slipped back into our apartment one morning
while | was downstairs working in the store, packed up all of his
things and left me. As soon as he was a safe distance away, he called
to tell me what he had done.

| was surprisingly calm. In fact, my biggest concern was the
store.

Al donodt see how linlightaal thik meew p i
development,0 | t ol d ONmsureslzereft that I would be
better off without the store, but Maryann understood, more than
most, how hard it is to break away from the proverbial dall and
chain.6

I guess itos kind of sad tha

breakup itself. ltwas n o6t e vlater when axceneekned friend
stopped by to offer her condolences



Al jusada $hleeargdai d sympat heti cal

| had no idea what she was talking about, but | had learned
from experience to be tewhat Pdoeld a
bracing myself for whatever it was.

My friend | ooked Diadn orteboyf@ndre w a
| eave you?o

| was so relievedthat | actually laughed. A Ot hat ! o |
brushing the matter aside with a wave of my hand.

Al forgot h &atervadnsttedgto Maeyana. |

AMaybe now you can take odowmdt:t
keep bumping my head onit, 6 s he sai d,hadagobd we
laugh.

A VEIlI!0 ekclaimed, wiping away the only tears | would ever
shed over the breakup. fiHe was certainly right to leave. | wonder
why | didndét think of 1it.0o0

| guess | was too busy. But as unmoved as | was by théoss of
my boyfriend, | was devastatedover the prospect of losing the store.

The housing market was at its peak whenwe purchased the
building , but now the value was spiraling downward at an alarming
rate. It woul ddbve beenoutnyex butdeasIn t i
debt up to my eyeballs with the shoe store. In fact, having used up
all of my other resources, | had started using personal credit cards
to pay for inventory and other store expenses.Thisdi dnét t ur
to be such a great idea. Though | always paid on time, my credit
score was plummeting even faster than the value of our house. |
guessl s houl dothatif theeceedliticardecampanies raise my
credit score when | d i d osé the credit, it stands to reason that
they would lower it when | did .

Butlhadnot tha aAhdil was d little miffed by it. If |
wasnot s uysetbesmedi, whychad they given it to me?

And yes, Reader, t hough it emt
one of those 6i di otmybeadwhen thevmasketi n
crashed. But I swiad right thatl oha oredit dard i n k



companies were increasing my interest rate to as much as twenty
nine percent before | was ever late on a payment.

So Maryann ended up contacting my friend with the beach
house herselidowe 6 1 | cal | him OHouseguy. o

Houseguy was an old friend and, like most of my friends, he
liked to drop by the store from time to time. He had shown
Maryann his house on Hampton Beach, but then seemed reluctant
to actually rent it to her. In the course of all this, they, too, became
friends.

Before | knew it, Houseguy was dropping by the store to talk
about Maryann. | di dnot t hi nk mu chh oftanb o u
discussed women with me. | think he saw me as a kind of authority
on the subject, you know, my being an author of erotic books and
all.

| never did figure out what was going on between those
twod if anything. | think Maryann was an enigma for Houseguy and
she seemedto enjoy his jokes about how messed uper relationship
with Bob was.

Meanwhi |l e, Bob had gone into M
discovered her new friend. In an email to Houseguy, Maryann had
referred to Bob as oDad. 6 It was
laughing.

So Bob sent out a mass email to Ma r y a riamiy sand
friends, to his family (according to Maryann, Bob d o e shave @any
friends) and to everyone in his office. In his email, Bob introduced
Houseguy as Ma r y a mewdlaver and attached copies of their
private email correspondence.

To me, Bobadded: Thidnks for hooking [Maryann] up with
[Houseguy] so secretly and effectively. Keep up the good work. o

Meanwhile, Maryann was too busycounting down the days
until she and the kids would be thrown into the street to worry
about her name being draggedthrough the mud. Yet she seemed to
have given up on finding a new job and a place to live. | found her
inability to react in a crisis frustrating.l t woul dn 6dars b e



later that | would learn how common this is for sufferers of Post
Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). Back then, | just wanted to slap
her.

Since she di dnét willipg éon able) to leave Bob, |
reasoned that there was nothing she coulddo but wait it out .

fHis accusations always come to nothing ©reminded her.
An the final khething withhHodseguy isr adl @ his z e
head.0

Maryann was just quiet enough to rouse my curiosity.

At is al | i n his d&easked.snlt md
di déenda
fNot with Houseguy,0  shhdged

This stopped me in my tracks. Maryann was seeing
someone?

| searched my mind to think who it might be. | remembered
a O0smal | slielhadmerdianedoanfev weeks earlier with a
young associ at eShe hadlaBghdd dt sff abthieftimec e .
(which was a good thing, becausehat young associateturned out to
be the next guy in line for Bob to accuse her of having an affair
with). In fact, he wast he obj ect o fy rigBtobbféres |
Houseguy. But with Bob, there was always someone, so who paid
attention anymore?

No, I thought, itcan 6t be hi m
| mean, that would be crazy.
| was almost afraid to ask.

ADo | ksmmyw ttelry man?o

Altdéds Rusty Hammegaonfigning rhyeworst d mi
fears about the young associate( whose name i snot
Hammer) .

| was speechless.

A Weaust hooked up last night, 0 saidgu i | twas$ going
to tell you about it tomorrow night, when we go out for my
birthday .0



My surprise was quickly being replaced with horror. fl
t hought you di dndt | i ke him

Al diédn 6 tf i r said, 0 A, Bidueknow, we became
friends and it just kind of escalated from there. | mean, why not?
Bobiss t i | | |l ooking for his O&6perfnect
the street in less than a week. You saw the email he sengéveryone.

He actually told my parents | was a prostitute. 1 t 6 S. dov er

| sighed. Maybe it was for the best B @ b hkEen emailing me
non-st op tsai, dill dondt know how you
this time. 0

AiNeit her adnotted., 0 s he

A But Rusty kdHammendd hel p thass ki
was foolhardyd even for her.

Stll t hi nking Houseguy was the
email me, going on and on about how dishonest, disreputabled and
every ot hehecauldthiské®fdwwas.d

Finally I had enough. fiStop blaming me, bwrote. fiThis has
nothing to do with me creep. 0

lguessBob di dnoét | i ke hetdémarsdedrthatp | vy
stop communicating with him and even threatened to have me
c h ar g e daragsmertibéfordreplying as | had.

| was aghast WHhen you take someone to court for
harassment or whatedemovoyouhiheaat
more than replies?0 | asked. fiD o hywu think maybe YOU would
look | i ke the one harassing peopl e
private correspondence, bl ami ng
i snét harassment? Did ou actuall

To t his Bob Unwastgd orepies dure indeed
harassment . Yes, I di d pass (.
communicating with me. 0

He signed it 6éDad. o

B o b énwils were so unreasonable that they were almost
comic. But they were scary too. When he mentioned&hargingbme
with harassment, how could | not feel threatened? | knew he was



capable of making false claims against people because he had
already done it to Maryann.

And then | remembered my b r o takeé\that § Bob took
this out on him?

My loss of temper kept me up all that night, worrying about
what Bob would do next.

| haveto say,my h e a r tall iwalemldvént out to meet
Maryann for her birthday the following night at the d&usty

Hammer 6in Portsmouth, New Hampshire ( yes, t hat 0ts w
the name).
That night out with Maryann , I coul dndt hel

scripture | had read as a kid.
d&at, drink and bemerry ; for tomorrow we die .6

lcoul dnét understand how Maryar
of everything that was going on in her life. Of coumgk, 6
not be the right word. She was clutching at the only comfort she
could find in that moment. | wondered if she harbored hopes that
Rusty Hammer would save her. | sincerely hoped not.

But in thinking back on it now, | suppose she had no hopes
left. Bob had dashed them all away. He did it with her full
cooperation, but nevertheless, she had nothing left now. This was it.
So we raised our glasses andaughed the night away.

For tomorrow we die .

Whenevictiondaycame, Mar yann coul dnoét
of bed to get the kids ready for school. It was one of those days that
wo ul dé v e Grow daydin any other stated blustery and gray,
the kind of day that leaves you feeling all jittery inside. The three of
them curled upi n  Ma r Yednwhdresshe read them one story
after another from their enormous collection of The Berenstain
Bears.

Maryann told me later that the severity of her situation
never really hit her until the doorbell rang . She honestly never
believed something like this could happen to her and her children.
But by then it was too late.



Shewalked down the stairs like a person condemned, certain
that it was the police at her door, preparing to drag her and the kids
out into the street. But when she opened the door, there was a
smiling stranger there instead, holding two dozen peach colored
roses.

This had the same effect onMaryann as finding the buttons
I n my Dbottle of sl eeping pills.
believe what she was seeing.

She said it wasseveral minutes before she was actually able
to accept the flowers from the delivery man. Even then, she half

expected them to explode in her hands. The poor guy got neither a
thank you nor a tip.

Maryann brought the roses inside and sat down Shefelt sick
on so many levels, but mostly she was sick with relief. After a long
moment she opened the card and stared numbly at Bobd erratic

scrawl, which always looked rather murderous to me (though I 6 m
not a handwriting expert).

d love you sweetheart, i said. &ee you tonight.6

| wondered if she realizedthatt hi s wasndét a f
was merely a stay of execution.
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The Calm Before the Storm

i L
)

e

Of B 0o braasiy promises, none was as appealing aswhen he
agreedto6 go bacikedobn hi s

Zoloft is said to boost serotonin levels and regulate moods.
| 6 ve pdeaplesaghatitworks wonders. That wasnoét tF
Bob, but at least Maryann could glance away without finding a
completely different guy standing there when Bob was on the
Zoloft. The best part of having Bob on his meds was that he seemed
less inclined to write one of his endless missive® to me,Mar y ann 6
family, or anyone elsd outlining every detail of their lives. Un-
medicated Bob seems to cravethe constant approval of his public.
Only his public isn odirterested. In fact, nobody cares. And | think

A

t hat 6 s t h ethat Boladeedyhes snsds. n

I t 6s a shame Bob di dndét Heur s
woul déve nfoawnds aitti sfying and | t
good at it. | me a n , Ribhard Burtom cout h e dedphenomenal

in one of those reality television shows, like The Bad Lawyers Club

or Keeping up with the Serotonins .

The problem with the meds is that Bobdoesn 6t parti c
care for having his moods (and especially his behavior) regulated.
He claims it leaves him feeling less lively. This seens like a good
thing to mdadodiont | d6m no

So there we were,enjoying something like a reprieve, thanks
to Zoloft (Wwho hasnot compensated me f
here), but we were far from convinced that the worst was behind us.
Maryann continuedtowork at B o b éustil sbef cbulddirel a job



elsewhereand, af t er a foetimgsémowiet hd R u s, she
finally came to her senses and realized how close shewvas to the
edge of the cliff.

Ha

I coul dnodt t el | feaings fov Babtwerdveh r vy «

that poi nt . ebenttioknshecoul déve tol d
times when | thought she still loved him , eventhough she was still
planning to leave him the first chance she got

That March was one of the coldestl can remember (although
| say that every March). But that year, there seemed to be a
permanent &rustéof ice on the ever-present snow.

Maryann spent the rest of that winter fretting over whether
or not Bob knew the truth about her and Rusty. Meanwhile, Rusty
seemedblissfully unconcerned. And why not? Bob was being nicer
to him than h e @wrbeenbefore. Instead of giving Rusty glorified
errands to run on the other lawyers 6ases he handed him clients
with long standing accounts. These wereimportant cases that had
been with the firm for years. Bob even asked him to handle a few
matters on his still pending divorce. It seemed that things were
looking up for old Rusty.

y 0L

As the icy winter slowly thawed into a frigid spring , Bo b 6 s

mood improved even more. He seemed more relaxed andmuch less
insecure. It was actually a little eerie. Maryann attributed it to his
being back on hismeds, but | found it hard to believe that there was
anything out there potent enough to warrant this kind of

transformation .

fMaybe hef ound hi s 0 @gokeld &antannnBatt ¢ h

this seemed unlikely, as Bob was spending all of his spare time with
Maryann and the kids now. It was a little like when they first met.
There were moments when even Maryann seemed happy.But her
happiness was impeded by a constant fear that, any moment, the
ball would drop. Which it did, periodically, and then Bob would
accuse her of cheatingd which she hadd but as we were both
beginning to realize by this time, his accusations had nothing to do
with Maryann. They reflected something that was happening within
him. | know how strange this must sound, but | have seen it time



and again with Bobd to the point where you can almost set your
watch by itd that if he accuses you of something, you can pretty
much bett h a t somethinghe has recently done.

Up to this point, Maryann always complained about how
6 ¢ a r Bobhad t@ be with his spending due to his ongoing divorce.
But it suddenly seemedas if Bob coul dnadtn factar e
Maryann was beginning to wonder if he had won the lottery. He
bought clothing,artand abuncho f st uf f s h e dodtheb e e
house. He booked a twoweek vacationfor them in Nova Scotia, and
even stopped by my store to buy Maryann three pairs of shoes.

The 6 b | o wweregesvér and farther between, though they
were still disturbing.

One day, Maryann noticed that the two wedding gowns they
bought were missing.

They picked out the first dress their first summer together ,
after a discussion abouthow lovely it would be to get married on the
beach. Later, when Bob decided he preferred a more formal
wedding, they got the second dress.If things had gone better, she
mi g h thadwwo or three more wedding dressesbut, as it stood,
she had none.

She asked Bob aboutthe missing dresseslater that evening.
She told me he just stared at her for a minute, and then said; | i
thought you knew. o0

Shewas al most afraid to ask. i K

Bob got up, walked to the door and stepped outside. After a
few minutes he returned with both gowns. He held them up, onein
each hand

They were still on the hanger, but the plastic had been
removed, and they looked as if they had been aged about a hundred
years. In fact, they looked just like the dingy snow Maryann had
been staring at for the last three months. Only the snow had finally
mel ted, which me adrdesseshhdebeeRlanglishing t h
outside in the mud? Maryann was too stunned to speak

Bob held up the gowns, looking from one to the other.



The first gown, Reader, was a lovelylittle summery number
with fabric so delicate that you could easily imagine it being gently
lifted by the lightest summer breeze. Of course,now it would take a

much stronger breeze, possibly even a tornado, tocreate the same
effect.

The second gown was a classic, much more formal dress with
long sleevesand lace, but it was so caked with grime that even
Frankenstein® bride w o u | dudnedeup her nose at it.

Bob looked at Maryann. Have you decided which oneyou're
going to wear?0 he asked.

This was the calm before the storm.
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Daddy Gets Screwed

- -

Things were beginning to unravel. One minute Bob was up,
the next, he was down.

B o b dffige staff appeared to beas sick of it asMaryann and
| were. The endlessmood swings were taking their toll on everyone.
An interoffice memo might well begin with the dreaded heading;
6Bobbds off his meds again.d

One day Bob caught his bookkeeper issuing this warning to
his office staff, so he decided to set her straight. Naturally, he
copied everyone in the office.

| suppose his response was meant to put his bookkeeper in
her place, but it only served to confirm her earlier warnin g. In his
email, Bob describes how much happier heis wh e n  d@feHiss
meds,0and even goesso far as to say thathi s doctrealy di
even think he needed the meds. In fact, the doctor only prescribed
the meds because ofthe terrible things other people were doing to
Bob. Bob lists a few of these terrible things and then goeson to say;

PAnyway, because youove mad e
mi sunderstanding and unfortunate
| have gone back on them and have returned to feeling more like a
drone, less energetic, and less happy.0

T h e $ made whining about how mean everyone isto Bob

before he finally winds down with; ABut 1 toés sad f
that | now have chosen to and have resumed taking, and will keep
taking,t he O6medsd | was doing very we

all the unfair commentary that apparently would have simply
taken a different form of criticism from you against me if the same



business decisions had been made (as they needed to be made)

while | was on the meds.0

AHoO kWi L éxdaimed when Maryann showed me this.

fEvent he medi cationi fiedesmpoerslkei bed

Meanwhile, Bob was actively litigating his personal lawsuits,
spending countless hours drafting excessive and very lengthy
motions and filing numerous bar complaints against the other
attorneys involved. As one judge pointed out:

flt has not escaped the court's attention that since Nadeau is
representing himself in all these proceedings while the
[defendants] have retained counsel, even unsuccessful litigation
against the [defendants] has the effect of punishing them by
imposing costs on them.o

This actually defined Bob 6 s strategy wh e

litigating. @ury them in paper,6he seemed tobe think ing. He would
stay up all night working on some longwinded motion that could
have been summed up ina page or two. At first glance, he looked
crazy. But upon further consideration, one began to realize that this
wasB o b 6 s wallaverh weapon.If you pissed him off, one way or
the other, it was going to cost you.

The judged sriticisms went unheeded In fact, that judge was
simply added to the list of people who were @ut to getéBob, and
who were responsible for the medication he would otherwise 6 d
verywel I wi thout .o

Oddly enough, the trip to Nova Scotiad which Maryann was
just as afraid to accept as she was to refused went off without a
hitch . Shefelt a little like a lamb going to the slaughter, but terror
must bring out the best in Bob, because Maryann said he was
happier on that trip than s h ee¥ed seen him. He was still spending
money like a rich relative was about to die, which meant they stayed

in an expensive hotel, ate at the bestrestaurantsand& hopped

they dropped.6 Maryann just went along with everything Bob
suggested In truth, she was waiting for it all to explode in her face.

But Bob was enjoying the hell out of it.



One day, while admiring an extremely expensive piece of
crystal, Maryann remarked absently; A My mot her woul d

iLet 6 s g e toexclaimetl Bob. Mdryarm just looked at
himasifhedd | ostbuhi shemiimdi sted. Al t o6
after she came all that way to watch the kids for us.o

So they did. They bought all kinds of lovely things, for
themselves and everyone elseMaryann was both bewildered and
beguiled. Like a hopeless gambler,s h e dwault to @d anything to
@hangeher luckd(and possibly end up stranded in Nova Scotiawith
only a broken piece of crystal with which to try and negotiate her
way home).

But the crystal made it back in one piece and so did
Maryann. And it was then that she discovered the reason behind
Bobo6s bi gspreepHe wakifilimggbankruptcy.

Wit h the party over, B o brbogd turned dark again.

Maryann and | were hardly seeing each otherat all by this
time, but suddenly even this was too muchfor Bob.

A Forbid you to see Nancy, e announcedone day.
fwhy? demanded Maryann.
Al canot swhhondd pre@tp | p ayhe rageck i r
(oblivious of the irony).
Maryann was confused.i N a ndoeg pay her bills!o
AShe hasndttome iod hhee rs abiidl. |
This only confused Maryann more. A What bill ?0

AThe bthe fWor k | 6éhveer dcoangepliedn h e
Maryann said he had that crazy look in his eyes that he often got
right before a big fight.

i Dro6ybu meanh e r b rso tchaahmé@Bked.

Al hdvsas e arguehe il dondt even kno
of hers exists. o

Maryannd i dn 6 tmukcnhowabout my br ot he
knew there was a brother. She had seen him many times. Shehad
evenattended his one and only court hearing in the hopes of seeing



me there. | wa s nul iy btother wass,,andiMaryann told me
later that Bob was fumbling through the proceeding, even getting
my b r o hame wr@ng.

fNancyb s t he one whoos beeBobr ul
continued and, seeingthat he was on one of his tirades,Maryann
tried to extricate herself from the situation.

Pl e ase don éetinthispshe begged. m

AYoudre already iNawydlsveeode voho h e
involved you, by trying to take advantage of the favor | was trying to
doforherand her i diot brother, who d
sense toget acontract. 0

When Maryann repeated B o b rémsark about my brother to
me, it cut me to the core. To think that | recommended this man!

As for Maryann not being ,beal | c
compliance with this 8 sham that it wasd represented the first time |
felt somet hing close to dinsghtibk e
too strong a word. | t & bhadadcepted h at
that about heralongtimeago. Hel | , | di dndt eve
knew the hopelessness shewas feeling. But there was something
traitorous in her willingness to just allow Bob to blame me for
things that had nothing to do with me & and now, having to meet in
secret!

When Maryann told me all of this, | almost got up and
walkedout on her. | managed, somehow,to contain my anger, but |
wasnobét abl deelings. hi de my

And Maryann, despite her many weaknesses, had a
compassionate soul.

A What 6s ? oslre caskgd her large eyes filled with
concern.

With effort, | was able to redirect my anger to where it
belonged. iRemember when | asked B o bdpision of my br ot he
first lawyer, and Bob told me that he should have focused on the
immediate issue of obtaining a lien? o



AYeshedai d. Al f I r etheae lanlyer hadmo r r
give back part of the money for not doing that. 0

AYeah, wel Idpi Boéilt#lae dybbotfier has
paid over eight thousand dollars to Bob and he still has no lien. And
now B oldning that Daddy owes him another five thousand.
That s thirteen t lawdwslianhod dol | ar s

i Wh ashéedx c | ai me dvhatfiovai t é

AANd now it 6said, suddenlylwa tseh,iong | |
broughtitup. T fie r e 6 s forrmg brotheryto get his money back
now, according to the third lawyer he just hired . bsmiled without a
trace of humor. ofl Xnow how that is,0 added sarcastically.
i Mree lawyers and nothing done on your cas€?0 Mar yannos

fill ed wAttthis pdine, Baddy woufi just be throwing good
money after bad,0l said.
AWhy di dn o6t thig?o8heasked | me

| almostrepliedd 6 What woul d you have dft
said; fivou have enough problemso

Al &ns or r y sobbed dnal knew she meant it.

fANd t h aprabably the real reason whyy oud6r e not .
to talk to me anymore, edBobb sai d. i

A | &aomwo r r she said again.
| shook my h elabldme niyself for recommending Bob in

the first place. | should have known hewould screwupmy br ot he
casethe same wayhe did yours.o

Al sndt there anytshaaskgd Daddy c a

A d othink tso, @ sai d. AANd to make
without the house | ¢ a npéytmy brother what we owe him either.o

Now we were both crying.

A j ust d o n 6 the caunt dsgstes,t Gk rsabbed
miserably. A Not hi ng @& andeverghedy Iese dnal alléhe
judges just sit there, hardly able to hide t hei r boredo
horrible ! 0

fiWh at 6 s h avhpyeun cased) Ghe asked.



ANot hilma, d . AAbsol utely not hi
despair had passed andl was suddenly angr vy . AnAt t hi ¢
want is for my brother to get paid for the work he did, btold her. | i
d o ne¥dn care if | get any of my own money back. But the market
is so lowrightnow thatl 61 1 be |l ucky to wal Kk

Al thouedti kepadurDaddy, 0 she said

AHe di d, oheln shaiddd,y fiwvmas hel pi ng
could feel my s e | Actudllye the anethingl glwaysg a i
believed was that he would pay my brother back for all the work he
did. o

Al snodt there any way you <can
house?0ek he ask

My lawyer suggested thatl have my brother sue usboth and
put a lien on our house, 0saitl. That way, whoever ends up with
the housed which will be my exd will have to pay for the home
improvements that were done. 0

Maryann perked up a little . That sounds fair.0

fMButDaddy doesndittlsaainde.d ofe slikeGhe
idea of suing me for one thing, but | alsothink he 6 s $awyerk o f
and liens. 0

i donot Isthegade hi m, O

fBut my lawyer is offering to do it on a contingency,0 |
added, iwhi ch makes me think sheai$]l \
money.l & m trying t o ¢vouldrathercbe suedthan t h
to have this on my consciencefor the rest of my life .01n fact, | made
up my mind right there . iBefore | sign that property over to my ex, |
want my brother paid!o

| have always felt that anger is preferable to depression
(although | prefer not to feel either) . | think itds Db
seems todrive people to action, whereas depression leavesthem
feelingweak and helpless Though there were a lot of greedy people
who had helped to bring about this situation, my anger, in that
moment, was directed at Bob.



A Al ése mdmths of kissingB o bdiupid, uglyasso | f um
r es ent &llbéchuge | wiis afraidhe might take it out on my
brother! Suddenlyls mi | egdu.e sfisl | d dbe draid tdtellv e
him what | think of him anymore.o

A Oh gexdaimed Maryann. | knew she wasjustified in
feeling afraid for herself and her children, but it seemed like
another betrayal somehow.

iDondt ,weaidrdismissing the idea. | phiefer to have
nothing more to do with Bob. And | meant it.

Butalas,itwoul dnét be tridi@dhimeasy to
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Insult to Injury

- -

All of B o b r@osious energy was temporarily focusedon his
divorce. He spent every moment composing court pleadings and
emails, which he sent to his ex-wife, her attorney, his attorney and
even the judge

With Bob thus engaged, Maryann 6 suck 6 o0 u t metone s e
sunny afternoon. It was finally warmi ng up in New England, so we
me t at t he O0Sea Cat cho ootside Bathept o
deck. We were both feeling rotten, but | recall that we had a few
laughs before the conversationturned serious.

AYoubre not going t deghrel i eve t
Remember earlier in this book when | sai d | di d
listening to her talk about her problems? Well, | et 6 s | ust

coul doéve ubythidpoiatd kbspexiallg when it came to Bob.

I di dnot want to think about Bob
thin k about my brother. And I was spendingevery waking moment

trying not to think about what happened to him.

Meanwhile, it seemed as ifMaryann was starting to thrive on
B 0 b d@agy antics. | think it was all she had. She almost had a look
of joy on her face as she handed me the latest inCrazy Town News.
It was an email string between Bob and his bookkeeper that, for
some reason, Bob had seen fit to copy Maryann on.

There are moments so traumatic that you never forget a
single detail of them. | can still feel the cool breeze that day, and
smell the pungent ocean air. My first reaction upon reading the
email was one of disbelief. Its contents were such a startling
contrast to the incredible beauty of the day.



The email string beganwith Bob trying to shuffle b lame onto
his bookkeeper for not replacing &lient funds 6she had usedto pay
office expenses.His bookkeeper, who could be a sassy little thing
when she wanted to, shot back with; &Vhat did you expect me to
replace them with? 6

In Bo b éegly to this disturbing communiqué , he coolly
instructed his bookkeeper to ¢gut out a memo to the partners,6
encouraging them to dncrease billing.6He also suggestedthat she
have Maryann help her with some of her office responsibilities &
which is why, | suppose, he copied Maryann.

| was still coming to terms with what | was reading when
Maryann spoke.

fiCan you believe hd s nvol ved me in this!
A | mean, now O6tnh abte i In gkclgoaimnds, wouldnho t
| be considered an accomplice?d0 S h e t o ofkheraigacettea g
At would be one thing if | actually got the money, b u t Il 6 m
particularly inclined to goto prison f or somet hi n@ol (
She stoppedtalking when she noticed my expression.

l 6m not 6 a uledded wg feelings if | tried, but |
di dn 6 My eyes felt like they were shooting daggers and there
were probably veins throbbing in my temples. For me, it was as if
the sky had suddenly turned black.

AWhat @anagwo she whispered. Her
there was actually fear in her expression.

fAiThis is what he does, bobserved quietly. i He slandlbills
and bill sd for nothing!d | s mi | e d, thaugh | bbald fgehmyn
eyes filling with tears and my lips trembl ing with the effort not to
cry. H& d o giwema damn about his clients!o

fiOkay, sheinterjected soothingly, take it easy. 0

Al 6 m sleaidrreferridig to somethinglhadndét don:
AThe last thing | want to do is to make things worse for you, but |
have no choice. 0

Her eyes grew wider with terror.



Al 6 fiing a bar complaint, otoldher. Afid $eddng the
Bart hi s email . 0

Maryann looked at the email. | had the impression that she
wanted to crumple it into a ball and throw it away.

fiThat monster has t o b el ceed.dPpople ftbin ahe
other tables turned to look at us.

ANow | ust owaispereddaryann, 0

A N!'o| said, though | did lower my voice. fiYou can tell Bob
we fought about it if you want. What does it matter? You 6 r e n

allowmedt o see me anyway, d$oowhatedoc@anot
fBut he still wi | | ,gaumided raiserably.
| just looked at her.
ivoudre ri ght Cfirallyorelegted, A f dlBdel | h e
you. o0

My expression must have shown my surprise becauseshe
smiledd though she was crying now too. il dondétl &kmmo
goingt o d o sobbed h e

Both Maryann and | have a high tolerance level when it
comes to anger, particularly if we care about someone. In fact, we
have a tendency to put up with stuff that other people wo n. 6t
Ninety -nine percent of what happensto usis simply taken in stride.
Like slow burning candles, we have extremely long wicks. It takes a
lot to reach the end. But once that end is reachedt hat 6 s wr
Maryann and | part ways. Much like th e slow burning candle, at the
end of Ma r y a wiokd sa soppy puddle of wax. But at the end of
my wick is an atomic bomb.

| 6 m violertt, mindyou. You wondt be r eac
dismemberment in the chapters to come. | just mean that when |
reach that critical point, | explode into action. Usual | y t hi's
comes in the form of a very quick but final disconnection from
whatever it was that made me so angryin the first place. In my
opinion, most conflicts can be resolved by simply walking away.

My preference to let go of anger comes out of a beliefthat
anger does more harm to the person feeling it than the person



t heyore f eeEvemig cases wharbiotuds possi bl
revenge, | still believe this to be true. No matter how much | might

injure a person who hasangeredme;, it wondot come ¢cC
up for the injury I 6 ve done tcarryingyhatehgér aray
seeking that revenge.

| know there are people out there who would disagree with
me. They prefer to embrace and even nurture their anger, spending
hours, days and sometimes even years of their lives seeking
revenge. But | c an o6t suchhedrggic rexastence. | agree with
Buddha, who said; OHol ding onto anger i s
expecting the other person to die

However, there are times when
discarded. In particular, anger that is brought about by injustice
should be acted upond no matter how inconvenient, difficult and
even painful it might be to do so.

The problem is that most people d o n foirtction at their
highest performance level whent h e yaligry@e s peci al |y i
less inclined to embrace that anger. In my case, | tend to be a little
too zealousand a lot too hasty. | want to get it over with as quickly
as possible sothat | can move on to thepat wher e | 6 m w;
away.lguessl 6 m t oo s el f i s hThis makds eneevaryu | vy
bit as ineffective asMa r y a puddlesof wax. When at peace | can
work wonders. In this state, | 0 Helen Keller on crack.

I guess what | 6 m t baycompginttiwa ssaay
my best work. There was something a little 6 ma naboutét that, |
think, gave theBar t hat 6out 6 twarded Bythis de
time, B o bahdless motions, emails and complaints were legendary.
But I d6m getting ahead of myself a

Bob6s order forbidding Maryann
we saw more of each other in thetwo weeks following the ban than
we hadin the entire six months leading up to it. The day after | filed
my bar complaint, we met up for drinks again. This time we went to
6Master McGr at MNewHampshir&eabr ook

We ordered our drinks and raised our glasses to the
ghooodishal ésystem. This is an intentional mispronunciation of the



w o r jddiciél 6that we picked up from the comedian, Dana Carvey.

In one of his stand up bits, Carvey talks about the ghooodishal 6
system, and how hard it is to say the ghooodishal system without
sounding drunk . He takes this joke all the way tothe point where he

Is being cuffed and hauled off to the pokey, all the while trying to
explainthath e det dr unk, thetjiosodighal Gystenih a t
so damn hard to say!

Thank you, Dana. You have no idea how much mileagewe 6 v e
gotten out of that one. | just laughed again as| wrote this.

You can find the video of this bit on YouTube by searching
dana Carveyd gudicial system.61t 6 s wel | worth 'y
guaranteed to make you laugh.

Goahead Look it wup. Wedl !l wait.

e

So there we were, about to toast th e jhododishal 6system,
when all of a suddenMa r y a phon@ gng. It was her mother, who
wasvisiting again(hervi s i t s s h oan énokid by his tbme e n

AThe pol i c®okabim aveny, aepaited her mother,
ascalm as you please

AThe pol i c wokwhonaway?aasked Maryann. My
eyes grew wideas Maryann motioned me closer so | could hear.

fi B gobeplied Gloria, as if this were the most obvious thing
intheworld. AThey justo | eft with him

Maryann put her hand over the phone and whispered; i D o
you see Ashton Kutcherandhis6 Punkeddé crew anywh

| actually looked around before shaking my head.

"What do you mean, 6t hey | ust ?ddeinandedi t h
Maryann. fiWhat did he doékil s o me one ? 0

I 6 m pr e Maryann svasrjoking, but our expressions as
we stared at each otherhad suddenly become deadly serious.



Al t sdmething to do with an email Bob senthisexwi f e, ¢
explained Gloria. | t waesr whether Bob was threatening
himself or someone else but the police took him to the hospital for
a psychological evaluation. 0

There wasnot mu ¢ h mgpafteea feawanore t  t
guestions, Maryann hung up the phone.

| sat back in my chair and shook my head fif | called the
police every time | got a threatening email from Bob they would
have toinstall a revolving door for him at that hospital .0

Maryann was thoughtful. That email mu s t lieenea doozy
for the cops to come to the houselikethat 6 s h e ysnam shid A N
the police were polite, but she got the distinct impression that they
were taking him to th e hospital whether he wanted to go or not. 0

I nodded. nBob must ove t houg
wo u |l guétvheeatenedthem, like he does everyone elsed

Maryann was quiet for a moment. There was too much
emotion in her expression for me to guesswhat she was thinking.
AThey took him to the psychiatric ward,0she said thoughtfully .

A Ho me a ttwads ausbefbr®l could think about whether
or not | wanted to say it.

ATheywstkeeepi ng hi m f ogsheconinuedr v a
But after a moment she addedresentfully; il wi sh t hey w
him forever. o

fiYyou neverknow, bs ai d. @A Once he wpens

We just looked at each other, absorbing this latest
development in the ongoing saga that was life with Bob, and then
we both laughed.1 t wasndét amuloegoment . It w

Suddenly Maryann grew serious.
cried. H&86s goindgoto kil me

fProbably, © agreed pretending not to be as scared as she
was.

For reasons ,lwelaughedagaine x pl ai n



i Do y o uBoh vili belleve you had nothing to do with
the complaint? d asked. It was a stupid question. | mean, it was
pretty obvious that she had shown me the email between him and
his bookkeeper.

A N oshé@replied. | could tell she was genuinely afraid. And
maybe she even blamed me a little.

Al d o n 6 he woutdievekkill you,01 said, addressing her
ongoing statementt hat O6someday Bobfarthefgsbi n g
time (I had never really taken it seriously before). fi | m &/fzere ,
would he be without you to torture ?0

Al think Bob will do whatever he thinks he can get away
with ,0she saidsimply.

We sipped our drinks as we contemplated this.

AYou ma yeached the point where you need help, ©
told her.

Sheeyedme skeptically. @ & mestrainime a n ¢
order?0

i Wwas thinking of a hit man but | suppose a restraining order

mightwork too. Act ual | y, Il had been thinl
and government assistance, but | was no6t Margannewouido w
take that.

She lit a cigarette. i 6 so afraid o f wh at heds ¢
next, Nanc. 0

AWellbadbd. AThereds your answer

At two a.m. the next morning Maryann received aphone call
from the psychiatric nurse on duty at the hospital where they were
Oeval Babt i ngo

fiSorry to call sol at e, 0 s h 8ob svaniedime tdipotu t
your mind at ease.0Maryann6é s f i r s tiponthbadng this was
that they must have committed him, and for the first time in over a
year she felt something like hope.



fHe asked me to tell you that he will be home very soon,0
continued the nursed and the hope was crushedbefore it everhad a
chance to take hold

Maryann contemplated this message from Boh She felt
certain that there was a hidden threatin it somewhere. It took her a
minute to realize that the nurse was waiting for her to respond.

Al wi s h keephinwtloete focever!0she blurted out.
Nowitwast h e n durngoebé surprised.

fAé u hthought you were about to get married,0 she
stammeltedoumds | i ke youbdbve oblwrco
for each other. 0

Maryann had the urge to burst into hysterical laughter .
Instead, she poured out her soul to the nurse, telling her that she
lived every day ofher life on eggshells,never knowing whether Bob
was going to buy her roses or send defamatory emails filled with
outrageous liesto everyone she knew. She said that Bob blamed her
for everything that went wrong in his life, including his divorce , and
that she was forbidden to see her best friend.

A b e | iifeBolethotightané could kill me and get away
with it, he would absolutely doit! 0 s h easafohalee d

Thepoornur se di dnodot k bkeMaryatmashe t o
had believedthe lies of the illustrious judge.

Despite Maryanndés outkeptBobfor,a t h
few daysd which was just long enough for them to determine that
h e waaghmeétto himself.

fWhat about the people he blames for all of his problems?06
cried an outraged Maryann.

Shehad told the nurse that shewas afraid for her life and the
woman had done nothing. But somehow, Maryann knew that the
nurse told Bob what she said. She could tell by the way Bob made
no further attempt to contact her after that. And knowing Bob, he
had stewedover it the whole time.

Maryann could no longer remain inactive.



"Enough is enough,” she said, and she filed for Protection
From Abuse (PFA) at the York County Courthouse.

Meanwhile, Maryann had secured a tiny rental cottage on
Dr aklgand.Butitwas n6t av athelerad bflthe seasort sb
all she could do was hope that the judge would allow her to remain
in B o bhsse until then.

In a few short years, Maryann had gone from living a normal
life in a beautiful home, to being virtually homeless. She paced the
floors as she waited for the PFA hearing. Bob was out there
somewhere,andshek new he wasndét happy.

With no money for alawyer, Maryann threw herself on the
mercy of a local attorney who was pretty vocal about his disapproval
of Bobdés unet hi cehad dcteallyaposted newspdaper
clippings of Bob o sn his office twindow rfor
passersby to read. | only met him briefly a few times, but | took an
instant liking to him. He struck me as saneone with a strong sense
of ethics. And he was one of the few attorneys up there in Maine
who were actually willing to standupto Bob. | 6 m g o i rhogn
6 CI ,@as ik &lark Kent,6because Maryann and | saw him as a hero

ant

t o

of sorts. It was certainly her oi ¢ of him to & ake
especially since she Andlsehdksalile pay

like the original Superman.

Notwithstanding Clarkd s e fofi Ma t ¥ a mehdlfsthat
PFA hearing destroyed what little respect she had left for our
judicial system.

The highlight of the event was when Bob stormed in and
demanded that his recent psychiatric evaluation be admitted as
Exhibit A. Naturally Clark objectedd | mean, how did they know the
document Bob was submitting was the real evaluation? But the
judge allowed it, so thefile was entered into evidence, copies were
submitted all around, and the court was temporarily recessedso
that everyonewould have time to absorb this new piece of evidence.
The time allotted, however, was not nearly the ime needed for said
absorption.



| was there, both as a witness and to offer moral support. We
sat in one of those little windowless rooms outside the courtroom,
passing the pages fromClark, to Maryann, to me.

Though I di dnot under sat mumdo mo
jumbo we were reading, certain words landed and stuck. Going
from memory, | recall suchwordsas 6 n ar cbi sasnids t6 Site i 0 |
general gist was that we were looking at a person who had no
remorse for his actions, and absolutely no ability to empathize with
others. We read page after chilling page in stunned silence.l wa s n €
all that surprised by the diagnosis. What astounded me was that
Bob had entered this as an exhibit!

Was it possible that Bob was so confident in his ability to fool
the doctors at the psychiatric ward that he actually submitted the
report sight unseen?

Why else would he have entered it as an exhibif

The evaluation was too comprehensive to read in the few
minutes allowed. As we rushed back into the courtroom, | had no
doubt that Maryann would get her protection order, but suddenly
thisdi d n 0 tlikeseroagm

| have to admit that | was even a little afraid for myself at
that point !

When we re-entered the courtroom, the Bob of a few
moments ago had completely disappeared. This new Bob sat quietly
while his attorney stood up and requested that the psych file be
withdrawn from evidence, that all the copies bedestroyed and that
the contents of the record be sealed.

ADo lyawe any obj ectasked€larR. 0 t he

fiNooohe replied, addithigk welav &€ a s ¢ €
quteenough. o

Maryann and | looked at him in astonishment. &Geen quite
enough?6Wo u | d n diece bffevidencehelpMa r y a nase@ s

Clark shushed Ma r y a mobje@tions, whispering that she
di dn 6 tthe evaleation to get the PFA order. Besides, the judge



had already seen it. Sealed or not, hewould have no choice but to
grant the order for protection .

But the judgedwh o we 6PohtiuscPailll@di@ d 6t we
any blood on his hands (especially his own). So what he did was he
called the attorneys on both sides into his chambers, after which,

Bob suddenly offered Maryann an @greement.d

Now, wheneverBob refers to this case, healways insists that
0t he faundurhti s6 or Othe court order e

At did not take long for the judge to noticeably see right
through [Maryann] and Nancy, and to be unimpressed with their
lack of honesty and morals,0 he wr ot é&o heralled thé 8 .
lawyers into hi s chambers, informed them that he was inclined to
di smi ss [ Meamplamtndué t® lack of legal merit, and
encouraged them to work out a deal so that [Maryann] could have
a little time to pack up and move out of my house é Her case was
dismissed.o

What actually happened was that something Pontius Pilate
said in his chambers made Bob want to settle the case with
Maryann. | think even you, Reader,know Bob well enough at this
point to agree that he would never have made that offer to settle if
he truly believed that the judge was going to rule in his favor. And
the fact that Bob violated every stipulation in the subsequent
agreement that he created (and which was overwhelmingly in his
favor) seems to further support my hypothesis that Bob did not
want to enter into an agreement with Maryann that day.

Andwhi | e i t 0 31 agreemeat totsdttle,twhea signed
by all of the parties,does become an o6,0ntdars 6¢
order based on fading,uad §ab@aild like everyone to
believe. | n t hi s basador Bob makig Maryann an offer
that she happened to accept

I 61 | never u nstlee aceepted nitd S hweh y d i d n
particularly like the terms, but I think she was afraid that if the
judge d i d grént the PFA, then she would be left completely at
Bobo6s .mboaogh she didnot have the
we nt on in the judgebs chamber s,



that the terms of the agreement Bob was offering under duress were
better than anything he would offer on his own.

Maryann wanted two things. She wanted Bob to leave her
alone and she wantedsomewhereto stay until she could move into
the cottage.

During their time together, Bob had actually purchased two
houses Their first house, on Harriseckett Road, had water issues in
the basement, so Bob bought a second house on Elinor Lane, which
is where they were living at the time of the PFA hearing.
Meanwhile, the dHarriseckettbhouse was up for sale and had fallen
into foreclosure.

A few months before all this, Maryann had asked Bob if her
friend Judith could stay in the empty Harriseckett house until the
husband she wasdivorcing vacated their home. Si nce Bob w
even paying the mortgage at that point, he agreed and Judith
moved in. But since then, Judith had been awarded possession of
her marital home, so the house on Harriseckett would be empty
again. In his @greement,6Bob offered Maryann the house.

B o b agseement also prohibited them from d&ontacting,0
aisparagingdor in any way darmingbone another.

As a final incentive, Bob offered to pay for repairs to
Ma r y a n n @hsch, matg broken down state, made it impossible
for her move.

Since Pontius Pilate seemeddisposedto @vash his handséof
the affair, Maryann signed the agreement which appeared to take
care of her immediate needs. She would have the house on
Harriseckett Roadd which she never wanted to move out of in the
first placed and she would have a car that would run. | guess itwas
a start.

The media was at that PFA hearing. They asked Maryann
questions,butl dondét think they &hketsaidl!l |

So Maryann began the arduous task ofpacking up all of her
belongings, while Judith made her own preparations to leave. No
one suspectedthat anything could go wrong.



On the day of the move, | drove up to Maine to help. But
when we got to the house on Harriseckett, we found the doors
locked and the locks changed.

And Judith was not ahesph@ae.i ng

Maryann climbed in through a window and unlocked the
doors. The boxes she had brought over earlierhad been moved out
into the garage.The next thing we knew the police were there.

Everyone thought that Maryann and Judith must 6 ve
some kind of falling out. But Maryann wasasbaffed by Judi t
behavior as everyoneelsee She coul dnot under st
could do this after everything Maryann had done for her.

We di dn 6t whétihapgened until later . It turns out

that Bob had formed some sort of alliance with Judith . She got to
stay in the house on Harriseckett & which was much nicer than the
house sheand her husband had lived in 8 and Bob got someonewho

was willing to tell him everything he wanted to hear about
Maryann. And | have to hand it to Judith ; she came up with some
pretty good stuff. There weretales of huge parties, drunken sailors

and wild orgies. There was only one story that | actually recognized,

and th at was the one where Maryann
associate, Rusty Hammer.

Of course, on the day of the move, none of usknew about
Judith6 s larrabgenhest with Bob. Even Clark thought it was just
acat fight.

6Make nice, 6 he t oYlodrselMiato tha n n,
house. 0

But Judith had possession and you know how that goes.
Even t he polenfocce thecagreemenhb@ttveen Maryann
and Bob because as far as they were concernedJudith was the
current resident in th at house.

Later, in 2008 , Bob would describe the incident this way; Asf
a result of [ Maryanno6s] actions,
in Kennebunk for the next two weeks. Maryann then moved most,
but far from all, of her furniture and things out of Elinor Lane,



which was left in a mess, broke into the Harriseckett house where
my tenant, [Judith] and her kids were living, tried to order
[Judith] to leave, began throwing things out of [ Judithd s ] hou
after climbing into it through a rear window, moved her things
into the house and garage, and threatened and frightened [ Judith ]
to the point at which [ Judith ] had to obtain police intervention to
cause [Maryann] and her lawyers (whom [Maryann] hired
because she was very aware of how much they disliked me) to stay
away. [Maryann] thereafter, ultimately prevailed upon [a friend],

the owner of a local bar/restaurant [Maryann] frequented, to let
her and the kids stay in one of his seasonal cottages for the next
several months.o

The cottage Maryann had originally plannedto rent wa s n 6t
available yet, but there was an even tinier cottage that was, so
Maryann had no choice but to move in there. It was a dismal little
placed | cried when | first saw it. Meanwhile, almost all of
Ma r y a posséssions werdockedupi n Bobds two hot

On a positive note, Maryann finally found a job selling
advertising for a local news station. And her car was running. As
uncertain as it all was, she had finally done it. Shehad broken away
from Bob.
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Are We Done Yet?

e L
LI >

Bob was indisputably the reigning bully of York County,
Mained at least in our minds d but the position was beginning to
wear on him. More and more, his behavior reminded me of the old
proverb that says; dHating people is like burning down your house
to get rid of a rat.6B o b ldaged had consumed him to the point
where it had eaten up all of his resources. Money, clients, friends
and respect were in short supply. Thi s wo ul d didedtimee e n
to put the debilitating hate behind him.

Predictably, Bob ignored the 6 a g r e ebateeemn [im and
Maryann. Later, when the first edition of this book came out, he
would call upon the judicial system to uphold the part where it says
meither party will disparage the other & not just for Maryann, but
for me as well (despite the factt h a't I wasnot ever
agreement). But back when it was first signed, the agreementwa s n 6 t
worth the paper it was written on . Bob 6 ¢ 0 netl, abc t6 ded&mda r a
0 h aedén Ma r fyomnrthe get god and not just by thwarting her
attempts to move into the house on Harriseckett Road. He
continued to send Maryann long, debilitating messages via email
and text. He also contacted her family and, of course, me, to go
over, yet again, the many betrayals he had supposedly suffered at
our hands. And he contacted Maryannd ex-husband and former in-
laws againd althoughwewoul dnét find out abou

A few days after Bob moved backinto his house on Elinor, he
sent a text to Maryann; drour things are outside € and you better
hurry becauset h ey 6 r e dhandérdtomys tohight .6

Frantic, Maryann called the Wells police but, even though
Bob had breachedthe PFA agreement by contacting her in this way,



the police refused to get involved, insisting that it was a &ivil
matter.0In fact, they strongly suggestedthat Maryann notify them
before picking up her things, as she might otherwise be charged
with drespassing.0

Since the furnished cottage wastoo small to accommodate
Ma r y a belorigimgs, shespent the rest of that day trying to figure
out where to put them. She managed tofind an open storage unit,
but shec o u | d nadrtick unel the following day. She prayed that
it wo u |l devéntthoughashenc o u | duited bring herself to
believe that Bob would put her things outside. Surely hew a s thétt
vindictive !

Naturally, the skies opened up andit poured the entire night.
Even | tried to hope that Bob was only bluffing.

fBobw o u | dmttdat,0she kept saying, over and over again,
as if by saying it enough times she might make it true .

A truck was coming around noon the next day, but Maryann
c oul dn dhat lomga Eatly that morning she went to the police
station for her 6 e s damd then headed over to Elinor, all the while
chanting under her breath ; obw o u | daothéat.6She still had that
phrase in her head as she rounded the last curve in the drivewayd
right up until she saw it. And then suddenly she realized that she
had been wrong yet again. Bob would do that.

| still tear up when | think about that horrible day. Furniture,
beds, dishes, clothes,pictures, videos, toys, books, stuffed animalsd
too many things to mention hered were all ruined. The boxes had
been tossedout onto the lawn so that many of them had opened
and the contents fallen out.

Maryann walked through the sodden debris in a kind of fog.
She saw her mother's chinad which had been carefully handed
down to Maryannd strewn about in the wet grass, much of it
broken. She bent over to pick up a book that had fallen into a
puddle of mud. It was her s o :#@aby Book. 8he opened it and
stared numbly at the distorted pictures . Everything was completely
destroyed.



Without a word to the policemen who were silently watching
from their car, Maryann got backinto her vehicle and drove away.

About a week later, all of her stuff turned up in a water-
logged heap on the tiny patch of grass outside her cottage.

It was a very dark time for Maryann .

But we still had my bar complaint. In it, | had asked the
Board of Overseersto dook into 6three issuesthat | believed were
ethics violations . For the first, | forwarded copies of those emails
Bob sent t o -hdsbang and DroLeve ia 2005, violating
Ma r y a attordeg-client privilege and even offering his support to
the other side of HRiwhifcbr méwvec
book).

My second issue concerned B o b éepresentation of my
brother, and the $13,000.00 bill that we felt was excessive for what
amounted to one court hearing and very little else that actually
contributed to his case This led me to my third issue, which was
that Bob was using client funds to pay his bills. | referenced the
email string between Bob and his bookkeeper, which Maryann
faxed them a few days laterbefore giving the original to Clark. We
were a little afraid of that email by this time, especially in light of
Bobd sudden accusations aboutus violating his privacy and hacking
into his computer .

Now this issue of the missing client funds has been twisted
and turned (by Bob) in every imaginable way, and the email string |
just referred to was entrusted to Clark and the Board of Overseers
of the Bar in Maine. Somehow, it has disappearedfrom the face of
the earth. Nobody knows where it is today (including the Bar, who
claims to have destroyed it).

lgiu €

l &m no accountant, but I know

And as y o u 0 lthis boskediientlfumds evere usead to
pay Bobds office expenses.

Bob responded to my bar complaint the way he responds to
everything. He buried us in paper. Naturally, his primary focus
wa s n 0 tactual hadegations in my complaint, but rather, the



vicious, depraved creatures that were behind it. Bob took this
opportunitytore-t el | t he st ory alffair,lonlysthisan d
time | was the onebehi nd Maryannods pliket t
Maryann, | was an alcoholic whore, or at least, that was thegeneral
consensusb accor di n@l hteo émemy &udithn(whio U d e c
only met once, very briefly) and B o b @mployees (most of whom |
never met at all). As a shout out to Maryann, Bob quoted Rusty
Hammer assaying that we wereboth6 evi | 6 and. @vi tu

Bob claimed that the only reason| filed a bar complaint was
to get out of paying my bill. This motivation that Bob has assigned
to me (of trying to get out of paying a bill ) has becomea kind of
mantra with him over the years which he uses to explain everything
| do. The basis of this claimd that | owed my b r o bilhdevoudds
have as manyv er si ons as Bobd&s SamefineesIr w
was the real client, while my br ot her waaer aa 6phpha
Other times | was funding my brother, or in business with him . In
the end, Bob more or less settled on my being a @uarantordon my
br ot her 6 s In &act,ctheu anly .possibility Bob refused to
consider was that | was a sister trying to help her brother out as
best she couldd which at the time, came in the form of doing some
bookkeeping and secretarial work for him .

Bob also told the Bar that Maryann and | were being
investigated by the police for hacking into computers and stealing
confidential documents. | believe this was meant to discourage
them from accepting the emails that | had submitted as evidence.

Bob added that Maryann was facing charges forassault(referring to

the night when she threw the remote control) and for @erjury 6in

her PFA hearing. There w a stra® ounce of truth to any of this,
mindyou.Therecer t ai nl yowaspasi aeryi nvest
place at the police station (although | do not doubt that Bob tried to
pressure them into starting one).

Of course, no defense would be complete without a full
accounting of Maryann 6 extra-marital affair with Dr. Love (kind of
ironic when you consider that this sharing of 6pri vil e
information was exactly what | was askingthe Bart o 61 ook |



Only this time Bob put a new spin on that old story, claiming that
Maryann had dlackmaileddher surgeonf or a o6f i nanci a

Al got a refund checkto cover the cost ofa second surgeryto
fix the problems with the first !0exclaimed an incredulous Maryann.
A T hsbltadkmail now?0

fiSo, | am very tired of the false accusations, schemes,
manipulation and misuse and abuse of professional grievance
systems, and of the outright attempts at intimidation and
meanness so very clearly, actually exhibited by Ms. Madore with
[ Mar y a mery@leat cooperation and, | have every good reason
to believe, urging and assistance, 8ob wrote to the Bar, addingd
At was never lost on me, either, that [Maryann] often traveled to
meet Ms. Madore at night, to join her in various undisclosed but
always late night and occasionally all -night activities at various
bars, restaurants, discos and other undisc losed locations, without
explanation, and itis mostdisingenuous that [Maryann] obviously
misappropriated from me and my law firm various computer and
email documents and other information belonging to me and/or
this law firm, that she then obviously, even more impermissibly
gave to Ms. Madore for her use
grievance activitiesel am tell i ng
tolerate any more of that stuff, no matter what! No more, period! 0

lcoul dn anyselbto iead throughBo b 6 s responser e
to my bar complaint a n d dedam the Barc o u | €ithed. They
dismissed all three grievances in my complaint without a hearing.

To my first grievance (relating to the attorney-client
privilege), the Bart o o k Bobo6s thatothey hafl alneadyi t
addressed that issue in Ma r y a rbar @@snplaint back in 2005
(which Maryann later retracted). This seemed verystrange indeed,
since Maryann h a d rfdunid out about B o b énsails to her ex-
husband and Dr. Love until after she got back together with him.

As for the mishandling of my br ot her 6s case
explained that it d o e sreviewv complaints relating to possible
malpractice. They suggestedthat | take that issue up with 6 F e e
Arbitration,d which | did, and wh



And finally, on the issue of the missing client funds, the Bar
wrote; fiTthe only people who could make a valid claim would be
those clients that may have been harmed, or an associate of the
law firm who had first -hand knowledge of it.0 | felt that Bo b 6 s
instruction to his bookkeeper t oincréase billing6to get back the

client funds harmed all of Bob&6s c¢cl i ent s, Babdust
position wasthat, since | had no idea whose fundshad beenused to
pay the bills,] di dnét have.a valid griev

There was neither a hearing nor any mention of my
complaint in the media. It was over.

Each of our lives had been irrevocably marred by Bob, yet he
had walked away without a scratch.

There are a fewloose endsto tie up before | conclude the
first part of this book .

My brother never recovered any money from his lawsuit
against his former partners. However, | finally convinced him to sue
me and my exboyfriend for the work he did on our house. But he
was an unenthusiastic and even uncooperative litigant. Even so, he
was awarded his claim and the lien was filed against our house.
Howeverd nearly a yearlaterd my ex filed amotion to have the lien,
and the time limit to dispute the lien, dismissed due to some
personal issue his lawyer was having. Unbelievably, his motion was
granted. We were back to square oné In their motion, my ex and
his attorney had also threatened a possible countersuit against my
brother. That was all it took .

A 6 m H édenamnounced, in what was the closest thing to
an argument we ever had

Our attorney was understandably upset. Alfl that wor
complained. After all, she had taken the case on a contingency.

Another thing that happened was that Bob sued my brother
for the five thousand dollar bill that was still outstanding in his case
(which had escalated to over six thousand, with late fees). |
attended that hearing at the small claims court in Exeter, New
Ham pshire.



Bobos t est i mo nhis ptoraigeatn upstandingh
position as a Maine judge and my position as a vile, vindictive
stalker. Hee x pl ai ned how he was &écoampl
dmalicious @bar complaint | filed in an effort to harass him, and how
impossible my b r o tabeewasddse to his failure to get a signed
contract.

My brother di dn 6t st a heknaw venhlidle abeut
the legal details of his case He called me as a witness, buthewa s n 6 t
sure what to ask.

ACan | | us tbookkaepihgassuesthat iBab brought
up?0 | thegqueldee d

Bob objected, insisting that |1 was not the one being sued and
thatl wa s , in fact, ' ittl e moyleotherh an
(so much for my owing the bill). The judge supported Bo b 6 s
objection and | was effectively silencedd sort of 8 because this is
when | reached the end ofmy wick. I told the judge what | thought
of his courtd and Bobd in no uncertain terms. To Bobds
delight, | had to be @&scorteddéfrom the room by two armed guards.

Naturally , the judgeruledin Bob 6 s . f avor

For my brother, this relatively small loss was the last straw.
He finally gave up his struggle to recover from his debilitating
lossedd first at the hands of his unscrupulous business partners and
then at the hands of the equally unscrupulous lawyers and judges
he had encountered in their wake . He filed for bankruptcy shortly
thereafter.

On a more positive not e, one of Bobos
forward with a claim about @navailable funds,6and an investigation
showed that around $70,000.00 had been taken from client
accounts and used to pay bills.Even so,the Bar let Bob off with a
warning.

And one last thing; Bob got engaged Yes, he really did find
hi s 6 matehBTdis woman would stand by his side through his
many courtroom battles, his subsequent affairs with Maryannd and
even theissue of themissing client funds, which she actually helped
him to pay back!

l



Oh, and Bob began this new phase of his life byrelocating to

A

New Hampshire and changing his name to6 Ro b . 6

Like Bob, we were each, in our own way, starting over. My
brother would go on to rebuild his business, get married and
become a r ®diknedda @l é Y Sadotable children. |,
too, fell in love and became engaged and I 6m pretty
this one if he slipped out the back door one day. | closed the shoe
store, signed over the houseto my ex and shifted my focus to the
Shoozies.And | finished my fourth book with Harlequin, which was
an erotic thriller called Enchanted Dreams.

As for Maryann, she went on to live the life that she had so
desperately been trying to avoid. And it was just as terrible as she
feared it would be. She has moved twenty-three times, struggling
through jobs, struggling to make rent and just plain struggling.

But at least we had all moved on. We were finally ready to
put the past behind us.



INTERMISSION

Les MiséRob

- -

SCENE

A dark alley in Paris, Maine. Faint violins can be heard
playing a tragic melody in the background. At first glance, it
appears that the alley is empty, but suddenly the gray visage of a
filthy street urchin named Maryann appears. It quickly becomes
apparent that she is the antagonist of the storyd a loathsome

prostitute, who is only slightly less evil than her muse , the
notorious Madam le Ma dore.

MARYANN

[Regretting her contemptible life choices ] Oh! My folly! My folly!
[But with two missing front, it comes out sounding like; My
tholl y! My tholly!o

Enter, in a concealed carriage that is parked on the side of
the road, Bob Valbob, the hero of our story. Wrongly committed to
a psychiatric ward for speaking out against the many injustices
done him, and then rejected from society for being better than
everyone else, Bob Valbob finds Myriel, an angelic creature who
inspires him to turn his life around by cashing in her 401K and
paying his debts to society. He changes his name to Monsieur Rob
in her honor.

Since everyone knows that cream inevitably rises to the top,
Monsieur Rob is not surprised to find himself now sitting in
judgment over all those who tortured him before. He is well aware
of Ma r y a rsitudtien 8 indeed, he hasbeen watching from a not-



so-far -off distance, to ensure that she reaps the putrid harvest of
the worm infested seeds shehas sewn.

MARYANN
[Again] My tholly, my tholly.

Enter a second man, insignificant in every way except that
he sets the scene for our hero, Monsieur Rob.

2nd MAN
There she is!

Footsteps are heard as several police officersfollow the man
into the alley.

MARYANN
Whatisit, ot hi cer s ?0

2nd MAN
That 6Fhatdsr t he kil l er!

MARYANN
What! | nether killed no onel!

2nd MAN
Get her! Sdwayb s getting

MARYANN
[ hat henot moot hed.

The violins grow louder as the officers drag Maryann out of
the gutter and slap handcuffs on her wrists .

Enter Monsieur Rob, as heslowly, regally , steps out of his
carriage .

Maryann blinks repeatedly, dazed by the brillianc y of
Mo n s i e u rheaR avbidh dooks just like a halo of champagne
bubbles.



MONSIEUR ROB
[Authoritatively ] You t here! Whatos that

2nd MAN
No need to concern yourself wi
one, she is.

MONSIEUR ROB
What did she do?

2nd MAN
Murder !

MARYANN
[Breaking away from the police officers and throwing herself at
Monsi eur Rlmétiéeskildd accone!

Enter Madam le Madore, the evil of all evils, the maker of
prostitutes, and the real reason why Maryann is lying in the
gutter .

MADA M LE MADORE
Let her go!

POLICE
We will not d no! We will not let her go!

MADA M LE MA DORE
Let her go!

POLICE
We will not d no! We will not let her go!

MADA M LE MADORE
Let her go!

y O
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MARYANN
Oh, oh, oh, ohé

POLICE
No no noé

MONSIEUR ROB
Magnifico-oh-oh!

POLICE
NoO no no no!

MARYANN
Oh mama mia, momma mia! Momma mia, let me go! Beelzebub has
a dethil put aside thor me. Thor med ee.Thor meeee!

Violins going crazy now .

MONSIEUR ROB
Stop! [stepping closer to Maryann | She has suffered enough Let
her go!

The police remove the handcuffs from Ma r y a rbleedlisg
wrists. She collapses a t Monsieur Robb6s feet.
captures her brutally weathered face in his elegant, almost
pristinely smooth hands.

MONSIEUR ROB
My darling! My one true love! | have come back for you now that
you have suffered enough foryour transgressions against me.

MARYANN
[weakly] Do | know you?

MONSIEUR ROB
Oh my angel! My own alter ego! Do you not recognize me?



MARYANN

[growingweaker ]| 6 m sure | nether | aid

MONSIEUR ROB
Itis I! Bob Valbob!

MARYANN
[dies of mortification ]

MONSIEUR ROB

[kissing her hand and getting up to leave] Nothing really matters.
Anyone can see. Nothing really
meeeeeee.

A gong goes off in the distance as the 2nd man and the
police officersdrag Ma r y a meadbody to an unmar ked grave.

The End

e
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PART TWO

It Ai nodt Ov er 6t i | Bob Says (.
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Same OIld Song and Dance

i -~

Bob might have had a new name and a newlife, but he sure
didndét have .dewas still absessédavithiaryann.

The first thing he did after signing the PFA agreement was
contact Ma r y a axrhdsband.

Al know that at this point you
from me, 6 said Bob (in a rare moment of clarity ). iHowever, | very,
very strongly ur ge you to rescue your children immediately. 0

Bob t el I s Ma r-jusband Otlsat  shex is; fviolent,
seemingly bipolar and manic -depressive, very lazy, irresponsible,
narcissistic, schizophrenic and probably more. 6 The 6 pr obab |
mo r geémed a little over the top to me, butl suppose the English
| anguage doesnot pr ovi daevithewhichuog h
disparageone6 8 al t ér ego

Bob wrote; Al have absolutely no doubt in my mi nd at this
point that those children need to be away from [Maryann]
permanently , and that you need to get them, even if doing so
would be inconvenient to you and your new family. o

Ma r y a rertiusband had moved on as well He was
remarried and his new wife was expectingtwins. May be whHyat 6
Bobd s ewasso Urgent.

APl ease do somet hing t o pr ot e
i mme di alteeniplpredd fi | wi || testify on y
behalf of those children. It is the right thing to do, and it is so
essenti al a [Manjarin]i $s a piolent hotheaded, vile,
profane and very loose and irresponsible human being, [EX].



There is something extremely wrong and dangerous, [EX]. Your
kids should absolutely not be aro
and | encourage you not to do so either. 0

Al guess Bob figured your ex would need an extra push, 0 |
observedwhen | read this several months later.

i Bfore his wife starts crowning and the real pushing
begns?0 j oked Maryann.

| " sure Ma r y a n nhasbandekrew Bob well enough by
this time to figure out that his children were the lastthingon Bo b 06
mind when he wrote this emaill. Bobds upper most t
probably Mar y amrads n d o n mhém while he fwvas in the
hospital, followed by her6 b et r ay a hed PFAmotidni. Add ta g
that my bar complaint and you have a full-fledged conspiracy on
yourhands.At | east 1 n B pbbcause Bulb couddneyen u ¢
see how his actions contributed to his own sufferingd or anyone
el seds.

Meanwhile, in this email, Bob is doing exactly what |
accused him of doing i n my bar
encouraging and advising the other side ofaf or mer cld ent
and he 6 s whdeotherBgr isidéciding whether or not to take
action against him for doing it in 2005! Not to mention Bo b 6 s
blatant disregard for the PFA agreement he signedonly a week
before (although | guess | did just mention it).

To the best of my knowledge, Ma r y a exrhbsband never
responded to this email. But his new wifedowe 6 | | cal ldo he
did, and it wa s rioagtbefore 8 Ro b 6 edleecin hisintission to
0 r e stleewhdldren from Maryann.

For months the two emailed each other, feverishly plotting
their next move. Meanwhile, Maryann and her ex-husband were
actually trying to work out a visitation schedule.In fact, Maryann
was planning a trip to Pennsylvania for that very purpose.

Terrified that such avisit might ruin everything he had set in
motion , Bob wrote:



fivou really need to act immediately. You have such a very
strong opport unity now, that [ Ex] will never have again. You
would be foolish to even try to communicate with her any further
instead of immediately hiring your lawyer and getting those kids
without giving her any more signals or opportunities to screw you
guys or to run even furthedéGamgetay,
her now! Good luck and keep me postedo

Of course, Ma r y a nex-lbusband never actually filed
anything to dgescuebhis kids. But what his wife, Twinkle, and Bob
did do, after months of conspiring, is launch a full on investigation
to find 8 and rescued the next unsuspecting malein Ma r y a lomgo s
line of haplessvictims.
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Doctor Bill

e L
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All through that long winter Bob and Twinkle worked
tirelesslyt o f i nd Mar y a bnioétunatety dowthendaamdi
Maryann),t her e wasnodot a new beau.

Meanwhile, Bob was keeping a steady stream of mind
numbing brain benders leveled at Maryann. One minute she was
the woman of his dreamsd and the next she was a conniving snake
in the grass. Always Bob rubbed his new fiancé in Ma r y a faced s
Apparently she was smarter, sexier, prettier, thinner o feel free to
keep adding adjectives (I know Bob would, in your position). Most
impor tantly, she adored Bob. She gaveBob things Maryann never
could. The scraps from the things she gave Bobd the little bits that
he threw awayd were more precious to him than anything Maryann
had to offer.

Why Maryann even cared at but hi
B o bravings got to her.

i d might havedment i oned a boyf rshend
admitted ruefully .

By this time, my expressionswere more effective than words.

Al k,on o swigked. This is right up there with sending
myself flowers. But | had to do something to shut him up .0

AAnd you saw this BuWlhadhtelaughay
ALet meétdhuess ichwurgauyl i ke a bull ?0

AHe 6s act ua), Half mah,ad f sepbed |without
missing a beat Al call him Minotaur Bill. He drives a Porschewhen
h es ot out grazing in the fieldd saving me bits of wild flowers in
his teeth. 0



We had a good laugh overMar yannoés ficti ti
Bill. Imagine our surprise, a few months later, when Maryann
received an 6anony mo tha éontpireed &kstigge |
of emails betweenTwinkle and Bob, Or.Bclubksdéng o0

fDoctorBi | | 2?0 | asked, sifting th

ADocétmomotaur, 0 Mar yarors sdatsawg g &
someonemight get t he two mi xed up. o0

I n o d dheadtaétsdllly pr et ty accurate f or

On February 4, 2008, Bob wrote to Twinkle: Asfifar as |
know, [Maryann] now pretends to be very happy with her newest
fianc®, an all eged Mapnevhsessegdear
and whereabouts to which she and the kids have moved or are
moving she wishes to keep secret
and income, among other things, she has enjoyed flaunting. | am
certain, as | am sure you are, that she does not really love the guy,
but the trappings of status, income, assets, security and alleged
kindness he delivers to [Maryann] and the kids 9 at least until she
inevitably feels crossed by himd are enough to cause her to
convince everyone, including herself, that she does, so that she can
purport to rub it in your faces. 0

A Wolw sa&id, genuinely impressed fiHe real ly r
ball!'o

Later that same day Bob wrote:

Al have very strong reasons to
fiancé is [Name of doctor Maryann never heard of before], of the
[Medical Office Maryann nev er heard of before]. You can find his
photo and bio on the web for that office. He is head of
anesthesiology there, according t
about the complaints she has blackmailed and/or pursued against
otherpr o f e s s isamekady shéuld probably warn him. 0

Later, still, that same day, Bob wrote:

fiThe Doctor Bill [Maryann] is reportedly engaged to drives
a tan Porsche sports car. You could also ask his staff if there is a



doctor in his medical group who drives such a car, as that wo uld
lend further confirmation to you that he istheguy . 0

Bob wrote them one more time that day, to add:

A f you <call t hat of fice, t hey
someone or even just got engaged. That would cause you to be
guite certain. 0

Maryann and | have no idea where all this led, but
apparently the good doctor set them straight, because by February
11h, Bob was alreadylooking at two other potential Dr. Bills.

Now, sometime before this email went out, Bob had
contacted Maryann and, in a weak momen t (and |I,eHhatd s

other kind of moments did she have?), Maryann agreed to talk to
him.

AnOkay, I had s ¢olddmeviaterh T wni, ®e s

| just stared at her in astonishment.

AAl | weiwgrdtogetherf or t hr e econfessed , 0 S

What could | do other than shake my head?

Al k,0n o s\gnoaned. fBu t | 6ve been suo | «
Bill just isndédt cutting it.o

ARSo what happethildagfPoerl tclhoarl c
asking.

Maryann smiled sadly. AWhat do

Much like their oth er reunions, oncet he 1 ni ti al (o
off, Bob started planning her life. In this case, he hinted that
Maryann should write a letter to the PFA hearing judge, retracting
everything she saidthat day in court.

ADono6t y ign anbedter nhat you writ e 20 Mar y
wanted to ask, but she chose, instead, to ignorehis not-so-subtle
hints.

When the hints di dnobekpressdoulks, B
that he could ever trust Maryann again, especially i f she wa
willing to help him clear his good name (and put hers back in the
mud).



Furt her mor e  bresiktpointng out that lketnow had
proof that she was the sort of person who would cheat on her
fiancéd forw a s n 6 tuckselding poor Minotaur Bill right that very
minute ?

| think he forgot about his own fiancé.

AYou donot know anytshid Magyana,b o u
reluctant to admit that she had made the whole thing up.

T h at 0 sBobdétieshp that he knew everything about her
life d including the identity of @ill. 6

Momentarily taken aback, Maryannwas ndét sure wk
to tackle first. fi I s n &dtfront aHeigad standpointdwo ul dndét t |
stalking ? she asked though why she was still going to Bob for
| egal advice |61 never Kknow.

Caught off guard, Bob bl amed t
ex-husband and his new wife, Twinkle .

AYoudr e tthdmkagaingo crted Maryann. In that
moment, all the horrible things he had done to her came rushing
back and she felt like a fool.

fiTheyc o nt act ;gstedhRob. 0 A Twargeg custody of
the kids!o

AYou osfona Iscraammdd Maryann, packing up her
t hings. AYou were my | awyer! mpo vy
lawyer?0

Bob tried to defend his behavior, but Maryann ¢ o u | Igtend t
to it anymore.

AYou know whaaotdhiBom? i egshevay out
| 6m gonna st i cnluchwettérim thB satkthan yddieNots
to mention that hedés filthyanda ch,
chal et I N Sugar Helies to hiftheaslopes after e g h t
passionate night of lovemaking. Plus he 6 s  gertrt Mexcedes for
me to drive and, you know what Bob? He even bought me a
gorgeous emerald for Christmas! o

And wi th t hat s he stor med out
hoped).



The next morning she texted Bob to tell him that she hated
him for contacting the other side of her case and that she never
wanted to hear from him again.

Hereds Bobd6s ofthis soman emaif he aentl
Twinkle on February 11", which was included in the mysterious
packet Maryann would later r eceivein the mail :

Al received a text from [Maryann] this morning, in which
she reiterated that she hates me because | have communicated
with you (but | am sure that she hates me for more than just that),
that 1 no longer exist, and that she has changed her cell number
and email address.o

He emailed them again on February 12, 2008, to add:

MAs for Bill, | 6d bet that his
anonymous email to its general email address for a concerned
staff member to see, with specificsé would pay attention and
probably warn and protect the guy

Onceagain missing the irony, Bob adds wistfully; A How d o e

someone dump Bill s engagement to
live without me and fuck my eyes out (please pardon the profanit y,
but itds true) nightly wuntil I t |

she is going back to him, and then beds him the next time she sees
him so that she can immediately move in with him, have him take
care of her kids and allegedly marry him? She is ve ry unstable,

and ités not a good tohing for tho
ADoes it seem odd to you that
more real to Bob than his fl esh a

when | read this.
ANope, 0O she replied.

OnVal ent i pnBodsentdnamnail to a group of doctors
at another medical clinic Maryann never heard of, this time, under
an assumed name

Al understand that [ Maryannos
or in the process of becoming engaged to one of your physicians
who, according to [Maryann], drives a tan Porsche, perhaps



among other vehicles. If you have such a physician (reportedly
named O B isubkténtialwassets and substantial income, a
Sugarloaf chalet, a house for her, a promised Mercedes, an
emerald Christmas gift for her, roses, delivered to her workplace
almost daily, etc., according to [Maryann]), | urge you to ensure
thatthedoctorhas hi s eyes opened very wi

Bob goes onto describeMar yad e &mami t al 6 af f
Dr. Love in 2000, as well as heraffair with her married attorney
(Bob refers to himself in the third person). He evendescribestheir
morer ec ent r & a$hbmassapposedly engaged todr. Bill .6

AShe has much charm and often
(that can be described in great detail if necessary), to keep her
very unwi tting and all egedly 0ha
O0babydol | e daygear veoyfinterrested in her and willing
to spend al most hawaynechi ng on her, 0

I & m n owhatghe putcome of this email was, but a few
weeks later, Bob was hot on the trail of yet another Dr. Bill. On
March 5, 2008, Bob wrote to Twinkle;

fPlease give me your mailing address so that | can mail to
you a copy of what | send to Bill . 0

And then, later that day, he wrote;
fiPlease call me ASAP. | have newsb

Maryann was never| et i n on t sharedinrthatws 6
phone conversation. Clearlyitwas s omet hing he was
discussing in an email. Given what youdve seen so
imagine how alarming it was for Maryann to learn that Bob was up
to something sodiabolicalh e wasnoét willing to

| have no idea how many people Bob ultimately contacted
before he finally gave up. Il f you
Bi |l I and youobve been scratching
received in 2008; now you know.

Meanwhile, in an effort to put a stop to the search (and find
out what Bob was saying about hel), Maryann contacted Bob



herself, pretending to be Bill
think you should | eave Maryann

Thi s woul dév e arpaanehad Idftiit atehat.i But
when Bob started his onslaught of disparaging commentary,
Maryann fel't t hat 6Bill 6 ought
really bad idea. It seemed like adding fuel to the fire.

However, from this correspondence, we would get one of the
most comprehensive looks into the inner workings of Bob, through
a twenty-seven page letterwith attachments [LETTER2].

The letter chronicles B o b dife before, during and after
Maryann.

Yes | k n o w chromicked their life together a hundred
times before, but what makes this chronicle special are his many
contradictions.

Yes, | know; h e &antradicted himself a hundred times
before, but what makes these contradictions special is that they
occur right there in the same letterd sometimes even in the same
sentence

The letter can best be describedas afarcical collaboration
betweenthe many Bobs at war within the man. | tna@gisum apus
of inconsistencies. Throughout the letter, Bob vacillates between
the amazing, wonderful, once in a lifetime love he and Maryann
shared, and the utter horrors he suffered at her hands. He is
6war ni ng 6t Maryahn, evenbas he isopenly lamenting his
own personal loss of her.

| 6 | Igivg yausttte highlights.

The first thing Bob does is addthisd i s ¢ | aHvenyhing |
am about to write is the truth and is, therefore, not defamatory,
regardless of how unpleasant it may be for you or her to read.
Further, it is not privileged, as none of the information contained
herein is anything other than public knowledge or based on
everyday observations, living experiences and statements by
[Maryann] and others dnotby me. 0
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http://www.nmadore.com/images/RobertNadeau/Letter-Robert-Nadeau-2008Mar.pdf

Bob is declaringt hat what h e o sdrutivé and n (
therefore not defamatory 6  w hinsiktiag that the information
comes ot ber Hmednolthd s st at ement al
ethical requirement relating to truth. Bob is basically admitti ng to
spreading rumors.

But , in fact, e v eis tryinght@fdass thesa 0 t
statements o f f as comi ngwhem in fact, qusttalioetr s |
everything in this letter can be traced directly back to him.

With the legal stuff out of the way, Bob begins his narrative
with an intimate look at his background, starting with his college
years, where he figot all of my wild energy out of me, to the tune of
almost 30 different women at the most intimate levels. 0

Andt hes e wustraaynwibmen either; fiSeveral of the
women | knew and became involved with were pageant winners,
models, medical students, nurses, law students, fashion design
students, etc. 0

Buth e d o e s rnodgive Bill dhe impression that he was a
player. Thire were several longer term relationships among those
encounters, the most notable of which involved a lady | dated for
three years, [Bob actually gives Bill t h e wo rfud mameod
although we 6 | Icajl Usther O6Dreamgirl @&jed a
brunette, former Miss Baltimo re and first runner -up to Miss
America, working as a model, bit movie actress, and rising
television reporter very close to Oprah Winfrey. [Dreamgirl]
wanted to marry me while | was in law school and renewed her
request after 1 6d bevacmétameatdtyor

Why is Bobt el | i ng Bi | The paihtlof albdf thig, hi s
though, is that [Maryann], from a physical appearance
perspective, was not even inthetop 1/3do0f t he women |
involved with, even though | do think that she is in the top 2% of
Maine womeno (I 6 m n ot this is m slamitd Maryann or the
women of Maine).

Bob goes on to explainhow successfulh e 6s been t hr
his life; fiexcelling in all | did . ®hen he met his wife, got married,
settled in Maine, started a family and ran for probate judge d which



he won fin a landslide .0 Bob even discloses his income, which
wasnodét too shabby (i1 f he is to be
and a model father. In short, he was the perfect man.

What changed, you ask?

AUntil married [Maryann] came along 20 years into my
very good, secure marriage and, i
proud words, became ado6home wreck

This home wrecker thing rang a bell so | did a little research
and, lo and behold, in a letter to Maryann back in 2005, Bob had
written : Toflyour great credit, you said you felt even more guilty
about being 6adbome wrecker

Guilty and prouddy o u canot get any fo
spectrum than that.

Getting back to the Dr. Bill letter, Bob next describes
Ma r y a pastGstarting with her high schoolyears. |t 6 s al m
he were there. Eventually he gets tothe part where she first, stalks,
and then seduces him.

| hardly recognized Mar yannos p h otmaedayahey |t
had sex in his office. Gone wasthe mortified woman | remember
talking to, and in her place was an elated Maryann, speeding
recklessly down the road while shouting triumphantly ; NnYes!
Yes! o

You might recall that in his email to Dr. Love in 2005, Bob
claimed to have gone b a ¢ k twonddrful svifedf twenty years 6
becausethings with Maryann fiwere not as rosy as they seemedo
But in his letter to Dr. Bill, Bob wrote; fiLeaving [Maryann] in
2003, after spending several of the seemingly most wonderful
intense weeks of my life with her and the kids, was extremely
difficult for me to doébut I hope
know me enough by then to know I 0

He admits Mypseddet butuBteld plan to réturn to
[Maryann] forever and to mak e things right despite everything,
after spending a few weeks saving my kids and going through the
matrital reconciliation, went badly awry . 0



It sure did. But the one thing Bob never mentions in these
varying accounts of the events is thatthey were coming up on an
electionyear. And hi s w itakirg hisvdefeatian tquietly. Soif
B o0 bdasn that he intended t o  ohss &idséby reuniting with his
wife for @ few week®and then leave them all over againd o e s n 6
quiteringtrue ;i t 6 s pr o b aibtl dysAtdeastiaal entaely.

| believe Bob intended to dump his family a second time. |
j ust belevedd plannedto doitin @ f ew \ndaetkic . 6
there was a betting pool on when the happy reunion was taking
place, | wo ul d 6 ¥irst dibsaoh the days just following the
election.

But Maryannods bar compl aint d
had for their future , so he continues: In@any event, after an initial
bar hearing on [ Maryannos] compl
which it was recommended that | should either be suspended or
disbarred as an attorn e y ghe unexpectedly telephoned meo

Is it really all that &nexpecteddto hear from someone after
offering them a$31,000000 6 gP f t 0

However it happened, Bob and Maryann got back together,
and t her e be gnmighty exblasionsdonbard, screaming
insults and hacking into computers. Bob implicates me in one of
t hese hacki ng I Immeaddteymattes[Maryarmpastn g :
her case against [In-law], [Maryann] dro ve to Newburyport
where she decided, wi t h Nancyods
accounts of both [Wife #1] and [In-law], and pretend to be [Wife
#1] so that [In -law] would unwittingly share information. 0

| have no idea if Maryann ever did such a thing, but | can tell
you that s he meborany éomputkro Nomcant! imagine
any friend of mine ever suggesing such a thing. But | would often
find myself attached to some suchdebaucheryi n B oalradives
that was so far out in left field that it left me wondering how he
managed tocome up with it in the first place. In this case, | wasable
totrace my supposed 6 h atothat engad striagcthat v i t
Maryann showed me about the client funds. That 6 s thedee n
accusations started.



Meanwhile, Bob wasnot compl etely

introspection . fAfter my January 2008 hiccup that seemed to be

the end of everything for [Maryann] and me in her mind , 6 he
continued (referring to his Perfectmatch.com adventure, for those

of you whowwhata®dhi d&aoubghé told rme (probably

out of hwurt and jeal ousy, but nev
how | had facial wrinkles and 6 age spots, gray hairs, as well as

0l ove handl esd above my h.igps (tha

| wonder how much time Bob spent looking for those dove
handles.0

fin contrast, 60 wert on, allil ever heard from [Wife

#2] éhas been, on a daily basi s,
# 2] and al l her friends say | am
hi gh school daugtet ecdmp ! fi meen s y
magni fi cent bodyo I have, how |
irresistible, how she wants to have my baby despite our ages, that

| make her | augh so much, andd how

Ah, Bob, you make me laughso much too!

One question though: If this new wife of yours makesyou so
happy, why are you spending all this time obsessing over Maryann?

Moving on, Bob finally works his way around to his visit to
the psychiatric ward at the York Hospital ; iwhen | finally met with
the neuro-psychiarist on a Friday morning, she concluded and
declared, as | expectedd by adamantly walking down to the
nursesod6 station with me r i ghthat; beh
060There is nothing wrong with this
to be discharged at once!6No admittee has ever been on that floor
of the hospital for a shorter period of time than | was. 0

From there, Bob jumpedto hi s and Mhreeydayn n 6
affair, which he described as a kind of utopia that completely
renewed his hope for their future together. But low and behold, he
hadanot her @& thbughche fais to disclose what, exactly, he
did. I think it might have been when he let it slip that he was
communicating with Ma r y a nmldwys again. At any rate, he
describes that final breakup as more devastating than anything he



has endured before or since. But, as Bob puti t Thenf received

[ Maryannos|] emai | , tell i ngblowmg at
orgasmob of Onear st r omeardng BIll o p o
supposedly had just given to her when she visited you the
following weekend, and about how much she hated me forever. As

time went on, and as | talked further with [ Judith] about

[ Maryannos| historic |Iies and dec
[Maryann] is so good about fooling fool s like us, | came to
conclude that it is a good thing for me that | did have that hiccup

after all. 0

Which just goes to prove that the best cure for hiccups is
getting someoneto tell you that i tsbosme o n e fadtl s e 6 s

As for Judith, I 6 m she fele like she had to keep coming

up with more ditronMaryann t o o6 pay.6t Aedreaeal |y
we evenknow that she actually said all this stuff?

Up and down the narrative goes, with more highs and lows
than a bi-polar schizophrenic on a roller coaster. Bob has used
every negative adjective in the English language to describe
Maryann over the years,and yet she is the only woman he will ever
really love and she was the driving force behind everything he did.
She could make him do anything (except comply with that 2007
PFA agreement).

It was only a matter of time before Bob got around to
Ma r y a mparedtsrg skills in his letter to Dr. Bill . And the first
thing he criticized was herfic | ear cont empt of [
father.o | think Bob forgot his part in alienating Mar yannos
husband from his children, through a series of extremely
demeaning emails which, for some reason, Bob saw fit to copy me
on. Even back then, | could see that he was ruining any headway
Maryann and her exwere making towards visitation .

In one such email, Bob enumerated five 6 r u forewhen and
how Ma r y a n nhlusbande could contact his children. When
Mar y an nhosbandeoxbj ect ed t o Bo b tanneg o nd
Bob replied: Obviously you still are unwilling to follow
instructi dnrs@t bot her me again undil



simple sentence, and nothing mored 6 Ye s , Bob | agr
conditions 01 through 5.6

How would you like to get this ultimatum from your ex-
wi f levers

However, in his letter to Dr. Bill, Bob insistst hat Mar ya
ex-husband s h o u | béeh alewed freer access to hischildren. He
wr o tldéave ndt condoned and cannot condone what [Maryann]
has done. 0

And then Bob wrote something that has haunted me since
the first t Inrfaet, tw o weeksaago | ipresided fover a
child custody trial in which the mother reminded me of
[Maryann], left the father for a series of extracurricular
relationships causing him to become alcoholic (and a credible,
hardworking, recovering one at that); | ultimatel y told the
mother, to her face, that | felt that she was dishonest,
manipulative, loose and in need of parenting courses to promote
effective co-parenting, communication and cooperation, and |
denied custody to her, even though she, like [Maryann], does lo ve
her kids and is otherwise a good mother to her children . 0

If Bob is to be believed, there are children out there living
with an @lcoholic&atherinstead of a @ood mother, dsimply because
the mother cheated on her husbandd or more to the point d because

Bob believed the mother cheated on her husband because she
reminded him of Maryann .

Bob continued; Thig parallels in my mind were incredibly
striking in that case . The mother even looked a bit like [Maryann],
and the father looked a lot like [Mar y a n n 8hsisband].o

Af ter t his chilling declarati
f ol | dwil nevefiunderstand why things did not work out
between [Maryann] and me . 0

This is followed by more shillyshallying between the
magnificence of what he and Maryann shared verses the horrors he
suffered at her hands. Then, reluctantly, Bob returns to his present
life with Wife #2. He concludes And now | have real,
uncondi tional | ov e, |l oyalty and



have with [Maryann]. But it really is such an empty reality in so
many ways. 0

And with that, Iputthiamk eiBtdd 4 ot6id
Rest in peace buddy.
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50 More Shades of Crazy

i L
)

e

Maybe we shoBdbohowve s$akeausl y.
his behavior was so ridiculous . By this time, | w a s m\@n reading
his emails anymore. Most of them went straight t o t he &cr @
that | had set up for Maryann back when things first started
gettingé well, crazy.

't wasnot u nt wds being suedrby Bolatha¢ In |
would take a closer look at those emails There were literally
hundreds of them, and this time | read every appalling word.

The sadtruthis; Bob didndét even know
mattered as it related to him. | was the best friend of his fiancé.
When he and Maryann had a dispute, he looked to me to support
his position. Whenhed i d n 6 t what Maryamwm was telling him,
he demanded that | reveal the truth . Half the time | had no idea
what he was talking about. In most of my replies, | tried to say;
6Look, Bob, Maryanndés not out to

Later, in his lawsuit, Bob would use this against me too,
cl ai mi ng t haatnd 0&dagzsgsidvmednddot telling
him what Maryann was up to.

It never occurred to Bob that my friendship with Maryann
had nothing to do with him.

There was an email from September 2007 that was
particularly disturbing. The first half of the email was addressed to
Ma r y a n HAadvswhile the second half was addressed to me.lt
was e n ©Oif Redcecks arid Things/Notice of Impending Legal



Action Against You 0 ENIAIL 8]. In one of my replies, | had referred
toBobas a 6st ufdhenck thptdle c 0 c k

Back when | first received this email, | disregarded it as utter
nonsense. The very existence of such correspondence seemed to
ensure that no Ol egal a c(anless hwias c o |
the one taking it). But once | was actually being sued Maryann and
| went over it with a fine tooth comb .

ALiI sten to this, o I sai d, re .
addressed t o -laMairoyTahnen 6tsr uitrh i s t ha
professional reputation, my children, a good life, etc., for
[Maryann]. | would be worth $2 million and be very comfortable
right now, instead of almost having to start over, had it not been
for meeting [Maryann] and seeing her walking around my desk
and planting a tremendous kiss on me instead of just walking out
the door and leaving us as friends as she, a big girl herself and
hardly anywhere near as oOvul ner at
claim, was absolutely capable of doing d especially where she
should have known much better, given her past affair(s), [Dr.
Love], etc. 60

Ishook myHehbesa ds.t ifil | f r aterivipggedd i s «
information you shared with him whilehe was your att

AHe 61 | never stop, o0 said Marya

Aln this emaiydufloed i Bl &amMmnmagci a
obser ved.suifigheet. 0he 6 s

| continued to read:;

AlHyou ever saw Madore, you would think she was at least
50, not in her early 4006s and rat
in my long -ago, quietly held opinion, yet she thinks she is hot (as
does, of course, [Maryann]). 6 0

fiThe way he defines women is disturbing, 0 | paus:
remar k. A Ywifey his ginlfriend , and now med he discusses
uslike we 6 r eof loeaf in®butcher shop.o

AThat 6 s prwehatwg aremiauharhosaid Maryann.
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AANd here ael i snang aanvince everyone
t hat heo0s hibrew ginfriendi as i anyone cared He says;
0Girlfriend ]just absolutely blows those two away (and has finally
decided to come to Maine a few days a week to be with me,
regardl ess of [ Mar y auiny fpresencearpthig r e n
area). | am done with [Maryann] and Madore trying to control
and abuse my life. | have been happier during the past few weeks,
especially since going off the Zoloft | only ever needed because |
met [Maryann] . 6 O I | ooked ufipl atthoMghy
bookkeeperwastheonewh o caused him to go b

Al |l i ke the part about my Oap|
the area, 0 she quoted. AWhat doe

| returned my attention to the email.

ASD | hope the guy [Maryann] left me for @ Oh my god! 0 |
exclaimed. iYou were living alone in a cottagewhile he was getting
engaged O

AEvery moment of our lives 1is
shesaid. A You know that. o

| continuedtoread; 6If t hi nk | Owhalneededtos ai
say to you.®I| paused heretoremark;al f onl y! o

AThe bottom line is that you are simply an extremely
horrible, undesirable person which is why you feel you need to try
to harm others when it suits your own selfish objectives and why
you need to ruin someone like [Maryann], in my very considered,
i nfor med opinion. I t 0s real ly al
selfishness, secrecy, dishonesty, meanness and immoral behavior,
Nancy. You are the primary reason why [Maryann] and | really
d i d make it as a couple.d 0

I | o o k @&ldthisubpcausdil had lunch with you twice a
mont h?0o

Maryann snorted.

| turned to the last paragraph, which was written in all caps
(becauseit wo u | d nnbinidating enough in lower case letters). |



was going to remove the caps for you, Reader, but on second
thought, | decided to share the full experience:

AONANCY, Il F YOU FAIL TO FULLY
IMMEDIATE, FULL AND UNCONDITIONAL RETURN TO ME OF
ALL MY EMAILS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS | AUTHORED TO
ANYONE ELSE BUT [MARYANN] OR YOU, AND PROVIDE
ASSURANCES TO ME THAT ALL COPIES OF SUCH
DOCUMENTS YOU HAVE GIVEN TO ANY PERSON OR
MAINTAIN ON YOUR COMPUTER WILL BE RETRIEVED,
DESTROYED AND ERASED, AS APPLICABLE, AND NEVER
DISCUSSED WITH ANY PERSON AGAIN, WITHIN 7 DAYS, |
MUST AND WILL FILE A LAWSUIT AGAINST YOU FOR
INVASION OF MY PRIVACY, DEFAMATION AND PUNITIVE
DAMAGES. YOU HAD/HAVE NO RIGHT TO THOSE
DOCUMENTS, AND [MARYANN] HAS NO RIGHT TO GIVE
THEM TO YOU OR [CLARK], AS YOU FOOLISHLY HAVE EVEN
ADMITTED (YET YOU KEEP AND DISTRIBUTE THEM
ANYWAY!). SUCH A LAWSUIT WILL, INCIDENTALLY, BE
WITHOUT PREJUDICE TO CRIMINAL CHARGES | HAVE BEEN
PRESSING AGAINST YOU REGARDING YOUR COMPUTER
HACKING ACTIVITIES VICTIMIZING [IN -L AW] AND [ BOBG¢
WIFE] (IN CONCERT WITH [MARYANN]) IN 2006, AND YOUR
LARCENY, CONSPIRACY AND RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY
VICTIMIZING ME AND MY LAW FIRM IN 2007. EVEN
[ MARYANNOG S] MOTHER WAS | NVOLVED |
2006 ACTIVITIES, AS YOU AND [MARYANN] KNOW! | HAVE
ABSOLUTELY HAD IT WITH ALL OF YOUOJ YOU, [MARYANN],
[MARYANNOGS MOTHER] AND [ MARYASINOG ¢
YOU WILL SOON, VERY COMPREHENSIVELY LEARN, UNLESS
YOU FULLY MAKE AMENDS AND APOLOGIZE WITHIN THAT
TIME FRAME. YOU WILL SOON LEARN JUST HOW
ONEGLI GENTO | TRULY AM NOT, WHEN
IN THESE REGARDS, AND YOU WILL BE STARING INTO THE
MI RROR AT THE TRULY ONEGLI GENT
MALI CI OUS ONE. 60



Maryann and | were silent for a moment as we contemplated
this rather confusing threat.

fiWhat 6 s most, odils tremarkad|rigyhat he is
talking about stu f f t hat never happened &

I nvestigated. I me an, I havendt b
things, have you?o
ANope, 0 she replied. Nor would
Al meanécomputer hacking?o0 | C

into my own comput er accounts half the t
about? Is he referring to that email we sent the Bar about the
mi ssing funds?2o9

AThat 6s when he started bringi
said Maryann.

inYeah, but how is that hacki ng
that email string, which you printed and faxed to the Bar. How is
that hacking?bo

Al 6m pretty sure itbds not. o
nAnd larceny, donspiracy and receiving stolen
property, 60 | contilnluerdef é&drsi hge tsd it h

iThat 6s the only document t,hoat
she said.

It seemed like an awful lot of charges for one little email.
Never mind that the email was discussing illegal activities that were
being coveredupin Bobds office (of cours
that using client funds to pay law firm expensesi s an 0O |
activityo).

AHI s mentioning your attorney
A Di dn 0day yquogave Clark your copy of that email after you
faxedit to the Bar? 0

AYep. o
AAnd then thereds all t his-st
wife and yourin-law.1 dondét e v e-wifekandojourih-lave e x

was the one who contacted me when she sent me those



incriminating emails between Bob and yourex. Inf act , was
Bob who threatened her when she did that? And why is Bob still
talking to her anyway? Why is your former attorney still talking to

the other side of your case in the very same email where he is
threatening to sue me for supposed wrongful be havi or ?0
incredulous.

fH e @razy!'0said Maryann.

i B oskent me a secondedition o f t hi s e pmwithl , O
two additional par agr aphs. 0

fWelcome to my world,0 said Maryann, who often got
revisionstoBo b 6 s-mdila t e

fHe saysd speaking of your relationship d dt all especially
broke down when it really became all about you, Nancy. YOU
were the one constantly urging [Maryann] to meet you, to go to
bars, restaurants, help you meet guys and vice-verse.®

fiHeds so of wslali dofMairtyann.

A The me 6 & said, ahd resumed reading: fil@m not the
one who schemes to hurt someone and to needlessly destroy a
relationshipéand | am not t he paea
when her Obest friendd has a r el
Nancy. Especially becaus e overstuffed female
have the pretty feathers that the males do.6 0

lcoul dndt h atlthatlastdiu guhsomething about
these two additional paragraphs was bothering me. | looked at
Maryann.

AWhy does he thhinmk albloutth enee ot
AHe 6 slooking§ or somebody to. bl ame,

The worst thing about people who spew this kind of filth is
that everyone in the vicinity getsdirty .

There are too many emails from Bob to publish in this book .
To date, Maryann and | have collected well over ten thousand.
Mostly he just keepsre-writing history, reliving different versions of
their relationship over and over (and over) again. But every now
and then, he reveals his true self.



In the summer of 2009, Bob sent Maryann a very telling
email. Up to that point, she had denied her affair with Rusty
Hammer out of sheer terror over how Bob might use it against her.
Considering the mileage he had gotten (and was still getting) from
the brief affair s h ehadiwith Dr. Love all the way back in 2000,
she wasbeginning to think he could get her stoned to death for this
oned or, atthe very least, forcehert o we ar MO slhenzhedt e t
for the rest of her life.

| should preface this by telling you that Rusty Hammer was
never Maryann6 s  at .tHws rpreseyce at the PFA hearing was
brought about by Bobdé s i n sthasetvezyone & his office attend
(and testify on his behalf).

In his email to Maryann, dated June 4, 2009 [EMAIL10],
Bob wrote:

fAttorney [ Rusty Hammer] acknowledged to me two weeks
ago that he did indeed engage in a romantic and sexual affair with
you during 2007 while you were my fiancé and thereafter, and
that his time spent with you ceased only after he left his
employment at Nadeau Law, LLC in October, 2007. This was
consistent with information provided to me long ago by [Judith]
that, as you know, rendered what appeared to me to be an
iImminent reunification of you and your children with me
permanently impossible. Nevertheless, because at the time M.
[Hammer] had previously denied his affair and activities with you
and because you seemed to beeluctant to discuss it and,
therefore, denied it also, my obligations in that regard were not
triggered.

Now, however, based on the recent, further
informat ion, | understand that because you asserted an attorney -
client objection when Attorney [Hammer] took the witness stand
to testify during the hearing in the protection case of [Maryann] v.
Nadeau you filed in the York District Court and that Mr.
[Hammer] was reportedly serving as a legal advisor to you in
July, 2009 and perhaps at other times while employed by my
former law firms, | will have reporting obligations to the
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malpractice insurance carrier insuring Mr. [Hammer &]
employers at the time, namely, Nad eau & Associates, P.A. (prior to
September 7, 2007) and Nadeau Law, LLC (on and after
September 7, 2007). There were or may have been times when the
former law firm lacked continuous insurance coverage due to
premium non -payment issues, but | believe that coverage was in
place for it during the time period from July, 2007 through
September 7, 2007 or so, and | am certain that Nadeau Law, LLC
had continuous coverage thereafter.

Therefore, if you desire to preserve any claim you may have
concerning Mr. [Ham me r &anfluct, please provide me, by not
later than Friday of this week , with the following detailed
information, for my transmittal to the insurance carrier . 0Bob
follows this up with a list of questions for Maryann to answer about
their affair .

Alarmed by this email, Maryann immediately contacted
Rusty Hammer. And you know what? He h a d adinttted anything
to Bob.

| took B o b émsil for a bribe. By suggestingthat Maryann
make this (fraudulent) claim, which would be uncontested (and
even encouraged) byhis law firm, Bob was trying to get her to
confess to the affair. His efforts to convince Maryann that his
malpractice insurance was in effect during th e period from July to
Septemberof 2007 makes me think thatt hat 6 s wh e merh e
to claim that their relationship happened.

Ma r y a nhougytds as she read this email were; d better
never let him know about th e affair because, if he wants proof this
badly, he must have something really big planned for me .0

Buti t wa s n 0 tthatvBob yad something dgeally bigd
planned for. It was Rusty. As we would learn later, this was a
prelude t o BoboOupwaslsiof sixgnilliehuwsllary, f or

I dondt know mu case aa beonaver sgokee t y G
me about it. But | have a few ideas based on what | know about
Bob. | 6tating rary tof this as a fact mind you. But | want to
put it out there, because, as stupid as the affairbetween Rusty and



Maryann wa s , it d o evghat 0Bob del xac Ruste. The
courtr oaweaposta ldetused for personal verdettas.

Shortly after rumors of their affair started floating around
the office, Maryann told me that BobgaveRu sty a number
client files. These were files that had been languishing in Bo b 6 s
office for years. They were problem cases, with major issues, as it
turned out. How much do you want to bet, Reader, that those cases
ended upin that lawsuit?

Like I said, | d o n 6 t whkan lappened. But one thing | do
knowd because lcould seeitin Bobd6s subseque st b
against Rusty Hammerd is that Bob had planned his revenge very
carefully. In addition to the big caseshe gaveRusty, Bob askedhim
handle a few minor issues in his divorce and bankruptcy case$
whi ¢ h s hbeem b ek flaggebecause Bob already had someone
at his firm that he used for personal matters. In any case, as any
lawyer who has everworked for Bob could tell you, Bob drafts all of
his own documents in his many legal dramas. The attorney on
recordisjust t hrowing down a signature
style in the pleadings, which are personal and extremely
intimidating , just like his emails.

Right or wrong, Rusty acceptedthoselegal tasksand thereby
created a conflict for himself. Although his affair with Maryann was
long over by this time, it has been argued (and determined by the
Bar) that he should have told Bob that there was a conflict before
O6represenAs ngdr é@s ml t Rustyods || ic
suspended.

I dondét ktmoaomd hef oBobbs | alwsui
fact, Rusty appearsto have dropped off the face of the earth.

Compared to Rusty, | guess | got off easyBob only sued me
for a million dollars. Butl 6 m getti ng aheaHrst,of
there are few more O6shastevydu. of cr

Whenever Maryann and | are di
emails is the creepiest, | always vote for this next one. On June 24,
2009, Bob wrote:



fAs you know, one of my favorite songs of all timeis6é Gh o s t
St o by Sting. It reminded me of you as | sentimentally and
hurtfully resigned myself to what had to be regarding you and
me. Anyway, while working in my office | decided to find it on the
internet and play it on my computer speakers this afternoon while
| worked. | found the song on You Tube and played it, but watched
the slide show accompanying it in curiosity. Incredibly, at around
4:47 into the song, the show flips to a photo of two women, one
lying on top of the other. The blonde one underneath looks exactly
like you, circa 2006 when the video was evidently made, and the
one on top has facial features that are very Madore -like. | swear
that it is you.

Surreal, and w ouldn & really surprise me. 0

These | ittl e g worldgesabmest frightenin gB o b
ar en 0?Abdvé al,yhow would Maryann and | end up in a Sting
video?l f t his i s how he spends his t
Itds no wonder his |l aw firm is go

Six months later, on January 7, 2010, at 1:00 a.m, this email
turn ed up out of the blue;

fJust an afterthought. why do you lament your non -
relationship with Bill now, if you supposedly loved me instead,
never had sex with him, cheated on him, etc., any more than you
wanted a continued relationship with me when you were doing
similar things during our relationship? None of it makes any
sense in retrospect.o

It makes even less sense when you consider that theravas n 6 t
any6 Bb | |

Here& another random email Maryann received ten months
later, on November 9, 2010:

fiThe factt h at y o uoveréhe tepdis fwer niind, among
other things, caused me to separate in less than 2 years. | have my
own place in NH now, living alone. Guess you were right. You
women are highly competitive .0



Three years after their breakup, Maryannwas s t i | |
Bob to do things!

When Maryann didnot respond
another one a few days later[EMAIL11a]:

fiPlease accept mysincere apologies for the following things,
in keeping with what | hope will be sincere reciprocation from you
In response to my recent email covering enumerated issues:

1. Ever contacting your ex and those affiliated with him.

2. Faliling to get court au thorization to withdraw as your
lawyer before melting into your decided enticements to enter you.

3. Giving in to my kids' perceived needs in 2003 and giving
their mother a second chance | truly thought would be short -lived
(until you unexpectedly filed your bar complaint), instead of
simply being true to my heart, and putting us both through so
much doubt, loneliness and hurt for the next two years.

4. Failing to push [Wife #1] off me when | awoke on the
morning | left her for you the final time in 2005 . | realize now,
and in retrospect, how much that bothered and hurt you, and how
much | owed you much greater, absolute love and fidelity at that
time and always.

5. Communicating with third parties (i.e., doctors) about
you out of misplaced confusion, hurt and jealousy you, too, have
rather cutely exhibited when [Wife #2] was pulling me from you.

6. Failing to dedicate much more time to you in lieu of
spending so much time on the computer dealing with [Wife #1] so
pointlessly.

7. Failing to give you reg ular sexual attention and
unabashed orgasms and satisfaction. o

A few hours later Bob thought of something else to apologize

for [EMAIL 11b]:
fl forgot to add:

8. The very brief Perfectmatch thing, even though | am
convinced that you were betraying me and us. 0

6ca

t

(
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No one can deliver an apology like Bob.He doesndét h

withwomen,hed mel t s i nt o t hei rortedcfiadelds
push them off of him.6The women in his life are the aggressors,
Opul l i mgpd alhilmdi rections except t
going in.

We could spendyearsdiscussingBo b 6 s ,eunlaihlisn k i
time to get back to the story.



We had all drifted apart in our efforts to forget about Bob.
Daddy and | buried ourselves in work, while Maryann buried
herself in a bottle.

Just before Bob made his reappearance into our lives,
something happened to Maryann that he would capitalize on. As
she was pulling out of a parking space, sheaccidentally tapped the
bumper of the car in front of her. Getting out to inspect both cars,
she saw that there was no damage So she got back in her car and
drove away. S meone saw the incident, took down the license plate
numbers and reported it to the police. Maryann was charged for
6l eaving the scene of an accident

The man who owned the carMaryann 6 hi t 6 was al s
but he never showed up for court, nor did he call in a claim to his
insurance company. Maryann insists that this is because tlere was
no damage to his car.

Having no money for an attorney, Maryann6 s pl an w
throw herself on the mercy of the court. So when the prosecutor
offered to let her @fféwith six months of probation, she took it. In
her caseg grobation dinvolved going to the courthouse once a month
to give them a check Aside from it costing precious dollars she
di dn 6 tMatyamv cei d thibktmuch more about it.

It was shortly after th is that Maryann received a call from
Rusty Hammer to alert her that Bob was suing him for six million
dollars and that, in the course of that litigation, he had been
ordered by the court to answer questions about their affair. Rusty
was afraid for Maryann.



AHe doesndét know wher e asked. f i
A few weeks later, Maryann got the same call from me.

I h a dn 6 to Margamrkirrawhile. It might seemselfish
of me, but | needed a break

We decided to meetat the &tarboard Galleydin Newburyport
and, within minutes , it was like old times again. Here | was being
sued, and there she was, moving for the umpteenth time , but we
were carryingonasifwe di dndét have a care

AWhat 6 s he s shefingly goatount to askiry .
fHe says| defamed him ,01 replied.

fiyou defamed him? &she shrieked. Her expression turned
bitter . fAll the lies that rotten bastard hastold about both of usd to
anyone who would listend and h e éu#ng you for defamation!o

Inoddeddf oif Deildy 6 s
But B o b ldwesuit was too depressing to dwell on for any
length of time, so we quickly turned the subject around to lighter

topics, like what color B o b tiais would be for the trial . Mostly we
just laughed to keep from crying.

Likeitornot ( we d jBdwag bpck in our lives

nd
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Scott Gleason

- -

Scott Gleason is a short, stocky Irishman who comes on
quietly but really packsapunch.He 6 s an agr withabo e f
nonsense, confident manner that has the effect of putting those
around him at ease (or taking them by surprise) . Above all, he das
professional, and his specialty is moving in for the Kill.

No, he 6 s n o 4man.aH elbas tvell-known and highly
respected attorney in Massachusetts. His most notable
characteristicd the thing you notice within the first hour of knowing
him @ is that he is a man of integrity.

Now, | realize that those two concepts (attorney and
integrity ) might seem at oddsfor some of you. Believe me,| felt the
same way. Buti n Scott drge,acnads el 6imt 6cser t ai n
who has worked with him would tell you the same.

Overthey ear s | 0te knowgStdtttpretty well. Above
all, 1 6 keaned that he loves the law. My association with him has
restored some of the respect | 6 v e fot thes judicial system
(through my association with Bob) . Although Scott hastaken some
heat for r ¢epibleeds emed mige 6in t he <co
successful career, this, too, speaks of his integrity. He believes in
suchconceptsasd i nnocent until 6pwve gl euU I
entitled to depresentation.6 T h o sge medarm more than just
dollar signs to him.

In fact, this issue of integrity has becomean integral part of
this book for me. This i s nuétthe story of an unethical man who
uses the judicial system to terrorize people. This is the story of a
judicial system that is inadvertently protecting the people who set
out to abuse it.



Letds assume, for a moment, th
against someone who has hurt you, or cost you, orfor whatever
reason, owes you money. It could be anythingd a divorce, a bad
business deal, embezzlemenditdoesndét matter., Yo
and you rely upon him (or her) to advise you about what to do next.

Now, quite often in th ose early meetings, you will leave your
lawyer® office feeling much better than you did when you went in.
Youwer enot e v ehad asase it ngwoyuo u @anwenced
t hat entitledto e world. You feel pretty good!

But over time, the bubble starts to leak. The truth becomes
more and more distorted, untieven youdonét know what
anymore. You sit through one irrelevant hearing after another,
anxiously trying to read the judg
he i sndt even flaicdt, e n it rig resemsphaving n t
to be there. His apathy is astounding.

Several years (and thousands of dollars) later, you would
give your opponent the shirt off your back justto not have to do this
anymore. Angry and exasperated, you turn to your attorney and
ask 6 What the hell ?06

This is, sadly, the moment of truth, when y ou éery oh 6 r e
lawyers ay what he shoul déve ;&®¥duWwr ims
sucks! 0

| t thes same on the other side of this coindwheny ou dr e
being sued f or s onoedihd nnégtorwbaeeemti d n
is that they are claiming against you. You get the lawyer, he
promises you the moon, yada yada yad® same proces® and it ends
pretty much the same as whenyou were the one doing the suing.

The reason for this is that the process is so lengthy,
confusing and expensive, that there isno way to wind unlessd you
actually did do something to hurt that other person, or you
legitimately do owe them money. Now you have something to gain!
The prolonged proceedings, the lengthy pleadings, the irrelevant
hearingsd all of these create a murky environment where the truth
can be concealed It will probably still cost you, but the hope is that



the cost will be less than what that other person is lawfully entitled
to.

See how it works? No matter which scenario you use, the
only ones who come out aheadare the ones who are actually in the
wrong (and of course, the lawyers). There are a few exceptions, but
they depend on the attorney who is representing you. And this is
the crux of it: attorneys make more money if they allow the abuse of
the litigation process to go unchallenged. When it comes to the
judicial system, it truly is the fox t h adu@dng the henhouse.

Andthat 6s where integrity comes
And there are attorneys with integrity out there.

Scott Gleason grew up in Haverhill, Massachusetts. From
littlecomme nt s h e b é gathexadl éhat he was atad rowdy in
his youth, but in his case, it seems to have made him a more
empathetic person. H aod at all judgmental in that way that
people with integrity can sometimes be. He attended Notre Dame,
emerging with much more than just lifelong friendships . It was
there that his strong sense ofvalues was developed. He often refers
to Notre Dame concepts and ideals with a kind of reverence that
indicates his deep connection to that institution and all t hat it
stands for.

Any other lawyer lookingat Bo b 6 s Iwawsd whEstvred
me that | had nothing to worry about .But t he worrly w
would lose a million dollars to Bob. The worry was what the process
was going to costme. Knowing Bob like | did, | knew the costwould
be high.Scott knew this too, and he d

Take, for i rlaimh that €had def8med Hins. All |
had ever said about Bob was that he was unethical. Even ifl had
screamedit from the rooftops, Bo bdlsai m woul dnodt h
merit because his behavior was unethical. It is unethical for an
attorney to offer help or advice to someone opposing a person he
has represented in the past. It is unethical for an attorney to
communicate informationt hat 6 s been sharedt wi i
Is unethical to use client funds to pay office expenses These things
ar e fuéttunethical. They are forbidden. And Bob did them.



Repeatedly. In writing ! Sol would have been justified in screaming

about it from the rooftops. But, as a matter of fact, all | did was file

a complaint with the appropriate board, askingthemto 61 ook i r
this behavior that | (correctly) believed was unethical.

And yet, the factthat lhadnét d o nerong mganth i n
very little to my case And it had nothing to do with the penalty |
would haveto pay.

Rusty admitted the truth abouthi s and M#aryna nn
his deposition, t hough hitehappenad,] dn
which, I think, hurt hi s caseconsiderably.

| was also called in for a deposition. He was representing
himself at that point, so | got to see how much he enjoyed the
process In fact, | got the distinct impression that the processd
particularly the discovery processd was what he liked best. It
provided a sort of playground atmosphere for him, where he could
do as he wished with very little interference.

I w a slintdat concerned about the lawsuit itself. How
could | be? It was a farce.But | was very wary of this bully who had
been let loose on the payground. And | had never testified in a
deposition before.

Bob began my deposition by entering a stack of exhibits.
They werethe emails Bob and | exchangedduring the period when |
was helping my brother prepare his case In them, | often used the
t e r méwbew eeferringto my br o tabe@sigs 6 We wi | |
that document right away. léater, when Bob or his bookkeeperwere
looking for money, they found it easier to email me than to try and
reach my brother directly . | would either remind my brother to send
them a check, or, if hehappened to beworking out of town, | would
pay with my credit card and have him pay me back later.

Bobds cllawedmyt hlart o bilhveas based onthree
premises. First, by usi ng t hwhenwliscussing®@wa el dy 6 s
case, Bob felt that | was admitting to being a party in that case
Next, by making some of the payments for my brother, Bob felt that
| was guaranteeing the account. And when all this failed (as it had
t o, because it doesnodt stand wup



@ersonally g u ar ant aaldtin & telephone conversation we
supposedly had

Above all elsg | coul dnét hvehly anyomeavautde r i
want me as aguarantor. My brother was earning enough to invest
over a hundred thousand dollars in a two year period, while | was
struggling just to make the mortgage payment on my house every
month . Not to mention that Bob put everything in writing. Ninety -
nine point nine percent of our correspondence occurred through
email. Why would this one critical bit of information be left
unmentioned?

Bob had asked my brother to sign a contract. Why not me,
the guarantor sign it? To this, Bob heaped more insult to injury by
claiming that he had 6t r ust edd me Thiswas a O f
particularly bitter pill for me to swallowd and it was the second
time | had to swallow it. You may recall that Bob also claimed to be
my friend when he was hreateningt o s ue Madawsaforn 6 s
forwarding B o b idcsiminating emails to me. As in that previous
case B o bsupposedd f r i e rstduskhmie [ké a slap in the face.

Even more upsetting was the fact that Daddy really had
considered his partners to be friends, and yett hat di dndt
from later criticizing him for not having a &Gigned contract.o

In my deposition, Bob tried to wear me down by questioning
me on each andeveryinstance wherelu s ed t h e .0Bvenifim 0\
used it twelve times in one email, he meticulously went through
each and every oned forcing me to first admit that, first, | had
written 6 w eand&econd, that | h a d sgkdified that | was talking
aboutmy b r o ¢aseend dosmy own. He did the same with each
and every payment | made. This caused the deposition to drag on.

Al 6 m a ghate e is @ g rdpeabedhyewden referring to my
br ot marssqidatonepoint. Al 6 m agreeing th
also that | paid in advance for [Daddy] sometimes. Can we move on
to something el se?0

But Bob refusedto move on, becausehe was havingmore fun
forcing me to admit, over and over again, that | had used the term
0 w e .wouldigive me something to sweatover.



Of course, | knew why he was pusing it so hard. His
supposedé b e | i e édwdntyh abtr olbilhveas thesclosest thing
he had to a credible reason for dragging me into the legalsystem.
There wa s n 0 t defamation, or anything else that Bob was
accusing me of In fact, as we would later learn, all of B 0o b dther
claims were just a temporary means for him to get his hands on
private information that he had no right to.

After establishing that | had, in fact, used the term, 6 wé
somewhere in the vicinity of six thousand times, Bob got down to
the real reason for the deposition. His questions turned to my
b r ot hpavaté financial affairs. This put me on instant alert. It
was the first time it occurred to me that | might not be the only one
Bob would be seeking revenge against.

T h e s & Gertain trust that is awarded attorneys, which
allows them to compel people to reveal information that would
otherwise be considered private 8 but only asit relatesto a case.lt is
permitted in the course of seeking justice. Obviously, this gives
attorneys a great deal of leewayd and power. T h e y @giverethis
power in good faith. The information they are privy to is not theirs
to do with as they wish.

Knowing that B o b gusstions had nothing to do with my
case&d and having no faith that Bob was worthy of the trust granted
him as an attorneyd | did my best to avoid his questions about my
brotherés finances

Next, Bob brought the deposition around to Maryann. He
wanted to know about her affair with Rusty Hammer.

fi D i [Mlaryann] ever represent to you that she had any
physical relationship with Mr. [Hammer]?0he asked.

A Obj e,odaid Scott.
AThat 6s repfied nBely dismissively. Al toés
guestion; yes or no?0

Even though Rusty Hammer had already admitted to the
affair, 1 was still opposed to discussing it with Bob. Unlike him, |



had misgivings about revealing information | receive d in trust. But
Bobw a s giving up without a fight .

It di dnot t at& @developman affinify avith people
who crack during interrogation s.

AThis 1 s going s aguedSett, wiolvas as o p
outraged by B o b @uestions as | was il know t ha
abundantly clear from the discovery you requestedd looking for
pictures of [Maryann] & that you have got something for [M aryann].

But that has nothing to do with your claim against my client, so why
dondt we st by froirgeghtwet yerte t oo f ar

But Bob was too heavily invested in paradise lost to go back
now. The two attorneys battled it out & until | interrupted them.

A Y Bb3 announcedd in response to B o b gusestion about
whether or not | knew ab o u affaiMath BustynHardnser .

Bob turned to me with a look of pure rapture. It was the
closest | would ever get to meet.i

B o bwvvise, when he spoke, wascommanding. iWhat did she
tell you or what did you observe?0

~

Al obser ved smampedhiiritatgd, anew by the
pleasure he was getting from this. fiShe told methatt hey had s

AWhen did sbe heelpl endy wherg .did i A
occur ?0

When did she tell me? Where did it occur? Did he think |
spent every waking moment obsessing over this stuff like he did?
As if | rememberedd or cared!

All this time and expense, just to find out if Maryann really
cheated on himd after he was dready cheating on her! All those
emails, with his ridiculous accusations, sent to anyone and
everyoned slandering me as if | were Ma r y a n n é6dsand mowm p
demandi ng a conf es gnineto makh. awas fleds n 6
with disgust.

| smiled my most evil smile. A Ev er y wilsadr e, 0



And that, ladies and gentlemen, is why y o u  dealiavé &
confession from a personw h o0 6 s tobuzed n

A few weeks after thesedepositions confirming the affair
(and a few weeks beforecalling her as awitness), Bob sent Maryann
an email [EMAIL 17]. It is one very long piece of hate mail, but
hereds a :quick peek

fDuring the past 3 years , in the course of handling various
legal matters, | have surprisingly been informed by people who
knew you much better than they knew me é that you entirely lied to
and deceived me throughout the years of our relationship. Each
person has independently confirmed that you pursued and had
sexual relations, including intercourse , with [Rusty Hammer] . 0

He continues with painstaking attention to detail : il now
know that you drove [Hammer] from the office one late
winter/early spring work night, in your VW, to a parking location
near the beach; that you wore a skirt with no panties underneath
and apparently thereafter exposed yourself to him (deja vu for
me); that his pants and zipper became undone (again, deja vu all
over again); that you then climbed over to the passenger seat and
on top of him; and, that you two fucked. According to two
independent witnesses, you and [Hammer] fucked @verywhered
you could. 0O

Oops ét h ditmilgahsttd v feomene,mhbich just goes
to show that you ¢ a nbélieve everything you hear (Il guessth at 6 s
why they cad.l it Ohearsay

But Bob d i d stoptthere: il am so very thankful that |
found someone so much more attractive, sincere, genuine and
worthwhile, as well as sexy as hell but athletic and devoid of your
fake, grossly oversized boobs and flabby butt with thick upper
legs. O

Personally, | felt that he had gotten his point across, but he
d i d stdpthere either. fiyou have been calleda sld, Whitetrash , 6
domely, 6 h a v ibig,g uglya nosé, 6 maniputator , 6 ver
@arcissistic, 6 v iemmature ,606 very daspites gauu r e ¢

posturing t o t hwamp,c® nuser,aGng,, mosa 0
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importantly, an utter liar and fraud with very little of meaning to
contribute to anyone else's life. 0

B o bensil actually goes on like this for a while. He closes it
with a threat to write a blog about Maryann.

The most disturbing thing about this email is that Bob sentit
to Maryann knowing full well that he would be calling her as a
witness in a few weeks For those of you who are new to this judicial
st uf fcalledidanipering with a witness,6and like most of the
things Bob does, itis against the law. People go to jail for it.

Maryann was terrified . It was like the past three years never
happened. She went back to her days of living in limbo. Th e &1 i n
Bob operated within seemed stretched to the breaking point. She
wondered how much farther he could go before he finally snapped.

She locked her windows and doors (I did the same).Sheevenwent
out and bought mace.

And t hatMargyanwreceivedh er 6 n depasitoa.6 o f

She felt trapped. It seemed an extraordinary injustice that she
should be forced to answer to this manwho had already harmed her
and her children so much. Anyone elsew o u | déer a&rested for
stalking, but Bob had beenpermitted to openly harass herd literally
contacting everyone in her life dating back to high school. And now
she would have tosit in a room and answer every question he put to
her, no matter how private or embarrassing.

So Maryann evaded all o f B aybeétisns, even the
seemingly innocent ones. | t wa shaltad anything tb hide;
her affair with Rusty was already out in the open. Shejustdi dn 6t
want to give Bob more ammunition . And for Bob, everything is
ammunition.

Mar y ann 06 odyesmndok dueng the five hour ordeal.
There were moments when it appeared as if she had no idea what
she was saying. She repeatedly insisted, for example, that she had
never seenB o b 2085 email to Dr. Love. She and Bob had fought
over that email countless times. But sitting in that deposition room,

A

scared out of her wits, shesimply couldn 6t r emember it .
Before Bob even gotstarted, Scott put forth this objection;



Al 6ve noticed on t he sMaoyanole na
that there were all kinds of requests made relative to a fellow by the
name of [Rusty Hammer], [House guy], [High school boyfriend], et
cetera. How are those individuals relevant to the complaint that you
filed against Ms. Madore? 0

Al ot has absol ut elgumbledo Maryaan e v |
resentfully. Al t doesndt. o

AAs you areoawaeé, o0 replied B
lawsuit involving your client relates to her malice or bad faith
conduct with respect to the filing of various professional complaints
against me. The information and the knowledge, if any, that Ms.
Madore may have had regarding those things goes to the issues of

mal i ce, bad faith and so forth.o
Wh a t Bobds sugge gftlihadgknowledgeeof i s
Ma r y a rsexbas activities, that wo u | d i ndi cate o]

0 ma | whendiling my bar complaint against him.

The thing is, Reader; anyone can file a bar complaint, and it
is entirely up to the Bar to decide which complaints have merit and
which onesdo not.

Furthermore, t he Board of Overseersof the Bar is the only
forum where an attorneyd $ehavior can be monitored. It is a
necessary process because attorneys are granted privileges far
beyond those of the average person especially in matters of trust.
People must be allowed to report unethical behavior without the
fear of being caught up in an expensivelawsuit.

So,to Bobds respbrise Scottaaplied:

AnWe went down this wiadtthe garos e
deposition, when | extended some leeway that areas were going to
be explored that h aevhad as oppoetunity ¢ol e v .
review thet ranscri pt o f Ms . Mador eds
literally ho urs spent on totally immaterial, irrelevant discussion and
guestioning. And this search again today appears to be heaed in
that direction. And we just want you to know in advance that we are
objecting. But not only are we objecting, we think that it is just an
absolute waste of time. One can only have serious reservations



relative to why these areas of in particular, sexual history, are
rel evant tWhatwe have heaadsfreng you is the blanket
statement; 6 i t  wi | | get material , it

heard before. |t di dnot happen.
again today, and wedbre going to

notice in advance. 0

Now, just so you know, Reader, objecting to a deposition
guestion d o e s n 6 ty ome adno n fo tansvenitv b fact, if you
donodt a guesian fin a a@eposition, the questioning attorney
can seek an order from a judge, compelling you to answer. Often,
y o ub& thirgedafine,c al | ed a,0 6 tefaging to answerin
the first place. The idea isthis; put your objections on the record,
answer the questions, and then let the judge decide what stays in
for the trial and what gets thrown out.

But we wer eno6t thabo Babemighe dise this
information at the trial. Our concerns related to what uses Bob
would find for the information beyond the trial .

In fact, of the more than twenty hours Bob spent pumping us
all for information , none of it was usedat the trial . And yet, it still
proved extremely useful to Bob, as you will see.

The first thing Maryann did after she was sworn in,was put
it on the record that she was afraid of Bob and therefore would not
answer any questionsabout her personal life d especially where she
lived.

)]

I ref use t chesads wer that , o

1]

ot

You understand thatooa judge

=1

A judge can or de rhe likes, bit gou dre
not the judge, so you canodt. o

W i

\
t

What i s your curr eimrespansedr es s ?

m

a l

Bob pressedthe issue, butapparentl y Maryann

as easily as | did

MAccor di ng t o coatinuwke Bob,c tii weey o0st i |
[Mar y a nanabidsregistration number]; 1 s t hat <corre



Maryann paled. According to a detective 26 The threat was
cleard and there wasthat look on his face, the one that said 6 | hav

A

somet hing on you. o

B o bthreat had the effect of instantly putting Maryann on
the defensive. Shebecamealmost combative.

| listened in dismay. We were both too distraught to be
reliable witnesses.

And yet, she had her moments. At one point, Bob askedher;
AWho files bar complaints?06 He wa
file bar complaints. He was still pushing the idea that | was the
clientin my b r o tabeeanddherefore, responsible for the bill . |
donot k nMaw yhaoopnidrs about this could have helped.

The simple factisthata p e r s o nhawt toebs arcfient tofile a
bar complaint against an attorney.

However, when Bob pursued this line of questioning with
Maryann, she saw red She wa s ne®en thinking of my bar
complaint anymore. He had brought up a bad memory.

AMy under ssheyellddi n§gj 8 t hat peopl
you and pay you, and file their divorce 8 when they are trying to
support two little kids 6 you fuck them in your offic e . That o
understanding of people who file bar complaints, Bob, and it
destroyed my entire |ife. Do you

AMYy quedéda i lmeganagan, but she cut him off.

AMy answer i's that peopl e fil
people like you, who have a meaningless law degree on their wall,
take advantage of people who are in situations, who are not even
remotely aware of what you are doing because you are that good of
a | iar. That s why people file ba
say It five more ti mes. That s wh
people like you are unethical, immoral scum, and you take
advantage of, and pray onthe weak, and fuck them in your office
and then charge them for that app

fiClientsf i 1l e them?06 persisted Bob,
your understanding?o



Al 6m going to wshéskid out the doo

You might say that shewas a 6 h o s tActlakypwewi t
were all getting a little flustered .

AiYouodr e iad kwen gf Wlc k sheyelteth e AAddof i c
and | did that, Bob !0

AnAl I right, o said Bob. AdAWhere
AObj ect i onl! jompmaup fomSis ohait . ACan
pleasedr eal | y, counsel !0

At this point the record states that the parties were a@ll
speaking over each other 6

i P | eddbeggedScott. fiFor the recordd as to the relevanced
where this witne s|[glammarfisr@lévantcttyourg 6
lawsuit against Nancy Madore, how?0

AYou may di sagree r egar dhufilg, r e
and then, turning back to Maryann, Abut my questic

discuss this information? Do you agree that you discussed your
activity with Mr. [Hammer] with Nancy Madore?0

fiObj ection, counsel, 0 said &cot
counsel,thisismadness. 0

AfWhasmadness?0 asked Bob.

AThis i s madness, 0 said Scott. f
counseld legal representationd because this is a distortion of the
process of wh at webre doing in

distortion. And where this witne ssd | cannot even sit by here idly

and allow somebody to be embarrassed and humiliated because you

are having pleasure with itd about where, specifically, in
apartments or houses she had sexand with whom,and how t h
got anything to do with yourclaimver sus Nancy Mador

AFirst of all, therewtrespecttpl| e a
this whatsoever,0said Bob.

AOh yeah, O glanangdrouBdctteetroom,fcandt y o
tell ?20






